



June 2022

Copyright © Demscore All rights reserved Data version: 0.5.0 beta Document version: 0.5.0 beta Funders: Demscore is funded by the Swedish Research Council, University of Gothenburg, Stockholm University, Uppsala University, and Umeå University. For more information, please visit: https://demscore.se

For data enquiries: contact@demscore.se

Summary of Table of Contents

| 1 Explanatory Notes | | | | | | | | | |
|---------------------|-----|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | 1.1 | Cautionary Notes | | | | | | | |
| | 1.2 | core Background | | | | | | | |
| | 1.3 | The Demscore Codebook | | | | | | | |
| | 1.4 | Methodology | | | | | | | |
| | 1.5 | Download ID | | | | | | | |
| 2 | UC | OP and ViEWS 4 | | | | | | | |
| | 2.1 | UCDP Actor Dataset | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.1.1 Actor Identifiers | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.1.2 Actor Names | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.1.3 Actor Involvement | | | | | | | |
| | | $2.1.4 \text{Splinted Actors} \ \dots \ \dots \ \qquad \qquad$ | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.1.5 Geographical Information | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.1.6 Dataset Version | | | | | | | |
| | 2.2 | UCDP Battle-Related Deaths Dataset, Conflict Level | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.2.1 Indentifier Variables | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.2.2 Conflict Location | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.2.3 Conflict Parties | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.2.4 Fatality Estimates | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.2.5 Cause of Conflict | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.2.6 Dataset Version | | | | | | | |
| | 2.3 | UCDP Battle-Related Deaths Dataset, Dyadic Level | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.3.1 Indentifier Variables | | | | | | | |
| | | $2.3.2 \text{Conflict Location} \ \dots \ $ | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.3.3 Conflict Parties | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.3.4 Cause of Conflict and Conflict Intensity | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.3.5 Fatality Estimates | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.3.6 Dataset Version | | | | | | | |
| | 2.4 | UCDP Cities and Armed Conflict Events (CACE) | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.4.1 Identifier Variables | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.4.2 Timely Dimension | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.4.3 Cause of Conflict | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.4.4 Conflict Sides | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.4.5 Geographical Information | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.4.6 Cities | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.4.7 Sources | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.4.8 Fatality Estimates | | | | | | | |
| | 2.5 | UCDP Deadly Electoral Conflict dataset (DECO) $\ \ldots \ $ | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.5.1 Identifier Variables | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.5.2 Cause of Conflict | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.5.3 Conflict Sides | | | | | | | |
| | | $2.5.4 \text{Geographical Information} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $ | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.5.5 Timely Dimension | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.5.6 Fatality Estimates | | | | | | | |
| | | 2.5.7 Electoral Violence | | | | | | | |
| | 2.6 | UCDP Dyadic Dataset | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |

| | 2.6.1 | Indentifier Variables | . 75 |
|------|--------|---|-------|
| | 2.6.2 | Conflict Parties | . 77 |
| | 2.6.3 | Cause of Conflict | . 79 |
| | 2.6.4 | Timely Dimension | . 79 |
| | 2.6.5 | Dataset Version | . 80 |
| 2.7 | UCDP | The Ethnic One-Sided Violence (EOSV) Dataset | . 80 |
| | 2.7.1 | Identifier Variables | . 81 |
| | 2.7.2 | Actor Information | . 81 |
| | 2.7.3 | Fatality Estimates | . 81 |
| | 2.7.4 | Geographical Information | . 82 |
| | 2.7.5 | Ethnic Violence | . 82 |
| 2.8 | UCDP | External Support – Disaggregated/Supporter Level Dataset | . 91 |
| | 2.8.1 | Identification Variables | |
| | 2.8.2 | Variables Identifying the External Supporter | |
| | 2.8.3 | Variables Identifying the Type of Support Provided by the Supporter | |
| 2.9 | | External Support – Primary Warring Party Dataset | |
| | 2.9.1 | Identification Variables | |
| | 2.9.2 | Variables Identifying the External Supporter | |
| | 2.9.3 | Variables Identifying the Type of Support Provided by the Supporter | |
| 2 10 | | External Support in Non-state Conflict Dataset | |
| 2.10 | | Identifiers | |
| | | Organizational Actor Level | |
| | | Support | |
| | | | |
| | | Timely Dimension | |
| 0.11 | | Geographical Information | |
| 2.11 | | Georeferenced Event Dataset (GED) | |
| | | Indentifier Variables | |
| | | Timely Dimension | |
| | | Dataset Version | |
| | | Cause of Conflict | |
| | | Conflict Sides | |
| | | Sources | |
| | | Geographical Information | |
| | | Fatality Estimates | |
| 2.12 | | Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), April 2021 | |
| | | Conflict Sides | |
| 2.13 | UCDP | Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), August 2021 $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | . 131 |
| | 2.13.1 | Conflict Sides | . 134 |
| 2.14 | UCDP | Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), December 2021 \hdots | . 140 |
| | 2.14.1 | Conflict Sides | . 143 |
| 2.15 | UCDP | Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), February 2021 $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | . 150 |
| | 2.15.1 | Conflict Sides | . 152 |
| 2.16 | UCDP | Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), February 2022 $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | . 159 |
| | 2.16.1 | Cause of Conflict | . 161 |
| | 2.16.2 | Conflict Sides | . 162 |
| 2.17 | UCDP | Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January to December 2021 . | . 168 |
| | | Conflict Sides | |
| 2 18 | ПСДБ | Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 | 177 |

| | 2.18.1 Conflict Sides | 180 |
|------|--|-----|
| 2.19 | UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2022 | 187 |
| | 2.19.1 Cause of Conflict | 189 |
| | 2.19.2 Conflict Sides | 190 |
| 2.20 | UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), July 2021 | 196 |
| | 2.20.1 Conflict Sides | 199 |
| 2.21 | UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), June 2021 | |
| | 2.21.1 Conflict Sides | |
| 2.22 | UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), March 2021 | |
| | 2.22.1 Conflict Sides | |
| 2.23 | UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), March 2022 | |
| | 2.23.1 Cause of Conflict | |
| | 2.23.2 Conflict Sides | |
| 2 24 | UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), May 2021 | |
| 2.24 | 2.24.1 Conflict Sides | |
| 2.25 | UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), November 2021 | |
| 2.20 | 2.25.1 Conflict Sides | |
| 0.00 | | |
| 2.20 | UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), October 2021 | |
| 0.07 | 2.26.1 Conflict Sides | |
| 2.27 | UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), September 2021 | |
| 0.00 | 2.27.1 Conflict Sides | |
| 2.28 | UCDP Non-State Conflict Dataset | |
| | 2.28.1 Indentifier Variables | |
| | 2.28.2 Conflict Sides | |
| | 2.28.3 Timely Dimension | |
| | 2.28.4 Fatality Estimates | |
| | 2.28.5 Location | |
| | 2.28.6 Dataset Version | |
| 2.29 | UCDP Non-state Conflict Issues and Actors Dataset | |
| | 2.29.1 Identifiers | |
| | 2.29.2 Organizational Actor Level | |
| | 2.29.3 Timely Dimension | 280 |
| | 2.29.4 Geographical Information | 280 |
| | 2.29.5 Livelihood and Religion | 280 |
| | 2.29.6 Conflict Issues | 281 |
| | 2.29.7 Sources | 282 |
| 2.30 | UCDP One-sided Violence Dataset | 283 |
| | 2.30.1 Indentifier Variables | 283 |
| | 2.30.2 Actor Information | 284 |
| | 2.30.3 Fatality Estimates | 285 |
| | 2.30.4 Location | 286 |
| | 2.30.5 Dataset Version | 287 |
| 2.31 | UCDP Onset Dataset | 287 |
| | 2.31.1 Identifier Variables | 288 |
| | 2.31.2 Conflict Duration | 288 |
| 2.32 | UCDP Peace Agreement Dataset | 289 |
| | 2.32.1 Identifier Variables | |
| | 2.32.2 Geographical Information | 291 |

| 3 | Bibl | iograp | hy | 321 |
|---|------|--------|--|-----|
| | | 2.35.5 | Geographical Information | 319 |
| | | | Dataset Version | |
| | | 2.35.3 | Timely Dimension | 316 |
| | | 2.35.2 | Conflict Cause and Conflict End | 315 |
| | | 2.35.1 | Actors and Identifiers | 313 |
| | 2.35 | UCDP | Conflict Termination Dataset, Dyadic Level | 313 |
| | | | Geographical Information | |
| | | | Dataset Version | |
| | | | Timely Dimension | |
| | | | Actors and Identifiers | |
| | | | Conflict Cause and Conflict End | |
| | 2.34 | | Conflict Termination Dataset, Conflict Level | |
| | | | Dataset Version | |
| | | | Timely Dimension of the Conflict | |
| | | | Cause of Conflict and Conflict Intensity | |
| | | | Conflict Parties | |
| | | | Conflict Location | |
| | 2.33 | | Identifier Variables | |
| | 9 99 | | PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset | |
| | | | Peace Process | |
| | | | Signatories | |
| | | | Content of the Peace Agreement | |
| | | | Conflict Cause | |
| | | 0.000 | $\alpha = 0.7 \pm 0.0$ | 001 |

Table of Contents

| 1 | \mathbf{Exp} | olanato | ry Notes | 5 | 40 |
|---|----------------|---------|------------|---|-----------|
| | 1.1 | Cautio | onary Not | es | 40 |
| | 1.2 | Demse | core Backs | ground | 40 |
| | 1.3 | The D | emscore (| Codebook | 40 |
| | 1.4 | Metho | odology . | | 41 |
| | 1.5 | Down | load ID . | | 41 |
| 2 | UC | DP an | d ViEW | S | 42 |
| | 2.1 | UCDF | P Actor Da | ataset | 42 |
| | | 2.1.1 | Actor Id | entifiers | 42 |
| | | | 2.1.1.1 | Actor Identifier (actorid) | 42 |
| | | 2.1.2 | Actor Na | ames | 43 |
| | | | 2.1.2.1 | Actor Name (namedata) | 43 |
| | | | 2.1.2.2 | Original Actor Name (nameorig) | 43 |
| | | | 2.1.2.3 | Full Original Actor Name (nameorigfull) | 43 |
| | | | 2.1.2.4 | Full English Original Name (nameorigfulleng) | 43 |
| | | | 2.1.2.5 | Name Change (namechange) | 43 |
| | | | 2.1.2.6 | New Name (newname) | 43 |
| | | | 2.1.2.7 | | 43 |
| | | | 2.1.2.8 | Full New Name English (newnamefulleng) | 44 |
| | | 2.1.3 | Actor In | volvement | 44 |
| | | | 2.1.3.1 | Organizational Level Actor (org) | 44 |
| | | | 2.1.3.2 | | 44 |
| | | | 2.1.3.3 | | 44 |
| | | | 2.1.3.4 | | 44 |
| | | | 2.1.3.5 | Dyad Onesided Identifier (osid) | 45 |
| | | | 2.1.3.6 | Onesided Coalition Dummy (oscoalition) | 45 |
| | | | 2.1.3.7 | | 45 |
| | | | 2.1.3.8 | Non-State Identifier (nsid) | 45 |
| | | | 2.1.3.9 | Non-State Coalition Dummy (nscoalition) | 45 |
| | | | 2.1.3.10 | Non-State Coalition Identifier (nscoalitionid) | 45 |
| | | | 2.1.3.11 | Alliance (alliance) | 46 |
| | | | 2.1.3.12 | | 46 |
| | | | 2.1.3.13 | Alliance Identifier (actoridalliance) | 46 |
| | | | 2.1.3.14 | Join Group Dummy (joingroup) | 46 |
| | | | 2.1.3.15 | Group Name (groupname) | 46 |
| | | | 2.1.3.16 | Actor Group Identifier (actoridgroup) | 46 |
| | | 2.1.4 | Splinted | Actors | 47 |
| | | | 2.1.4.1 | Splinter Dummy (splinter) | 47 |
| | | | 2.1.4.2 | Previous Name of Splinted Actor (nameprev) | 47 |
| | | | 2.1.4.3 | Previous Actor Identifier of Splinted Actor (actoridgrev) | 47 |
| | | | 2.1.4.4 | Temporary Splinter (splittemp) | 47 |
| | | | 2.1.4.5 | - , - , - , - , - , - , - , - , - , - , | 47 |
| | | | 2.1.4.6 | Previous Actor Identifier of Temporarily Splinted Actor | |
| | | | | (actoridsplittemp) | 47 |
| | | 2.1.5 | Geograp | hical Information | 48 |
| | | | 2.1.5.1 | Location (location) | 48 |
| | | | | | |

| | | 2.1.5.2 | Location Country Codes (gwnoloc) | 48 |
|-----|-------|-------------------|--|----------|
| | | 2.1.5.3 | Regions (region) | 48 |
| | 2.1.6 | Dataset | Version | 48 |
| | | 2.1.6.1 | Dataset Version (version) | 48 |
| 2.2 | UCDP | Battle-R | elated Deaths Dataset, Conflict Level | 48 |
| | 2.2.1 | Indentifie | er Variables | 49 |
| | | 2.2.1.1 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_id) | 49 |
| | | 2.2.1.2 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_id) | 49 |
| | | 2.2.1.3 | Year (year) | 49 |
| | 2.2.2 | Conflict | Location | 49 |
| | | 2.2.2.1 | Location of Conflict (location_inc) | 49 |
| | | 2.2.2.2 | Name of Territory (territory_name) | 49 |
| | | 2.2.2.3 | Battle Location (battle_location) | 50 |
| | | 2.2.2.4 | Location Codes (gwno_loc) | 50 |
| | | 2.2.2.5 | Battle Location Codes (gwno_battle) | 50 |
| | | 2.2.2.6 | Regions (region) | 50 |
| | 2.2.3 | Conflict | Parties | 50 |
| | | 2.2.3.1 | Side A (side_a) | |
| | | 2.2.3.2 | Side A Identifier (side_a_id) | 51 |
| | | 2.2.3.3 | Supporters of Side A (side_a_2nd) | 51 |
| | | 2.2.3.4 | Side B (side_b) | 51 |
| | | 2.2.3.5 | Side B Identifier (side_b_id) | 51 |
| | | 2.2.3.6 | Supporters of Side B (side_b_2nd) | |
| | | 2.2.3.7 | Cause of Conflict (incompatibility) | |
| | | 2.2.3.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwno_a) | 52 |
| | | 2.2.3.9 | Country Codes for Side A Supporters (gwno_a_2nd) | 52 |
| | | 2.2.3.10 | Country Code for Side B (gwno_b) | 52 |
| | | 2.2.3.11 | Country Codes for Side B Supporters (gwno_b_2nd) | |
| | 2.2.4 | | Estimates | |
| | | 2.2.4.1 | Best Estimate (bd_best) | |
| | | 2.2.4.2 | Low Estimate (bd_low) | |
| | | 2.2.4.3 | High Estimate (bd_high) | 53 |
| | 2.2.5 | | Conflict | |
| | | 2.2.5.1 | Type of Conflict (type_of_conflict) | 53 |
| | 2.2.6 | - | Version | 54 |
| | | 2.2.6.1 | Dataset Version (version) | 54 |
| 2.3 | UCDP | | elated Deaths Dataset, Dyadic Level | 54 |
| | 2.3.1 | | er Variables | 54 |
| | 2.0.1 | 2.3.1.1 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_id) | 54 |
| | | 2.3.1.2 | Conflict Identifier (dyad_id) | 54 |
| | | 2.3.1.3 | Year (year) | 54 |
| | 2.3.2 | | Location | 55 |
| | 2.0.2 | 2.3.2.1 | Location of Conflict (location_inc) | 55 |
| | | 2.3.2.2 | Name of Territory (territory_name) | 55 |
| | | 2.3.2.2 $2.3.2.3$ | Battle Location (battle_location) | 55 |
| | | 2.3.2.3 $2.3.2.4$ | Location Codes (gwno_loc) | 55 |
| | | 2.3.2.4 | Battle Location Codes (gwno_battle) | 55 55 |
| | | 2.3.2.6 | Regions (region) | 56 56 |
| | | 4.0.4.0 | 100210110 (1021011) | •)() |

| | 2.3.3 | Conflict I | Parties | 56 |
|-----|-------|------------|--|----|
| | | 2.3.3.1 | Side A (side_a) | 56 |
| | | 2.3.3.2 | Side A Identifier (side_a_id) | 56 |
| | | 2.3.3.3 | Supporters of Side A (side_a_2nd) | 56 |
| | | 2.3.3.4 | Side B (side_b) | 56 |
| | | 2.3.3.5 | Side B Identifier (side_b_id) | 57 |
| | | 2.3.3.6 | Supporters of Side B (side_b_2nd) | 57 |
| | | 2.3.3.7 | Country Code for Side A (gwno_a) | 57 |
| | | 2.3.3.8 | Country Codes for Side A Supporters (gwno_a_2nd) | 57 |
| | | 2.3.3.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwno_b) | 57 |
| | | 2.3.3.10 | Country Codes for Side B Supporters (gwno_b_2nd) | 58 |
| | 2.3.4 | | Conflict and Conflict Intensity | 58 |
| | | 2.3.4.1 | Cause of Conflict (incompatibility) | 58 |
| | | 2.3.4.2 | Type of Conflict (type_of_conflict) | 58 |
| | 2.3.5 | | Estimates | 58 |
| | 2.0.0 | 2.3.5.1 | Best Estimate (bd best) | 58 |
| | | 2.3.5.2 | Best Estimate (bd_low) | 59 |
| | | 2.3.5.3 | High Estimate (bd_high) | 59 |
| | 2.3.6 | | Version | 59 |
| | 2.5.0 | 2.3.6.1 | Dataset Version (version) | 59 |
| 2.4 | HCDP | | d Armed Conflict Events (CACE) | 59 |
| 2.4 | 2.4.1 | | Variables | 59 |
| | 2.4.1 | 2.4.1.1 | Identifier (id) | 59 |
| | | 2.4.1.1 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | 60 |
| | | 2.4.1.2 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | 60 |
| | 2.4.2 | | | 60 |
| | 2.4.2 | * | Dimension | |
| | | 2.4.2.1 | Active Year (active_year) | 60 |
| | | 2.4.2.2 | Date Precision (date_prec) | 61 |
| | | 2.4.2.3 | Year (year) | 61 |
| | | 2.4.2.4 | date_start (date_start) | 61 |
| | | 2.4.2.5 | date_end (date_end) | 61 |
| | 2.4.3 | | Conflict | 61 |
| | | 2.4.3.1 | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | 61 |
| | | 2.4.3.2 | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | 61 |
| | 2.4.4 | | Sides | 62 |
| | | 2.4.4.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | 62 |
| | | 2.4.4.2 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | 62 |
| | | 2.4.4.3 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | 62 |
| | | 2.4.4.4 | Side A (side_a) | 62 |
| | | 2.4.4.5 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) | 62 |
| | | 2.4.4.6 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | 63 |
| | | 2.4.4.7 | Side B (side_b) | 63 |
| | 2.4.5 | Geograph | nical Information | 63 |
| | | 2.4.5.1 | Precision of Location (where_prec) | 63 |
| | | 2.4.5.2 | $\label{location where coordinates} \ \ . \ \ \ \ . \ \ . \ \ \ . \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ . \$ | 63 |
| | | 2.4.5.3 | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | 64 |
| | | 2.4.5.4 | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | 64 |
| | | 2.4.5.5 | Latitude (latitude) | 64 |

| | | 2.4.5.6 | Longitude (longitude) | 64 |
|-----|-------|------------|---|----|
| | | 2.4.5.7 | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | 64 |
| | | 2.4.5.8 | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | 64 |
| | | 2.4.5.9 | Country (country) | 65 |
| | | 2.4.5.10 | Country Identifier (country_id) | 65 |
| | | 2.4.5.11 | Region (region) | 65 |
| | 2.4.6 | Cities . | | 65 |
| | | 2.4.6.1 | City (city) | 65 |
| | | 2.4.6.2 | City Name (cace_cityname) | 65 |
| | | 2.4.6.3 | Capital (capital) | 65 |
| | | 2.4.6.4 | Major City (majorcity) | 65 |
| | | 2.4.6.5 | Top Three Cities (top3cities) | 66 |
| | | 2.4.6.6 | Comment (comment) | 66 |
| | 2.4.7 | Sources | | 66 |
| | | 2.4.7.1 | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | 66 |
| | 2.4.8 | Fatality 1 | Estimates | 66 |
| | | 2.4.8.1 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | 66 |
| | | 2.4.8.2 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | 67 |
| | | 2.4.8.3 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | 67 |
| | | 2.4.8.4 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) | 67 |
| | | 2.4.8.5 | Best Estimate (best) | |
| | | 2.4.8.6 | Lowest Estimate (low) | 67 |
| | | 2.4.8.7 | Highest Estimate (high) | |
| 2.5 | UCDF | P Deadly E | Electoral Conflict dataset (DECO) | |
| | 2.5.1 | | · Variables | |
| | | 2.5.1.1 | ID (id) | |
| | | 2.5.1.2 | Relid (relid) | 68 |
| | | 2.5.1.3 | UCDP GED Included (ucdp_ged) | |
| | 2.5.2 | Cause of | Conflict | |
| | | 2.5.2.1 | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | |
| | | 2.5.2.2 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | |
| | | 2.5.2.3 | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| | 2.5.3 | | Sides | |
| | | 2.5.3.1 | Dyad Identifier (dyad new id) | 69 |
| | | 2.5.3.2 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | |
| | | 2.5.3.3 | Side A (side_a) | |
| | | 2.5.3.4 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) | |
| | | 2.5.3.5 | Side B (side_b) | |
| | 2.5.4 | Geograpl | hical Information | |
| | | 2.5.4.1 | Country Identifier (country_id) | |
| | | 2.5.4.2 | Country (country) | |
| | | 2.5.4.3 | Region (region) | |
| | | 2.5.4.4 | Latitude (latitude) | |
| | | 2.5.4.5 | Longitude (longitude) | |
| | | 2.5.4.6 | Source (source_article) | |
| | 2.5.5 | | Dimension | |
| | | 2.5.5.1 | Year (year) | |
| | | 2.5.5.2 | Start Date (date_start) | |
| | | | _ , | |

| | | 2.5.5.3 | End Date (date_end) | (1 |
|-----|-------|------------|---|----|
| | 2.5.6 | Fatality 1 | Estimates | 71 |
| | | 2.5.6.1 | Deaths on Side A (deaths_a) | 71 |
| | | 2.5.6.2 | Deaths on Side B (deaths_b) $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | 71 |
| | | 2.5.6.3 | Civilian Deaths (civilian_deaths) | 71 |
| | | 2.5.6.4 | Unknown Deaths (unknown) | 72 |
| | | 2.5.6.5 | Best Estimate (best) | 72 |
| | | 2.5.6.6 | Highest Estimate (high) | 72 |
| | | 2.5.6.7 | Lowest Estimate (low) | 72 |
| | 2.5.7 | Electoral | Violence | 72 |
| | | 2.5.7.1 | Electoral Violence (electoral_vio) | 72 |
| | | 2.5.7.2 | Electoral Violence Uncertainty (electoral_vio_uncertainty) $\ \ldots \ \ldots$ | 72 |
| | | 2.5.7.3 | Electoral Violence Source (electoral_vio_source) $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | 73 |
| | | 2.5.7.4 | Electoral Violence Purpose (electoral_purpose) $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | 73 |
| | | 2.5.7.5 | Involvement of Side A (electoral_side_a) $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | 73 |
| | | 2.5.7.6 | Involvement of Side A Supporter (electoral_side_a_2) \hdots | 73 |
| | | 2.5.7.7 | Involvement of Side A Incumbents (electoral_side_a_inc) $\ . \ . \ . \ .$ | 73 |
| | | 2.5.7.8 | Involvement of Side B (electoral_side_b) $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | 73 |
| | | 2.5.7.9 | Involvement of Side B Supporter (electoral_side_b_2) | 74 |
| | | 2.5.7.10 | Involvement of Side B Incumbents (electoral_side_b_inc) | 74 |
| | | 2.5.7.11 | Main Perpetrator of Electoral Violence (electoral_perpetrator) $$ | 74 |
| | | 2.5.7.12 | Targets of Electoral Violence (electoral_targets) | 74 |
| | | 2.5.7.13 | Type of Election (electoral_type) | 75 |
| | | 2.5.7.14 | Time in Relation to Election (electoral_timing) | 75 |
| 2.6 | UCDF | P Dyadic I | Dataset | 75 |
| | 2.6.1 | Indentifie | er Variables | 75 |
| | | 2.6.1.1 | $\label{eq:dyad_id} \mbox{Dyad Identifier (dyad_id)} \ \dots $ | 76 |
| | | 2.6.1.2 | $\label{thm:conflict_id} \mbox{Conflict_id}) \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $ | 76 |
| | | 2.6.1.3 | Location (location) | 76 |
| | | 2.6.1.4 | Name of Territory (territory_name) | 76 |
| | | 2.6.1.5 | Year (year) | 76 |
| | | 2.6.1.6 | Location Codes (gwno_loc) | 76 |
| | | 2.6.1.7 | Regions (region) | 76 |
| | 2.6.2 | Conflict | Parties | 77 |
| | | 2.6.2.1 | Side A (side_a) | 77 |
| | | 2.6.2.2 | Side A Identifier (side_a_id) $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | 77 |
| | | 2.6.2.3 | Supporters of Side A (side_a_2nd) | 77 |
| | | 2.6.2.4 | Side B (side_b) | 77 |
| | | 2.6.2.5 | Side B Identifier (side_b_id) $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$. | 77 |
| | | 2.6.2.6 | Supporters of Side B (side_b_2nd) | 78 |
| | | 2.6.2.7 | Country Code for Side A (gwno_a) | 78 |
| | | 2.6.2.8 | Country Codes for Side A Supporters (gwno_a_2nd) | 78 |
| | | 2.6.2.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwno_b) | 78 |
| | | 2.6.2.10 | Country Codes for Side B Supporters (gwno_b_2nd) | 78 |
| | 2.6.3 | | Conflict | 79 |
| | | 2.6.3.1 | Cause of Conflict (incompatibility) | 79 |
| | | 2.6.3.2 | Intensity Level (intensity_level) | 79 |
| | | 2.6.3.3 | Type of Conflict (type_of_conflict) | 79 |

| | 2.6.4 | Timely I | Dimension | | | | 79 |
|-----|-------|-------------------|--|--------------|------|------|--------|
| | | 2.6.4.1 | Date of first Death in Conflict (s | tart_date) | | | 79 |
| | | 2.6.4.2 | Precision (start_prec) | | | | 79 |
| | | 2.6.4.3 | Date when Conflict Deaths exceed | ed 25 (start | _dat | se2) | 80 |
| | | 2.6.4.4 | Precision (start_prec2) | | | | 80 |
| | 2.6.5 | Dataset | Version | | | | 80 |
| | | 2.6.5.1 | Dataset Version (version) | | | | |
| 2.7 | UCDP | The Eth | nic One-Sided Violence (EOSV) D | | | | |
| | 2.7.1 | | Variables | | | | |
| | | 2.7.1.1 | Actor ID (actorid) | | | | |
| | | 2.7.1.2 | Year (year) | | | | |
| | 2.7.2 | | formation | | | | |
| | 2.1.2 | 2.7.2.1 | Actor Name (actorname) | | | | |
| | | 2.7.2.1 | Is Government Actor (isgovernm | | | | |
| | 2.7.3 | | Estimates | | | | |
| | 2.1.3 | 2.7.3.1 | | | | | 01 |
| | | 2.7.3.1 | Best Fatality Estimate: (bestfatalityestimate) | | | | 81 |
| | | 2.7.3.2 | High Fatality Estimate: | | | | 01 |
| | | 2.1.3.2 | (highfatalityestimate) | | | | 81 |
| | 2.7.4 | Geograpi | hical Information | | | | |
| | 2 | 2.7.4.1 | Location (location) | | | | |
| | | 2.7.4.2 | GWNO Location (gwnolocation) | | | | |
| | | 2.7.4.3 | Region (region) | | | | |
| | 2.7.5 | | Tiolence | | | | |
| | 2.1.9 | 2.7.5.1 | | | | | |
| | | 2.7.5.1 $2.7.5.2$ | Ethnic Group 1 (ethngr1) | | | | |
| | | | Ethnic Group 1 ID (ethngrid1) | | | | |
| | | 2.7.5.3 | Type 1 (typ1) | | | | |
| | | 2.7.5.4 | Intention 1 (int1) | | | | |
| | | 2.7.5.5 | Intention Confidence 1 (intconf1) | | | | |
| | | 2.7.5.6 | Data Sources 1 (dats1) | | | | |
| | | 2.7.5.7 | Ethnic Group 2 (ethngr2) | | | | |
| | | 2.7.5.8 | Ethnic Group 2 ID (ethngrid2) | | | | |
| | | 2.7.5.9 | Type 2 (typ2) \dots | | | | |
| | | 2.7.5.10 | Intention $2 \text{ (int 2)} \dots \dots$ | | | | |
| | | 2.7.5.11 | Intention Confidence 2 (intconf2) |) | | | 84 |
| | | 2.7.5.12 | Data Sources 2 (dats2) | | | | 85 |
| | | 2.7.5.13 | Ethnic Group 3 (ethngr3) \dots | | | | 85 |
| | | 2.7.5.14 | Ethnic Group 3 ID (ethngrid3) | | | | 85 |
| | | 2.7.5.15 | Type 3 (typ3) | | | | 85 |
| | | 2.7.5.16 | Intention 3 (int 3) | | | | 85 |
| | | 2.7.5.17 | Intention Confidence 3 (intconf3) |) | | | 85 |
| | | 2.7.5.18 | Data Sources 3 (dats3) | | | | 86 |
| | | 2.7.5.19 | Ethnic Group 4 (ethngr4) | | | | 86 |
| | | 2.7.5.20 | Ethnic Group 4 ID (ethngrid4) | | | | 86 |
| | | 2.7.5.21 | Type 4 (typ4) | | | | |
| | | 2.7.5.22 | Intention 4 (int4) | | | | 86 |
| | | 2.7.5.23 | Intention Confidence 4 (intconf4) | | | | |
| | | 2 7 5 24 | Data Sources 4 (dats4) | , | | | 87 |

| | | 2.7.5.25 | Ethnic Group 5 (ethngr5) |
|-----|-------|-----------|---|
| | | 2.7.5.26 | Ethnic Group 5 ID (ethngrid5) |
| | | 2.7.5.27 | Type 5 (typ5) |
| | | 2.7.5.28 | Intention 5 (int5) |
| | | 2.7.5.29 | Intention Confidence 5 (intconf5) |
| | | 2.7.5.30 | Data Sources 5 (dats5) |
| | | 2.7.5.31 | Ethnic Group 6 (ethngr6) |
| | | 2.7.5.32 | Ethnic Group 6 ID (ethngrid6) |
| | | 2.7.5.33 | Type 6 (typ6) |
| | | 2.7.5.34 | Intention 6 (int6) |
| | | 2.7.5.35 | Intention Confidence 6 (intconf6) |
| | | 2.7.5.36 | Data Sources 6 (dats6) |
| | | 2.7.5.37 | Ethnic Group 7 (ethngr7) |
| | | 2.7.5.38 | Ethnic Group 7 ID (ethngrid7) |
| | | 2.7.5.39 | |
| | | 2.7.5.40 | Type 7 (typ7) |
| | | | |
| | | 2.7.5.41 | Intention Confidence 7 (intconf7) |
| 0.0 | HCDD | 2.7.5.42 | Data Sources 7 (dats7) |
| 2.8 | | | Support – Disaggregated/Supporter Level Dataset |
| | 2.8.1 | | tion Variables |
| | | 2.8.1.1 | External Support Incident ID (external_id) |
| | | 2.8.1.2 | Yearly Warring Party ID (ywp_id) |
| | | 2.8.1.3 | Year of Observation (ywp_year) |
| | | 2.8.1.4 | Name of primary warring party or receiver of support (ywp_name) . 92 |
| | | 2.8.1.5 | ID of the primary warring party/receiver of support (actorid) 92 |
| | | 2.8.1.6 | Conflict ID (UCDP database) (bc_id) |
| | | 2.8.1.7 | Conflict ID (UCDP datasets) (conflictid) |
| | | 2.8.1.8 | Conflict Name (bc_name) |
| | | 2.8.1.9 | Dyad ID (bwd_id) |
| | | 2.8.1.10 | Dyad Name (bwd_name) |
| | | 2.8.1.11 | Country One (country1) |
| | | 2.8.1.12 | Country One (country2) |
| | | 2.8.1.13 | Location ID One (locationid1) |
| | | 2.8.1.14 | Location ID Two (locationid2) |
| | 2.8.2 | Variables | Identifying the External Supporter |
| | | 2.8.2.1 | External Support Exists (external_exists) |
| | | 2.8.2.2 | Name of External Supporter (external_name) |
| | | 2.8.2.3 | ID of External Supporter (external_nameid) |
| | | 2.8.2.4 | External Support is Alleged (external_alleged) |
| | 2.8.3 | Variables | Identifying the Type of Support Provided by the Supporter 95 |
| | | 2.8.3.1 | Troops as Secondary Warring Party (external_type_x) 95 |
| | | 2.8.3.2 | Access to Military or Intelligence Infrastructure or Joint Operations |
| | | | (external_type_y) |
| | | 2.8.3.3 | Access to Territory (external_type_l) |
| | | 2.8.3.4 | Weapons (external_type_w) 96 |
| | | 2.8.3.5 | Materiel/Logistics Support (external_type_m) 96 |
| | | 2.8.3.6 | Training/Expertise (external_type_t) |
| | | 2.8.3.7 | Funding and Economic Support (external type dollar) 96 |

| | | 2.8.3.8 | Intelligence (external_type_i) | 96 |
|------|--------|------------|---|-----|
| | | 2.8.3.9 | Other Forms of Support (external_type_o) | 97 |
| | | 2.8.3.10 | Unknown Type of Support (external_type_u) | 97 |
| | | 2.8.3.11 | Description of the Type of Support Provided (external_type_text) . | 97 |
| | | 2.8.3.12 | External Support Code as Regular Expression (external_type_code) | 97 |
| 2.9 | UCDP | External | Support – Primary Warring Party Dataset | 98 |
| | 2.9.1 | Identifica | tion Variables | 98 |
| | | 2.9.1.1 | Yearly Warring Party ID (ywp_id) | 98 |
| | | 2.9.1.2 | Year of Observation (ywp_year) | |
| | | 2.9.1.3 | Name of primary warring party or receiver of support (ywp_name). | |
| | | 2.9.1.4 | ID of the primary warring party/receiver of support (actorid) | |
| | | 2.9.1.5 | Conflict ID (UCDP database) (bc_id) | |
| | | 2.9.1.6 | Conflict ID (UCDP datasets) (conflictid) | |
| | | 2.9.1.7 | Conflict Name (bc_name) | |
| | | 2.9.1.8 | Country One (country1) | |
| | | 2.9.1.9 | Location ID One (locationid1) | |
| | | 2.9.1.10 | Country One (country2) | |
| | | 2.9.1.11 | Location ID Two (locationid2) | |
| | | 2.9.1.12 | Dyad ID (bwd_id) | |
| | | 2.9.1.13 | Dyad Name (bwd_name) | |
| | 2.9.2 | | Identifying the External Supporter | |
| | 2.3.2 | 2.9.2.1 | External Support Exists (external_exists) | |
| | | 2.9.2.2 | External Support is Alleged (external alleged) | |
| | | 2.9.2.3 | Name of External Supporter (external_name) | |
| | | 2.9.2.4 | External Support Code as Regular Expression (external_code) | |
| | | 2.9.2.4 | Name of Supporter and Type of Support Provided (external_type). | |
| | 2.9.3 | | Identifying the Type of Support Provided by the Supporter | |
| | 2.9.3 | 2.9.3.1 | Troops as Secondary Warring Party (external type x) | |
| | | 2.9.3.1 | Access to Territory (external_type_l) | |
| | | 2.9.3.3 | * | 102 |
| | | | Access to Military or Intelligence Infrastructure or Joint Operations (external_type_y) | 102 |
| | | | Weapons (external_type_w) | |
| | | 2.9.3.5 | Materiel/Logistics Support (external_type_m) | |
| | | 2.9.3.6 | Training/Expertise (external_type_t) | |
| | | 2.9.3.7 | Funding and Economic Support (external_type_dollar) | |
| | | 2.9.3.8 | Intelligence (external_type_i) | |
| | | 2.9.3.9 | Other Forms of Support (external_type_o) | |
| | | 2.9.3.10 | Unknown Type of Support (external_type_u) | |
| | | 2.9.3.11 | Comments on External Support (external_comment) | |
| 2.10 | UCDP | | Support in Non-state Conflict Dataset | |
| | | | S | |
| | | 2.10.1.1 | Dyad Old ID (dyad_id) | |
| | | 2.10.1.2 | Dyad New ID (dyadid_new) | |
| | | 2.10.1.3 | Side A Name (side_a_name) | |
| | | 2.10.1.4 | Side A ID (side_a_id) | |
| | | 2.10.1.5 | Side B Name (side_b_name) | |
| | | 2.10.1.6 | Side B ID (side_b_id) | |
| | 2 10 2 | | tional Actor Level | |
| | | | VIUII II I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I | ±00 |

| | | 2.10.2.1 | Organizational Level (org) | 106 |
|------|--------|----------|--|-----|
| | 2.10.3 | Support | | 106 |
| | | 2.10.3.1 | Side A Components (side_a_components) | 106 |
| | | 2.10.3.2 | Supporters of Side A (support_a) | 106 |
| | | 2.10.3.3 | Alleged Supporters of Side A (support_a_alleged) | 107 |
| | | 2.10.3.4 | Side B Components (side_b_components) | 107 |
| | | 2.10.3.5 | Supporters of Side B (support_b) | |
| | | 2.10.3.6 | Alleged Supporters of Side B (support_b_alleged) | |
| | | 2.10.3.7 | Confirmed Support (support_confirmed) | |
| | | 2.10.3.8 | Any Support (support_any) | |
| | 2.10.4 | | Dimension $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | |
| | | · | Year (year) | |
| | 2.10.5 | | nical Information | |
| | | | Location (location) | |
| 2 11 | UCDP | | enced Event Dataset (GED) | |
| 2.11 | | | er Variables | |
| | | 2.11.1.1 | Identifier (id) | |
| | | 2.11.1.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | |
| | | 2.11.1.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.11.1.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict new id) | |
| | | 2.11.1.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.11.1.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | |
| | 9 11 9 | | Dimension | |
| | 2.11.2 | 2.11.2.1 | Year (year) | |
| | | 2.11.2.1 | Active Year (active_year) | |
| | | 2.11.2.3 | Date Precision (date_prec) | |
| | | 2.11.2.4 | Start Date (date_start) | |
| | | 2.11.2.4 | End Date (date_end) | |
| | | 2.11.2.6 | Active Conflict Year (active_year_grouped) | |
| | 0.11.9 | | Version | |
| | 2.11.3 | | | |
| | 0.11.4 | | Code Status (code_status) | |
| | 2.11.4 | | Conflict | |
| | | 2.11.4.1 | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | |
| | 0.11 5 | 2.11.4.2 | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| | 2.11.5 | | Sides | |
| | | 2.11.5.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | |
| | | 2.11.5.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.11.5.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | |
| | | 2.11.5.4 | Side A (side_a) | |
| | | 2.11.5.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.11.5.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) | |
| | | 2.11.5.7 | Side B (side_b) | |
| | | 2.11.5.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | |
| | | 2.11.5.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | |
| | 2.11.6 | Sources | | |
| | | 2.11.6.1 | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | |
| | | 2.11.6.2 | Source Metadata (source_article) | |
| | | 2.11.6.3 | Publishing Organisation (source office) | 114 |

| | 2.11.6.4 | Publication Date (source_date) | 114 |
|--------|------------|--|-----|
| | 2.11.6.5 | $\label{title source_headline} Title \; (source_headline) \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; $ | 115 |
| | 2.11.6.6 | Original Source (source_original) | 115 |
| | 2.11.6.7 | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | 115 |
| 2.11.7 | Geograph | nical Information | 115 |
| | 2.11.7.1 | Precision of Location (where_prec) | 115 |
| | 2.11.7.2 | $\label{location where coordinates} \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$ | 116 |
| | 2.11.7.3 | $\label{location Comment} \mbox{Location Comment (where_description)} \ \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . $ | 116 |
| | 2.11.7.4 | First Administrative Division (adm_1) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 116 |
| | 2.11.7.5 | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | 116 |
| | 2.11.7.6 | Latitude (latitude) | 116 |
| | 2.11.7.7 | Longitude (longitude) | 116 |
| | 2.11.7.8 | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) \hdots | 117 |
| | 2.11.7.9 | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | 117 |
| | 2.11.7.10 | Country (country) | 117 |
| | 2.11.7.11 | Country Identifier (country_id) | 117 |
| | | Region (region) | |
| 2.11.8 | Fatality I | Estimates | 117 |
| | 2.11.8.1 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | 118 |
| | 2.11.8.2 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | 118 |
| | 2.11.8.3 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | |
| | 2.11.8.4 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) | |
| | 2.11.8.5 | Best Estimate (best) | |
| | 2.11.8.6 | Highest Estimate (high) | |
| | 2.11.8.7 | Lowest Estimate (low) | |
| | 2.11.8.8 | Best Estimate of Deaths due to Nonstate Violence (best_non_state) | |
| | 2.11.8.9 | Best Estimate of Deaths due to One-Sided Violence (best_one_sided) | 119 |
| | 2.11.8.10 | Best Estimate of Deaths due to State-Based Violence | 110 |
| | 0.11.0.11 | (best_state_based) | 119 |
| | 2.11.8.11 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A due to Nonstate Violence (deaths_a_non_state) | 110 |
| | 2 11 8 12 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A due to One-Sided Violence | 113 |
| | | (deaths_a_one_sided) | 119 |
| | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A due to State-based Violence | |
| | | $(deaths_a_state_based) \ \dots $ | 119 |
| | 2.11.8.14 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B due to Nonstate Violence | |
| | | (deaths_b_non_state) | 120 |
| | 2.11.8.15 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B due to One-Sided Violence | 100 |
| | 9 11 9 16 | (deaths_b_one_sided) | 120 |
| | 2.11.8.10 | | 120 |
| | 2 11 8 17 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians due to Nonstate Violence | 120 |
| | 2.11.0.11 | | 120 |
| | 2.11.8.18 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians due to One-Sided Violence | |
| | | $(deaths_civilians_one_sided) $ | 120 |
| | 2.11.8.19 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians due to State-Based Violence | |
| | | (deaths_civilians_state_based) | 121 |
| | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons due to Nonstate Violence (deaths unknown non state) | 121 |
| | | TUCAUID UIIMIUWII IIUII SUAUTI | 141 |

| | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons due to One-Sided Violence | 191 |
|-----------|------------|---|-----|
| | | (deaths_unknown_one_sided) | 121 |
| | | (deaths_unknown_state_based) | 121 |
| | | Highest Estimate of Deaths due to Nonstate Violence (high_non_state) | |
| | | Highest Estimate of Deaths due to One-Sided Violence | 121 |
| | | (high_one_sided) | 121 |
| | 2.11.8.25 | Highest Estimate of Deaths due to State-Based Violence | |
| | | $(high_state_based) \ \dots $ | 121 |
| | | Lowest Estimate of Deaths due to Nonstate Violence (low_non_state) | |
| | 2.11.8.27 | Lowest Estimate of Deaths due to One-Sided Violence (low_one_sided) | 122 |
| | 2.11.8.28 | Lowest Estimate of Deaths due to State-Based Violence | |
| 2.42 HGDD | | (low_state_based) | |
| 2.12 UCDP | | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), April 2021 | |
| | 2.12.0.1 | Identifier (id) | |
| | 2.12.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | |
| | 2.12.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | |
| | 2.12.0.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | |
| | 2.12.0.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | |
| | 2.12.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | |
| | 2.12.0.7 | Year (year) | |
| | 2.12.0.8 | Active Year (active_year) | |
| | 2.12.0.9 | Date Precision (date_prec) | |
| | | Start Date (date_start) | |
| | | End Date (date_end) | |
| | | Code Status (code_status) | |
| | 2.12.0.13 | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | 124 |
| | 2.12.0.14 | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | 125 |
| 2.12.1 | Conflict S | Sides | 125 |
| | 2.12.1.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | 125 |
| | 2.12.1.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | 125 |
| | 2.12.1.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) \dots | 125 |
| | 2.12.1.4 | Side A (side_a) | 126 |
| | 2.12.1.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | 126 |
| | 2.12.1.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | 126 |
| | 2.12.1.7 | Side B (side_b) | 126 |
| | 2.12.1.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | 126 |
| | 2.12.1.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | 126 |
| | 2.12.1.10 | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) $\dots \dots \dots$ | 126 |
| | 2.12.1.11 | Source Metadata (source_article) | 127 |
| | 2.12.1.12 | Publishing Organisation (source_office) | 127 |
| | 2.12.1.13 | Publication Date (source_date) | 127 |
| | 2.12.1.14 | $\label{title course} Title \; (source_head line) \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; $ | 127 |
| | 2.12.1.15 | Original Source (source_original) | 128 |
| | | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | |
| | | Precision of Location (where_prec) | |
| | 2.12.1.18 | Location (where_coordinates) | 129 |
| | | Location Comment (where_description) | |
| | | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | |
| | | | |

| | | 2.12.1.21 | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | . 129 |
|------|--------|-----------|---|-------|
| | | 2.12.1.22 | Latitude (latitude) | . 129 |
| | | 2.12.1.23 | Longitude (longitude) | . 129 |
| | | 2.12.1.24 | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | . 129 |
| | | 2.12.1.25 | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | . 130 |
| | | 2.12.1.26 | Country (country) | . 130 |
| | | 2.12.1.27 | Country Identifier (country_id) | . 130 |
| | | 2.12.1.28 | Region (region) | . 130 |
| | | 2.12.1.29 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | . 130 |
| | | 2.12.1.30 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | . 130 |
| | | 2.12.1.31 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | . 130 |
| | | 2.12.1.32 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) | . 131 |
| | | 2.12.1.33 | Best Estimate (best) | . 131 |
| | | 2.12.1.34 | Highest Estimate (high) | . 131 |
| | | | Lowest Estimate (low) | |
| 2.13 | UCDP | | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), August 2021 | |
| | | 2.13.0.1 | Identifier (id) | |
| | | 2.13.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | |
| | | 2.13.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.13.0.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | |
| | | 2.13.0.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.13.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | |
| | | 2.13.0.7 | Year (year) | |
| | | 2.13.0.8 | Active Year (active_year) | |
| | | 2.13.0.9 | Date Precision (date_prec) | |
| | | 2.13.0.10 | Start Date (date_start) | |
| | | | End Date (date_end) | |
| | | | Code Status (code_status) | |
| | | | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | |
| | | | Conflict Name (conflict name) | |
| | 2.13.1 | | Sides | |
| | | 2.13.1.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | |
| | | 2.13.1.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.13.1.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | |
| | | 2.13.1.4 | Side A (side_a) | |
| | | 2.13.1.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.13.1.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) | |
| | | 2.13.1.7 | Side B (side_b) | |
| | | 2.13.1.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | |
| | | 2.13.1.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | |
| | | | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | |
| | | | Source Metadata (source_article) | |
| | | | Publishing Organisation (source_office) | |
| | | | Publication Date (source_date) | |
| | | | Title (source_headline) | |
| | | | Original Source (source_original) | |
| | | | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | |
| | | | Precision of Location (where prec) | |

| | | 2.13.1.18 | Location (where_coordinates) | . 138 |
|------|--------|-----------|---|-------|
| | | 2.13.1.19 | Location Comment (where_description) | . 138 |
| | | 2.13.1.20 | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | . 138 |
| | | 2.13.1.21 | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | . 138 |
| | | | Latitude (latitude) | |
| | | 2.13.1.23 | Longitude (longitude) | . 138 |
| | | | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | |
| | | | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | |
| | | | Country (country) | |
| | | | Country Identifier (country_id) | |
| | | | Region (region) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) | |
| | | | Best Estimate (best) | |
| | | | Highest Estimate (high) | |
| | | | Lowest Estimate (low) | |
| 2 14 | HCDP | | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), December 2021 | |
| 2.14 | CODI | 2.14.0.1 | Identifier (id) | |
| | | 2.14.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | |
| | | 2.14.0.2 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.14.0.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | |
| | | 2.14.0.4 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.14.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | |
| | | 2.14.0.7 | Year (year) | |
| | | 2.14.0.7 | Active Year (active_year) | |
| | | 2.14.0.9 | Date Precision (date_prec) | |
| | | | Start Date (date_start) | |
| | | | End Date (date_end) | |
| | | | Code Status (code_status) | |
| | | | | |
| | | | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | |
| | 0141 | | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| | 2.14.1 | | Sides | |
| | | 2.14.1.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | |
| | | 2.14.1.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.14.1.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | |
| | | 2.14.1.4 | Side A (side_a) | |
| | | 2.14.1.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.14.1.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) | |
| | | 2.14.1.7 | Side B (side_b) | |
| | | 2.14.1.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | |
| | | 2.14.1.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | |
| | | | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | |
| | | | Source Metadata (source_article) | |
| | | | Publishing Organisation (source_office) | |
| | | | Publication Date (source_date) | |
| | | 2.14.1.14 | Title (source headline) | 146 |

| | | 2.14.1.15 | Original Source (source_original) | . 146 |
|------|--------|-----------|---|-------|
| | | 2.14.1.16 | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | . 146 |
| | | 2.14.1.17 | Precision of Location (where_prec) \hdots | . 147 |
| | | 2.14.1.18 | location where coordinates) | . 147 |
| | | 2.14.1.19 | Location Comment (where_description) | . 147 |
| | | 2.14.1.20 | Latitude (latitude) | . 147 |
| | | 2.14.1.21 | Longitude (longitude) | . 148 |
| | | 2.14.1.22 | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | . 148 |
| | | | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | |
| | | | Country (country) | |
| | | 2.14.1.25 | Country Identifier (country_id) | . 148 |
| | | | Region (region) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths civilians) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) | |
| | | | Best Estimate (best) | |
| | | | Highest Estimate (high) | |
| | | | Lowest Estimate (low) | |
| 2 15 | UCDP | | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), February 2021 | |
| 2.10 | CCDI | 2.15.0.1 | Identifier (id) | |
| | | 2.15.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | |
| | | 2.15.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.15.0.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | |
| | | 2.15.0.4 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.15.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | |
| | | 2.15.0.7 | Year (year) | |
| | | 2.15.0.7 | * | |
| | | | Active Year (active_year) | |
| | | 2.15.0.9 | Date Precision (date_prec) | |
| | | | Start Date (date_start) | |
| | | | End Date (date_end) | |
| | | | Code Status (code_status) | |
| | | | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | |
| | | | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| | 2.15.1 | | Sides | |
| | | 2.15.1.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | |
| | | 2.15.1.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.15.1.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | |
| | | 2.15.1.4 | Side A (side_a) | |
| | | 2.15.1.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.15.1.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | |
| | | 2.15.1.7 | Side B (side_b) | |
| | | 2.15.1.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | . 154 |
| | | 2.15.1.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | |
| | | | $Number\ of\ Sources\ (number_of_sources) .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .$ | |
| | | 2.15.1.11 | Source Metadata (source_article) $\ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ $ | . 154 |
| | | | Publishing Organisation (source_office) $\ \ \ldots \ \ \ldots \ \ \ldots \ \ \ldots$ | |
| | | 2.15.1.13 | Publication Date (source date) | . 155 |

| | | 2.15.1.14 | Title (source_neadline) | 155 |
|------|--------|------------|---|---------|
| | | 2.15.1.15 | Original Source (source_original) | 155 |
| | | 2.15.1.16 | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | 155 |
| | | 2.15.1.17 | Precision of Location (where_prec) | 156 |
| | | 2.15.1.18 | Location (where_coordinates) | 156 |
| | | 2.15.1.19 | Location Comment (where_description) | 156 |
| | | 2.15.1.20 | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | 156 |
| | | 2.15.1.21 | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | 157 |
| | | 2.15.1.22 | Latitude (latitude) | 157 |
| | | 2.15.1.23 | Longitude (longitude) | 157 |
| | | 2.15.1.24 | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | 157 |
| | | 2.15.1.25 | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | 157 |
| | | 2.15.1.26 | Country (country) | 157 |
| | | 2.15.1.27 | Country Identifier (country_id) | 158 |
| | | | Region (region) | |
| | | 2.15.1.29 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | 158 |
| | | 2.15.1.30 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | 158 |
| | | 2.15.1.31 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | 158 |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) | |
| | | 2.15.1.33 | Best Estimate (best) | 158 |
| | | 2.15.1.34 | Highest Estimate (high) | 159 |
| | | 2.15.1.35 | Lowest Estimate (low) | 159 |
| 2.16 | UCDP | | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), February 2022 | |
| | | 2.16.0.1 | Identifier (id) | |
| | | 2.16.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | 159 |
| | | 2.16.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | 159 |
| | | 2.16.0.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | 160 |
| | | 2.16.0.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | 160 |
| | | 2.16.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | |
| | | 2.16.0.7 | Year (year) | 160 |
| | | 2.16.0.8 | Active Year (active_year) | |
| | | 2.16.0.9 | Date Precision (date_prec) | |
| | | | Start Date (date start) | |
| | | 2.16.0.11 | End Date (date_end) | 161 |
| | | | Code Status (code_status) | |
| | 2.16.1 | | Conflict | |
| | | 2.16.1.1 | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | 161 |
| | | 2.16.1.2 | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| | 2.16.2 | Conflict S | Sides | |
| | | 2.16.2.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | 162 |
| | | 2.16.2.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.16.2.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | |
| | | 2.16.2.4 | Side A (side_a) | |
| | | 2.16.2.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.16.2.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) | |
| | | 2.16.2.7 | Side B (side_b) | |
| | | 2.16.2.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | |
| | | 2.16.2.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | |
| | | - | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | - |

| | | 2.16.2.10 | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | . 163 |
|------|--------|-----------|--|-------|
| | | 2.16.2.11 | Source Metadata (source_article) | . 164 |
| | | 2.16.2.12 | Publishing Organisation (source_office) | . 164 |
| | | 2.16.2.13 | Publication Date (source_date) | . 164 |
| | | 2.16.2.14 | $\label{title source_headline} Title \; (source_headline) \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; $ | . 164 |
| | | 2.16.2.15 | Original Source (source_original) | . 165 |
| | | 2.16.2.16 | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | . 165 |
| | | 2.16.2.17 | Precision of Location (where_prec) | . 165 |
| | | 2.16.2.18 | $location (where_coordinates)$ | . 166 |
| | | 2.16.2.19 | Location Comment (where_description) | . 166 |
| | | 2.16.2.20 | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | . 166 |
| | | 2.16.2.21 | Second Administrative Division (adm $_2$) | . 166 |
| | | 2.16.2.22 | Latitude (latitude) | . 166 |
| | | 2.16.2.23 | Longitude (longitude) | . 166 |
| | | 2.16.2.24 | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | . 166 |
| | | 2.16.2.25 | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | . 167 |
| | | 2.16.2.26 | Country (country) | . 167 |
| | | 2.16.2.27 | Country Identifier (country_id) | . 167 |
| | | 2.16.2.28 | Region (region) | . 167 |
| | | 2.16.2.29 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | . 167 |
| | | 2.16.2.30 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | . 167 |
| | | 2.16.2.31 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | . 167 |
| | | 2.16.2.32 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) | . 168 |
| | | 2.16.2.33 | Best Estimate (best) | . 168 |
| | | 2.16.2.34 | Highest Estimate (high) | . 168 |
| | | 2.16.2.35 | Lowest Estimate (low) | . 168 |
| 2.17 | UCDP | Candidat | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January to December 2021 . | . 168 |
| | | 2.17.0.1 | Identifier (id) | . 169 |
| | | 2.17.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | . 169 |
| | | 2.17.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | . 169 |
| | | 2.17.0.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | . 169 |
| | | 2.17.0.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | . 169 |
| | | 2.17.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | . 169 |
| | | 2.17.0.7 | Year (year) | . 170 |
| | | 2.17.0.8 | Active Year (active_year) | . 170 |
| | | 2.17.0.9 | Date Precision (date_prec) | . 170 |
| | | 2.17.0.10 | Start Date (date_start) | . 170 |
| | | 2.17.0.11 | End Date (date_end) | . 170 |
| | | 2.17.0.12 | Code Status (code_status) | . 171 |
| | | 2.17.0.13 | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | . 171 |
| | | | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| | 2.17.1 | | Sides | |
| | | 2.17.1.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | |
| | | 2.17.1.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.17.1.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | |
| | | 2.17.1.4 | Side A (side_a) | |
| | | 2.17.1.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.17.1.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) | |
| | | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | |

| 2.17.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | 4 = 0 |
|--|---|
| 2.17.1.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | 172 |
| , | 173 |
| 0.474.44.0 | 173 |
| 2.17.1.11 Source Metadata (source_article) | 173 |
| 2.17.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office) | 173 |
| 2.17.1.13 Publication Date (source_date) | 174 |
| 2.17.1.14 Title (source_headline) | 174 |
| 2.17.1.15 Original Source (source_original) | 174 |
| 2.17.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | 174 |
| 2.17.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec) | 175 |
| 2.17.1.18 Location (where $_$ coordinates) | 175 |
| 2.17.1.19 Location Comment (where_description) | 175 |
| 2.17.1.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1) | 175 |
| 2.17.1.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | 175 |
| 2.17.1.22 Latitude (latitude) | 175 |
| 2.17.1.23 Longitude (longitude) $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | 176 |
| 2.17.1.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | 176 |
| 2.17.1.25 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | 176 |
| 2.17.1.26 Country (country) | 176 |
| 2.17.1.27 Country Identifier (country_id) | 176 |
| 2.17.1.28 Region (region) | 176 |
| 2.17.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | 176 |
| 2.17.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | 177 |
| 2.17.1.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | 177 |
| | |
| $2.17.1.32~{\rm Best}$ Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) . | |
| 2.17.1.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) . 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) | 177 |
| , | 177 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) | 177 177 177 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) | 177 177 177 177 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) | 177 177 177 177 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) | 177 177 177 177 178 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) | 177 177 177 177 177 178 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) | 177 177 177 177 177 178 178 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) 2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | 177 177 177 177 178 178 178 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) 2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) 2.18.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | 177 177 177 177 177 178 178 178 178 178 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) 2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) 2.18.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) 2.18.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | 177 177 177 177 178 178 178 178 178 179 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) 2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) 2.18.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) 2.18.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) 2.18.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | 177 177 177 177 177 177 178 178 178 178 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) 2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) 2.18.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) 2.18.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) 2.18.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) 2.18.0.7 Year (year) | 177 177 177 177 177 177 178 178 178 178 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) 2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) 2.18.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) 2.18.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) 2.18.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) 2.18.0.7 Year (year) 2.18.0.8 Active Year (active_year) | 177 177 177 177 177 177 178 178 178 178 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) 2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) 2.18.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) 2.18.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) 2.18.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) 2.18.0.7 Year (year) 2.18.0.8 Active Year (active_year) 2.18.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec) | 177 177 177 177 177 177 177 178 178 178 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) 2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) 2.18.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) 2.18.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) 2.18.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) 2.18.0.7 Year (year) 2.18.0.8 Active Year (active_year) 2.18.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec) 2.18.0.10 Start Date (date_start) | 177 177 177 177 177 177 177 178 178 178 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) 2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) 2.18.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) 2.18.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) 2.18.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) 2.18.0.7 Year (year) 2.18.0.8 Active Year (active_year) 2.18.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec) 2.18.0.10 Start Date (date_start) 2.18.0.11 End Date (date_end) | 177 177 177 177 177 177 178 178 178 178 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) 2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) 2.18.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) 2.18.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) 2.18.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) 2.18.0.7 Year (year) 2.18.0.8 Active Year (active_year) 2.18.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec) 2.18.0.10 Start Date (date_start) 2.18.0.11 End Date (date_end) 2.18.0.12 Code Status (code_status) | 177 177 177 177 177 177 178 178 178 178 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) 2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) 2.18.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) 2.18.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) 2.18.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) 2.18.0.7 Year (year) 2.18.0.8 Active Year (active_year) 2.18.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec) 2.18.0.10 Start Date (date_start) 2.18.0.11 End Date (date_end) 2.18.0.12 Code Status (code_status) 2.18.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | 177 177 177 177 177 177 178 178 178 178 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) 2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) 2.18.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) 2.18.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) 2.18.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) 2.18.0.7 Year (year) 2.18.0.8 Active Year (active_year) 2.18.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec) 2.18.0.10 Start Date (date_start) 2.18.0.11 End Date (date_end) 2.18.0.12 Code Status (code_status) 2.18.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence) 2.18.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict_name) | 177 177 177 178 178 178 178 179 179 179 179 180 180 180 180 180 |
| 2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best) 2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high) 2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low) 2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021 2.18.0.1 Identifier (id) 2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid) 2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) 2.18.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) 2.18.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) 2.18.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) 2.18.0.7 Year (year) 2.18.0.8 Active Year (active_year) 2.18.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec) 2.18.0.10 Start Date (date_start) 2.18.0.11 End Date (date_end) 2.18.0.12 Code Status (code_status) 2.18.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence) 2.18.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict_name) 2.18.1 Conflict Sides | 177 177 177 177 177 177 177 178 178 178 |

| | | 2.18.1.4 | Side A (side_a) | . 181 |
|------|--------|-----------|--|-------|
| | | 2.18.1.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | . 181 |
| | | 2.18.1.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | . 181 |
| | | 2.18.1.7 | Side B (side_b) | . 182 |
| | | 2.18.1.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | . 182 |
| | | 2.18.1.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | . 182 |
| | | 2.18.1.10 | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | . 182 |
| | | 2.18.1.11 | Source Metadata (source_article) | . 182 |
| | | 2.18.1.12 | Publishing Organisation (source_office) | . 183 |
| | | 2.18.1.13 | Publication Date (source_date) | . 183 |
| | | 2.18.1.14 | $\label{title source_headline} Title \; (source_headline) \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; $ | . 183 |
| | | 2.18.1.15 | Original Source (source_original) | . 183 |
| | | 2.18.1.16 | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | . 183 |
| | | 2.18.1.17 | Precision of Location (where_prec) | . 184 |
| | | 2.18.1.18 | Location (where_coordinates) | . 184 |
| | | 2.18.1.19 | Location Comment (where_description) | . 184 |
| | | 2.18.1.20 | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | . 184 |
| | | 2.18.1.21 | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | . 185 |
| | | 2.18.1.22 | Latitude (latitude) | . 185 |
| | | | Longitude (longitude) | |
| | | | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | |
| | | | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | |
| | | | Country (country) | |
| | | | Country Identifier (country_id) | |
| | | | Region (region) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths civilians) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths unknown) | |
| | | | Best Estimate (best) | |
| | | | Highest Estimate (high) | |
| | | | Lowest Estimate (low) | |
| 2.19 | UCDP | | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2022 | |
| | | 2.19.0.1 | Identifier (id) | |
| | | 2.19.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | |
| | | 2.19.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.19.0.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | |
| | | 2.19.0.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad dset id) | |
| | | 2.19.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | |
| | | 2.19.0.7 | Year (year) | |
| | | 2.19.0.8 | Active Year (active_year) | |
| | | 2.19.0.9 | Date Precision (date_prec) | |
| | | | Start Date (date_start) | |
| | | | End Date (date_end) | |
| | | | Code Status (code_status) | |
| | 9 10 1 | | Conflict | |
| | 4.13.1 | 2.19.1.1 | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | |
| | | | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| | | 2.19.1.2 | Commet Name (commet_name) | . 190 |

| 2.19.2 | Conflict S | Sides | . 190 |
|-----------|------------|---|-------|
| | 2.19.2.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | . 190 |
| | 2.19.2.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | . 190 |
| | 2.19.2.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | . 190 |
| | 2.19.2.4 | Side A (side_a) | . 190 |
| | 2.19.2.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | . 191 |
| | 2.19.2.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | . 191 |
| | 2.19.2.7 | Side B (side_b) | . 191 |
| | 2.19.2.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | . 191 |
| | 2.19.2.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | . 191 |
| | 2.19.2.10 | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | . 191 |
| | 2.19.2.11 | Source Metadata (source_article) | . 192 |
| | 2.19.2.12 | Publishing Organisation (source_office) | . 192 |
| | 2.19.2.13 | Publication Date (source_date) | . 192 |
| | 2.19.2.14 | Title (source_headline) | . 192 |
| | 2.19.2.15 | Original Source (source_original) | . 193 |
| | 2.19.2.16 | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | . 193 |
| | | Precision of Location (where_prec) | |
| | 2.19.2.18 | Location (where_coordinates) | . 193 |
| | 2.19.2.19 | Location Comment (where_description) | . 194 |
| | 2.19.2.20 | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | . 194 |
| | 2.19.2.21 | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | . 194 |
| | 2.19.2.22 | Latitude (latitude) | . 194 |
| | 2.19.2.23 | Longitude (longitude) | . 194 |
| | 2.19.2.24 | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | . 194 |
| | | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | |
| | | Country (country) | |
| | 2.19.2.27 | Country Identifier (country_id) | . 195 |
| | | Region (region) | |
| | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | |
| | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | |
| | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | |
| | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths unknown) | |
| | | Best Estimate (best) | |
| | | Highest Estimate (high) | |
| | | Lowest Estimate (low) | |
| 2.20 UCDP | | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), July 2021 | |
| | 2.20.0.1 | Identifier (id) | |
| | 2.20.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | |
| | 2.20.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | |
| | 2.20.0.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | |
| | 2.20.0.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | |
| | 2.20.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | |
| | 2.20.0.7 | Year (year) | |
| | 2.20.0.1 | Active Year (active_year) | |
| | 2.20.0.9 | Date Precision (date_prec) | |
| | | Start Date (date_start) | |
| | | End Date (date_end) | |
| | 4.40.0.11 | Life Dave (dave_end) | . 190 |

| | | 2.20.0.13 | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | . 199 |
|------|--------|------------|--|-------|
| | | 2.20.0.14 | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | . 199 |
| | 2.20.1 | Conflict S | Sides | . 199 |
| | | 2.20.1.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | . 199 |
| | | 2.20.1.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | . 199 |
| | | 2.20.1.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | . 199 |
| | | 2.20.1.4 | Side A (side_a) | . 200 |
| | | 2.20.1.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | . 200 |
| | | 2.20.1.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) | . 200 |
| | | 2.20.1.7 | Side B (side_b) | . 200 |
| | | 2.20.1.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | . 200 |
| | | 2.20.1.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | . 200 |
| | | 2.20.1.10 | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | . 201 |
| | | 2.20.1.11 | Source Metadata (source_article) | . 201 |
| | | 2.20.1.12 | Publishing Organisation (source_office) | . 201 |
| | | 2.20.1.13 | Publication Date (source_date) | . 201 |
| | | 2.20.1.14 | Title (source_headline) | . 202 |
| | | 2.20.1.15 | Original Source (source_original) | . 202 |
| | | 2.20.1.16 | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | . 202 |
| | | 2.20.1.17 | Precision of Location (where_prec) | . 202 |
| | | 2.20.1.18 | Location (where_coordinates) | . 203 |
| | | 2.20.1.19 | Location Comment (where_description) | . 203 |
| | | 2.20.1.20 | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | . 203 |
| | | 2.20.1.21 | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | . 203 |
| | | 2.20.1.22 | Latitude (latitude) | . 203 |
| | | 2.20.1.23 | Longitude (longitude) | . 203 |
| | | 2.20.1.24 | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | . 204 |
| | | 2.20.1.25 | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | . 204 |
| | | 2.20.1.26 | Country (country) | . 204 |
| | | 2.20.1.27 | Country Identifier (country_id) | . 204 |
| | | 2.20.1.28 | Region (region) | . 204 |
| | | 2.20.1.29 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | . 204 |
| | | 2.20.1.30 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | . 204 |
| | | 2.20.1.31 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | . 205 |
| | | 2.20.1.32 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) | . 205 |
| | | 2.20.1.33 | Best Estimate (best) | . 205 |
| | | 2.20.1.34 | Highest Estimate (high) | . 205 |
| | | 2.20.1.35 | Lowest Estimate (low) | . 205 |
| 2.21 | UCDP | Candidat | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), June 2021 | . 205 |
| | | 2.21.0.1 | | . 206 |
| | | 2.21.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | . 206 |
| | | 2.21.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | . 206 |
| | | 2.21.0.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | . 206 |
| | | 2.21.0.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | . 206 |
| | | 2.21.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | . 207 |
| | | 2.21.0.7 | Year (year) | . 207 |
| | | 2.21.0.8 | Active Year (active_year) | . 207 |
| | | | | |

| | | 2.21.0.9 | $\label{eq:date_prec} \mbox{Date Precision (date_prec)} $ | | . 207 |
|------|--------|------------|--|-----|-------|
| | | 2.21.0.10 | $Start\ Date\ (date_start) \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | | . 207 |
| | | 2.21.0.11 | End Date (date_end) | | . 208 |
| | | 2.21.0.12 | Code Status (code_status) | | . 208 |
| | | 2.21.0.13 | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) $\ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ .$ | | . 208 |
| | | 2.21.0.14 | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | | . 208 |
| | 2.21.1 | Conflict S | Sides | | . 208 |
| | | 2.21.1.1 | $\label{eq:Dyad_Name} \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$ | | . 208 |
| | | 2.21.1.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | | . 209 |
| | | 2.21.1.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | | . 209 |
| | | 2.21.1.4 | Side A (side_a) | | . 209 |
| | | 2.21.1.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | | . 209 |
| | | 2.21.1.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | | . 209 |
| | | 2.21.1.7 | Side B (side_b) | | . 209 |
| | | 2.21.1.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | | . 210 |
| | | 2.21.1.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | | . 210 |
| | | 2.21.1.10 | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) $\dots \dots \dots$ | | . 210 |
| | | 2.21.1.11 | Source Metadata (source_article) | | . 210 |
| | | 2.21.1.12 | Publishing Organisation (source_office) | | . 210 |
| | | 2.21.1.13 | Publication Date (source_date) | | . 211 |
| | | 2.21.1.14 | $\label{title course} Title \; (source_head line) \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; $ | | . 211 |
| | | 2.21.1.15 | Original Source (source_original) | | . 211 |
| | | 2.21.1.16 | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | | . 211 |
| | | 2.21.1.17 | Precision of Location (where_prec) | | . 212 |
| | | 2.21.1.18 | Location (where_coordinates) | | . 212 |
| | | 2.21.1.19 | Location Comment (where_description) | | . 212 |
| | | 2.21.1.20 | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | | . 212 |
| | | 2.21.1.21 | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | | . 212 |
| | | 2.21.1.22 | Latitude (latitude) | | . 213 |
| | | 2.21.1.23 | Longitude (longitude) | | . 213 |
| | | 2.21.1.24 | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | | . 213 |
| | | | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | | |
| | | | Country (country) | | |
| | | 2.21.1.27 | Country Identifier (country_id) | | . 213 |
| | | | Region (region) | | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | | |
| | | 2.21.1.30 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | | . 214 |
| | | 2.21.1.31 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | | . 214 |
| | | 2.21.1.32 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) | | . 214 |
| | | | Best Estimate (best) | | |
| | | | Highest Estimate (high) | | |
| | | | Lowest Estimate (low) | | |
| 2.22 | UCDP | | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), March 2021 | | |
| | | 2.22.0.1 | Identifier (id) | | |
| | | 2.22.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | | |
| | | 2.22.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | | |
| | | 2.22.0.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | | |
| | | 2.22.0.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | | |
| | | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | · · | _ |

| | | 2.22.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | . 216 |
|------|--------|------------|--|-------|
| | | 2.22.0.7 | Year (year) | . 216 |
| | | 2.22.0.8 | Active Year (active_year) | . 216 |
| | | 2.22.0.9 | Date Precision (date_prec) | . 217 |
| | | 2.22.0.10 | Start Date (date_start) | . 217 |
| | | 2.22.0.11 | End Date (date_end) | . 217 |
| | | 2.22.0.12 | Code Status (code_status) | . 217 |
| | | 2.22.0.13 | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | . 217 |
| | | | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| | 2.22.1 | Conflict S | Sides | . 218 |
| | | 2.22.1.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | . 218 |
| | | 2.22.1.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.22.1.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | |
| | | 2.22.1.4 | Side A (side_a) | |
| | | 2.22.1.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side b dset id) | |
| | | 2.22.1.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) | |
| | | 2.22.1.7 | Side B (side_b) | |
| | | 2.22.1.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | |
| | | 2.22.1.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | |
| | | _ | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | |
| | | | Source Metadata (source_article) | |
| | | | Publishing Organisation (source_office) | |
| | | | Publication Date (source_date) | |
| | | | Title (source_headline) | |
| | | | | |
| | | | Original Source (source_original) | |
| | | | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | |
| | | | Precision of Location (where_prec) | |
| | | | Location (where_coordinates) | |
| | | | Location Comment (where_description) | |
| | | | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | |
| | | | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | |
| | | | Latitude (latitude) | |
| | | | Longitude (longitude) | |
| | | | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | |
| | | | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | |
| | | | Country (country) | |
| | | | Country Identifier (country_id) $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$. | |
| | | 2.22.1.28 | Region (region) \dots | . 223 |
| | | 2.22.1.29 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | . 223 |
| | | 2.22.1.30 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | . 223 |
| | | 2.22.1.31 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | . 223 |
| | | 2.22.1.32 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) $\ .$ | . 223 |
| | | 2.22.1.33 | Best Estimate (best) | . 224 |
| | | 2.22.1.34 | Highest Estimate (high) | . 224 |
| | | 2.22.1.35 | Lowest Estimate (low) | . 224 |
| 2.23 | UCDP | Candidat | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), March 2022 | . 224 |
| | | 2.23.0.1 | Identifier (id) | . 224 |
| | | 2.23.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | |

| | 2.23.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | . 225 |
|--------|-----------|---|-------|
| | 2.23.0.4 | $Conflict\ Identifier\ (conflict_new_id) \ \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | . 225 |
| | 2.23.0.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | . 225 |
| | 2.23.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | . 225 |
| | 2.23.0.7 | Year (year) | . 225 |
| | 2.23.0.8 | Active Year (active_year) | . 226 |
| | 2.23.0.9 | Date Precision (date_prec) | |
| | 2.23.0.10 | Start Date (date_start) | |
| | | End Date (date_end) | |
| | | Code Status (code_status) | |
| 2.23.1 | | Conflict | |
| | 2.23.1.1 | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | |
| | 2.23.1.2 | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| 2.23.2 | | Sides | |
| | 2.23.2.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | |
| | 2.23.2.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | |
| | 2.23.2.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | |
| | 2.23.2.4 | Side A (side a) | |
| | 2.23.2.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | |
| | 2.23.2.6 | Side B Identifier (side b new id) | |
| | 2.23.2.7 | Side B (side_b) | |
| | 2.23.2.7 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | |
| | 2.23.2.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | |
| | | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | |
| | | Source Metadata (source_article) | |
| | | Publishing Organisation (source_office) | |
| | | Publication Date (source_date) | |
| | | , | |
| | | Title (source_headline) | |
| | | Original Source (source_original) | |
| | | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | |
| | | Precision of Location (where_prec) | |
| | | Location (where_coordinates) | |
| | | Location Comment (where_description) | |
| | | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | |
| | | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | |
| | | Latitude (latitude) | |
| | | Longitude (longitude) | |
| | | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | |
| | | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | |
| | | Country (country) | |
| | | Country Identifier (country_id) | |
| | | Region (region) | |
| | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | |
| | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | |
| | 2.23.2.31 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | . 232 |
| | 2.23.2.32 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) $\ .$ | . 233 |
| | 2.23.2.33 | Best Estimate (best) | . 233 |
| | 2.23.2.34 | Highest Estimate (high) | . 233 |

| | - | 2.23.2.35 | Lowest Estimate (low) | . 233 |
|--------|-------|-----------|--|-------|
| 2.24 U | CDP (| Candidat | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), May 2021 | . 233 |
| | 4 | 2.24.0.1 | | . 234 |
| | 4 | 2.24.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | . 234 |
| | 4 | 2.24.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | . 234 |
| | 4 | 2.24.0.4 | $Conflict\ Identifier\ (conflict_new_id) \ \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | . 234 |
| | 4 | 2.24.0.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | . 234 |
| | 4 | 2.24.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | . 234 |
| | 4 | 2.24.0.7 | Year (year) | . 235 |
| | 4 | 2.24.0.8 | Active Year (active_year) | . 235 |
| | 4 | 2.24.0.9 | Date Precision (date_prec) | . 235 |
| | 4 | 2.24.0.10 | Start Date (date_start) | . 235 |
| | 6 | 2.24.0.11 | End Date (date_end) | . 235 |
| | 4 | 2.24.0.12 | Code Status (code_status) | . 236 |
| | | | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | |
| | | | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| 2.5 | | | $\hat{	ext{Sides}}$ | |
| | | 2.24.1.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | |
| | 4 | 2.24.1.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | |
| | 4 | 2.24.1.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | |
| | 6 | 2.24.1.4 | Side A (side_a) | |
| | 6 | 2.24.1.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | |
| | 6 | 2.24.1.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) | |
| | | 2.24.1.7 | Side B (side_b) | |
| | | 2.24.1.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | |
| | | 2.24.1.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | |
| | 4 | 2.24.1.10 | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | |
| | | | Source Metadata (source_article) | |
| | | | Publishing Organisation (source office) | |
| | | | Publication Date (source_date) | |
| | | | Title (source_headline) | |
| | | | Original Source (source original) | |
| | | | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | |
| | | | Precision of Location (where prec) | |
| | | | Location (where_coordinates) | |
| | | | Location Comment (where_description) | |
| | | | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | |
| | | | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | |
| | | | Latitude (latitude) | |
| | | | Longitude (longitude) | |
| | | | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | |
| | | | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | |
| | | | Country (country) | |
| | | | Country Identifier (country_id) | |
| | | | Region (region) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | |
| | | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths civilians) | |
| | | | ` ' | |

| | | 2.24.1.32 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) | . 242 |
|------|--------|-----------|---|-------|
| | | 2.24.1.33 | Best Estimate (best) | . 242 |
| | | 2.24.1.34 | Highest Estimate (high) | . 242 |
| | | 2.24.1.35 | Lowest Estimate (low) | . 242 |
| 2.25 | UCDP | Candidat | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), November 2021 | . 242 |
| | | 2.25.0.1 | Identifier (id) | . 243 |
| | | 2.25.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | . 243 |
| | | 2.25.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | . 243 |
| | | 2.25.0.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | . 243 |
| | | 2.25.0.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.25.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | . 244 |
| | | 2.25.0.7 | Year (year) | |
| | | 2.25.0.8 | Active Year (active_year) | |
| | | 2.25.0.9 | Date Precision (date_prec) | |
| | | 2.25.0.10 | Start Date (date start) | . 245 |
| | | | End Date (date_end) | |
| | | | Code Status (code_status) | |
| | | | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | |
| | | | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| | 2.25.1 | | Sides | |
| | | 2.25.1.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | |
| | | 2.25.1.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.25.1.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | |
| | | 2.25.1.4 | Side A (side_a) | |
| | | 2.25.1.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.25.1.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) | |
| | | 2.25.1.7 | Side B (side_b) | |
| | | 2.25.1.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | |
| | | 2.25.1.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | |
| | | | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | |
| | | | Source Metadata (source article) | |
| | | | Publishing Organisation (source_office) | |
| | | | Publication Date (source_date) | |
| | | | Title (source_headline) | |
| | | | Original Source (source_original) | |
| | | | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | |
| | | | Precision of Location (where_prec) | |
| | | | Location (where_prec) | |
| | | | Location Comment (where_description) | |
| | | | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | |
| | | | Second Administrative Division (adm_1) | |
| | | | , , | |
| | | | Latitude (latitude) | |
| | | | Longitude (longitude) | |
| | | | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | |
| | | | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | |
| | | | Country (country) | |
| | | | Country Identifier (country_id) | |
| | | 2.25.1.28 | Region (region) | . 251 |

| | - | 2.25.1.29 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | 251 |
|--------|---|---------------------|--|------|
| | 4 | 2.25.1.30 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$ | 251 |
| | 4 | 2.25.1.31 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | 251 |
| | 4 | 2.25.1.32 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) | 251 |
| | 4 | 2.25.1.33 | Best Estimate (best) | 251 |
| | 4 | 2.25.1.34 | Highest Estimate (high) | 251 |
| | | | Lowest Estimate (low) | |
| 2.26 U | | | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), October 2021 | |
| | | | Identifier (id) | |
| | 6 | 2.26.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | |
| | 6 | 2.26.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | 252 |
| | 6 | 2.26.0.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id) | |
| | | 2.26.0.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | |
| | | | Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id) | |
| | | 2.26.0.7 | Year (year) | |
| | | 2.26.0.8 | Active Year (active year) | |
| | | | Date Precision (date_prec) | |
| | | | Start Date (date_start) | |
| | | | End Date (date_end) | |
| | | | Code Status (code_status) | |
| | | | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | |
| | | | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| 2 ' | | | | |
| 2 | | | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | |
| | | 2.26.1.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | |
| | | | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | |
| | | 2.26.1.3 $2.26.1.4$ | Side A (side_a) | |
| | | | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | |
| | | 2.26.1.6 $2.26.1.6$ | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) | |
| | | | Side B (side_b) | |
| | | 2.26.1.7 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | |
| | | | | |
| | | | , | |
| | | | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | |
| | | | Source Metadata (source_article) | |
| | | | Publishing Organisation (source_office) | |
| | | | Publication Date (source_date) | |
| | | | Title (source_headline) | |
| | | | Original Source (source_original) | |
| | | | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | |
| | | | Precision of Location (where_prec) | |
| | | | Location (where_coordinates) | |
| | | | Location Comment (where_description) | |
| | | | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | |
| | | | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | |
| | | | Latitude (latitude) | |
| | | | Longitude (longitude) | |
| | | | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | |
| | • | 2.26.1.25 | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid gid) | -259 |

| | 2.26.1.26 | Country (country) | . 260 |
|-----------|-----------|---|-------|
| | 2.26.1.27 | Country Identifier (country_id) | . 260 |
| | 2.26.1.28 | Region (region) | . 260 |
| | 2.26.1.29 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | . 260 |
| | 2.26.1.30 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b) | . 260 |
| | 2.26.1.31 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | . 260 |
| | 2.26.1.32 | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown) | . 260 |
| | 2.26.1.33 | Best Estimate (best) | . 261 |
| | 2.26.1.34 | Highest Estimate (high) | . 261 |
| | | Lowest Estimate (low) | |
| 2.27 UCDP | Candidat | e Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), September 2021 | . 261 |
| | 2.27.0.1 | Identifier (id) | . 261 |
| | 2.27.0.2 | Old Identifier (relid) | . 261 |
| | 2.27.0.3 | Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id) | . 262 |
| | 2.27.0.4 | Conflict Identifier (conflict new id) | |
| | 2.27.0.5 | Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id) | |
| | 2.27.0.6 | Dyad Identifier (dyad new id) | |
| | 2.27.0.7 | Year (year) | |
| | 2.27.0.8 | Active Year (active_year) | |
| | 2.27.0.9 | Date Precision (date_prec) | |
| | 2.27.0.10 | Start Date (date_start) | |
| | | End Date (date_end) | |
| | | Code Status (code_status) | |
| | | Type of Violence (type_of_violence) | |
| | | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| 2.27.1 | | Sides | |
| | 2.27.1.1 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | |
| | 2.27.1.2 | Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id) | |
| | 2.27.1.3 | Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id) | |
| | 2.27.1.4 | Side A (side_a) | |
| | 2.27.1.5 | Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id) | |
| | 2.27.1.6 | Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id) | |
| | 2.27.1.7 | Side B (side_b) | |
| | 2.27.1.8 | Country Code for Side A (gwnoa) | |
| | 2.27.1.9 | Country Code for Side B (gwnob) | |
| | 2.27.1.10 | Number of Sources (number_of_sources) | |
| | | Source Metadata (source_article) | |
| | | Publishing Organisation (source_office) | |
| | | Publication Date (source_date) | |
| | | Title (source_headline) | |
| | | Original Source (source_original) | |
| | | Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity) | |
| | | Precision of Location (where_prec) | |
| | | Location (where_coordinates) | |
| | | Location Comment (where_description) | |
| | | First Administrative Division (adm_1) | |
| | | Second Administrative Division (adm_2) | |
| | | Latitude (latitude) | |

| | 2.27.1.23 | Longitude (longitude) | 268 |
|-----------|-----------|---|-----|
| | 2.27.1.24 | OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt) | 269 |
| | 2.27.1.25 | PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid) | 269 |
| | 2.27.1.26 | Country (country) | 269 |
| | 2.27.1.27 | Country Identifier (country_id) | 269 |
| | | Region (region) | |
| | 2.27.1.29 | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a) | 269 |
| | | Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths b) | |
| | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians) | |
| | | Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths unknown) | |
| | | Best Estimate (best) | |
| | | Highest Estimate (high) | |
| | | Lowest Estimate (low) | |
| 2.28 UCDI | | te Conflict Dataset | |
| | | er Variables | |
| | | Conflict Identifier (conflict_id) | |
| | 2.28.1.2 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_id) | |
| | 2.28.1.3 | Year (year) | |
| 2 28 2 | | Sides | |
| 2.20.2 | 2.28.2.1 | Organizational Level (org) | |
| | 2.28.2.2 | Side A (side_a_name) | |
| | 2.28.2.3 | Side A Fullname (side_a_name_fulltext) | |
| | 2.28.2.4 | Side A Fullname Mother Tongue (side_a_name_mothertongue) | |
| | 2.28.2.5 | Side A Identifier (side_a_id) | |
| | 2.28.2.6 | Side A Components (side_a_components) | |
| | 2.28.2.7 | Supporters of Side A (side_a_2nd) | |
| | 2.28.2.8 | Codes for Supporters of Side A (gwno_a_2nd) | |
| | 2.28.2.9 | Side B (side_b_name) | |
| | | Side B Fullname (side_b_name_fulltext) | |
| | | Side B Fullname (Side_b_name_nothertongue) | |
| | | Side B Identifier (side_b_id) | |
| | | Side B Components (side b components) | |
| | | Supporters of SIde B (side_b_2nd) | |
| | | | |
| 2 20 2 | | Codes for Supporters of Side B (gwno_b_2nd) | |
| 2.20.3 | * | | |
| | 2.28.3.1 | Date of first Death in Conflict (start_date) | |
| | 2.28.3.2 | Start Date Precision (start_prec) | |
| | 2.28.3.3 | Date when Conflict Deaths exceed 25 (start_date2) | |
| | 2.28.3.4 | Start Date Two Precision (start_prec2) | |
| | 2.28.3.5 | End of Conflict Episode Dummy (ep_end) | |
| | 2.28.3.6 | Date of Conflict Episode End (ep_end_date) | |
| 0.00.4 | 2.28.3.7 | End Date Precision (ep_end_prec) | |
| 2.28.4 | | Estimates | |
| | 2.28.4.1 | Best Estimate (best_fatality_estimate) | |
| | 2.28.4.2 | Lowest Estimate (low_fatality_estimate) | |
| | 2.28.4.3 | Highest Estimate (high_fatality_estimate) | |
| 2.28.5 | | | |
| | 2.28.5.1 | Location (location) | 276 |

| | | 2.28.5.2 | Location Codes (gwno_location) | 277 |
|------|--------|-------------|--|-----|
| | | 2.28.5.3 | Region (region) \dots | 277 |
| | 2.28.6 | Dataset V | $V_{ m ersion}$ | 277 |
| | | 2.28.6.1 | Dataset Version (version) | 277 |
| 2.29 | UCDP | Non-state | e Conflict Issues and Actors Dataset | 277 |
| | 2.29.1 | Identifiers | · | 278 |
| | | 2.29.1.1 | Dyad Old Id (dyad_id) | 278 |
| | | 2.29.1.2 | Dyad New ID (dyadid_new) | 278 |
| | | 2.29.1.3 | Side A Name (side_a_name) | 278 |
| | | 2.29.1.4 | Side A ID (side_a_id) | 278 |
| | | 2.29.1.5 | Side B Name (side_b_name) | 279 |
| | | 2.29.1.6 | Side B ID (side_b_id) | 279 |
| | 2.29.2 | Organizat | sional Actor Level | |
| | | 2.29.2.1 | Organizational Level (org) | 279 |
| | 2.29.3 | | imension | |
| | | 2.29.3.1 | Year (year) | 280 |
| | 2.29.4 | Geograph | ical Information | 280 |
| | | | Location Code (gwno_location) | |
| | 2.29.5 | | d and Religion | |
| | | 2.29.5.1 | Side A Livelihood (side_a_live) | |
| | | 2.29.5.2 | Side A Religious (side_a_rel) | |
| | | 2.29.5.3 | Side B Livelihood (side_b_live) | |
| | | 2.29.5.4 | Side A Religious (side_b_rel) | |
| | | 2.29.5.5 | Dyadic Livelihood (dyadic_live) | |
| | 2.29.6 | Conflict I | ssues | |
| | | 2.29.6.1 | Territorial Conflict Issues (issue_territory) | |
| | | 2.29.6.2 | Authority Conflict Issues (issue_authority) | |
| | | 2.29.6.3 | Other Conflict Issue (issue_other) | |
| | | 2.29.6.4 | Agricultural Land or Water Conflict Issues (subissue_agland_water) | |
| | | 2.29.6.5 | Religious Conflict Issue (subissue_religious) | |
| | | 2.29.6.6 | Formal Authority Conflict Issue (subissue_formal_aut) | |
| | | 2.29.6.7 | Livestock Conflict Issue (subissue_livestock) | |
| | | 2.29.6.8 | Informal Authority Conflict Issue (subissue_informal_authority) | |
| | | 2.29.6.9 | Territory Conflict Issue (subissue territory) | |
| | | | Sub-Issue Other (subissue_other) | |
| | 2.29.7 | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | |
| | | 2.29.7.1 | Primary Source (primary) | |
| | | 2.29.7.2 | Secondary Source (secondary) | |
| | | 2.29.7.3 | Time Reference for Information (timeref) | |
| 2.30 | UCDP | | l Violence Dataset | |
| | | | r Variables | |
| | | 2.30.1.1 | Conflict Identifier (conflict_id) | |
| | | 2.30.1.2 | Dyad Identifier (dyad_id) | |
| | | 2.30.1.3 | Actor Identifier (actor_id) | |
| | | 2.30.1.4 | Year (year) | |
| | 2.30.2 | | prmation | |
| | | 2.30.2.1 | Coalition Components (coalition_components) | |
| | | | Name of Actor (actor name) | |

| | | 2.30.2.3 | Full Name of Actor (actor_name_fulltext) | . 285 |
|------|--------|------------|---|-------|
| | | 2.30.2.4 | Name of Actor in Mother Tongue (actor_name_mother tongue) $\ .$. | . 285 |
| | | 2.30.2.5 | Government Actor Dummy (is_government_actor) | . 285 |
| | | 2.30.2.6 | Actor Country Code (gwnoa) | . 285 |
| | 2.30.3 | Fatality E | Estimates | . 285 |
| | | 2.30.3.1 | Best Estimate (best_fatality_estimate) | . 286 |
| | | 2.30.3.2 | Lowest Estimate (low_fatality_estimate) | . 286 |
| | | 2.30.3.3 | Highest Estimate (high_fatality_estimate) | |
| | 2.30.4 | Location | | |
| | | 2.30.4.1 | Location (location) | |
| | | 2.30.4.2 | Location Codes (gwno_location) | |
| | | 2.30.4.3 | Region (region) | |
| | 2.30.5 | Dataset V | Version | |
| | | 2.30.5.1 | Dataset Version (version) | |
| 2 31 | UCDP | | taset | |
| 2.01 | | | Variables | |
| | 2.01.1 | 2.31.1.1 | Country Abbreviation (abc) | |
| | | 2.31.1.2 | Location Name (name) | |
| | | 2.31.1.3 | Year (year) | |
| | | 2.31.1.4 | Country Code (gwno_a) | |
| | | 2.31.1.5 | New Conflict (newconf) | |
| | | 2.31.1.6 | Year Prev (year_prev) | |
| | 2 21 2 | | Duration | |
| | 2.31.2 | 2.31.2.1 | Onset One Year (onset1) | |
| | | | | |
| | | 2.31.2.2 | Onset Two Years (onset2) | |
| | | 2.31.2.3 | Onset Three Years (onset3) | |
| | | 2.31.2.4 | Onset Five Years (onset5) | |
| | | 2.31.2.5 | Onset Ten Years (onset10) | |
| 2 22 | HODD | 2.31.2.6 | Onset Twenty Years (onset20) | |
| 2.32 | | _ | reement Dataset | |
| | 2.32.1 | | Variables | |
| | | 2.32.1.1 | Peace Agreement ID (paid) | |
| | | 2.32.1.2 | Conflict ID (conflict_id) | |
| | | 2.32.1.3 | Conflict Name (conflict_name) | |
| | | 2.32.1.4 | Dyad ID (dyad_id) | |
| | | 2.32.1.5 | Dyad Name (dyad_name) | |
| | | 2.32.1.6 | Actor ID (actor_id) | |
| | | 2.32.1.7 | Actor Name (actor_name) | |
| | | 2.32.1.8 | Peace Agreement Name (pa_name) | |
| | 2.32.2 | Geograph | ical Information | . 291 |
| | | 2.32.2.1 | Region (region) | |
| | | 2.32.2.2 | Country Codes (gwno) | . 291 |
| | 2.32.3 | Conflict (| Cause | . 291 |
| | | 2.32.3.1 | Incompatibility (incompatibility) $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | . 291 |
| | 2.32.4 | Content o | of the Peace Agreement | . 292 |
| | | 2.32.4.1 | $\label{eq:Year} \mbox{Year (year)} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $ | . 292 |
| | | 2.32.4.2 | Peace Agreement Date (pa_date) | . 292 |
| | | 2.32.4.3 | Additional Information on Peace Agreement (pa comment) | . 292 |

| | 2.32.4.4 | Failure of Peace Agreement (ended) | 292 |
|--------|---------------------|---|------|
| | 2.32.4.5 | Duration of Peace Agreement (duration) | 292 |
| | 2.32.4.6 | Comment on Agreement Duration (c_duration) | 292 |
| | 2.32.4.7 | Ceasefire (cease) | 293 |
| | 2.32.4.8 | Integration in Army (intarmy) | 293 |
| | 2.32.4.9 | Disarmament (ddr) | 293 |
| | 2.32.4.10 | Withdrawal of Foreign Forces (withd) | 293 |
| | 2.32.4.11 | Provision (mil_prov) | 293 |
| | 2.32.4.12 | Political Party (pp) | 293 |
| | 2.32.4.13 | Integration in Government (intgov) | 293 |
| | 2.32.4.14 | Integration in Civil Service (intciv) | 294 |
| | 2.32.4.15 | Elections (elections) | 294 |
| | | Interim Government (interrim) | |
| | | National Talks (natalks) | |
| | | Power-Sharing in Government (shagov) | |
| | | Political Provisions (pol_prov) | |
| | | Autonomy (aut) | |
| | | Federalism (fed) | |
| | | Independence (ind) | |
| | | Referendum (ref) | |
| | | Local Power-Sharing (shaloc) | |
| | | Regional Development (regdev) | |
| | | Cultural Freedoms (cul) | |
| | | Border Demarcation (demarcation) | |
| | | Local Government (locgov) | |
| | | Territorial Provisions (terr_prov) | |
| | | Amnesty (amn) | |
| | | Release of Prisoners (pris) | |
| | | National Reconciliation (recon) | |
| | | Return of Refugees (return) | |
| | | Justice Provisions (justice_prov) | |
| | | Reaffirm Earlier Agreements (reaffirm) | |
| | | No entry (reaffirmid) | |
| | | Outlining Peace Process (outlin) | |
| | | Deployment of Peace Keeping Operation (pko) | |
| | | Gender Inclusion (gender) | |
| | | Commission or Committee to Oversee Implementation (co_impl) | |
| | | Full Text (txt) | |
| | | Link (linktofulltextagreement) | |
| | | Comprehensive or Dyadic (inclusive) | |
| | | Full, Partial or Peace Process (pa_type) | |
| | | Outstanding Issues (out_iss) | |
| | | Process ID (procid) | |
| | | Process, Final, Reaffirming or Follow up (frame) | |
| 2 32 5 | Signatorie | - (| |
| 2.02.0 | 2.32.5.1 | Signing Parties (pa_sign) | |
| | 2.32.5.1 $2.32.5.2$ | Comment on Signatories of Peace Agreement. (c_sign) | |
| | | Third Parties (pa 3rd) | |
| | | | 4000 |

| 2.32.6 | Peace Process | | | |
|--------|---|---|--|--|
| | 2.32.6.1 | Signed in a Conflict Active Year (active_conflict) | 299 | |
| | 2.32.6.2 | Number of Years Since Last Conflict Activity (termdur) | 299 | |
| | 2.32.6.3 | Number of Dyads Signed PA (no_dyad) | 300 | |
| 2.32.7 | Dataset V | Version | 300 | |
| | 2.32.7.1 | Dataset Version (version) | 300 | |
| | | | | |
| | | , | | |
| UCDP | | , | | |
| | , | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| 2 33 2 | | (C) | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | , | | |
| | | \ <i>'</i> | | |
| 9 22 2 | | | | |
| 2.55.5 | | | | |
| | | · — / | | |
| | | | | |
| | | , | | |
| | | | | |
| | | , | | |
| | | / | | |
| | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | |
| | | ,- | | |
| | | , | | |
| | | (9 | | |
| 2.33.4 | | · · | | |
| | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | |
| | 2.33.4.2 | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | |
| | 2.33.4.3 | | | |
| | 2.33.4.4 | | | |
| 2.33.5 | | imension of the Conflict | 305 | |
| | 2.33.5.1 | Date of first Death in Conflict (start_date) | 305 | |
| | 2.33.5.2 | $\label{precision} Precision \ (start_prec) \ \ \dots \ \ \ \ \dots \ \ \dots \ \ \ \dots \ \ \dots \ \ \dots \$ | 305 | |
| | 2.33.5.3 | Date when Conflict Deaths exceed 25 (start_date2) | 305 | |
| | 2.33.5.4 | $\label{prec2} Precision \ (start_prec2) \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ $ | 305 | |
| | 2.33.5.5 | Inactive Conflict (ep_end) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ | 305 | |
| | 2.33.5.6 | End of Conflict (ep_end_date) \hdots | 305 | |
| | 2.33.5.7 | $\label{lem:precision} Precision \; (ep_end_prec) \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; . \; $ | 306 | |
| 2.33.6 | Dataset V | $v_{ m ersion}$ | 306 | |
| | 2.33.6.1 | Dataset Version (version) | 306 | |
| UCDP | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | |
| | | | | |
| | 2.34.1.1 | Conflict Episode ID (conflictep_id) | 306 | |
| | 2.34.1.2 | Conflict Episode (conflictepisode) | | |
| | | Type of Conflict 2 (type_of_conflict2) | | |
| | 2.32.7 UCDP 2.33.1 2.33.2 2.33.4 2.33.5 | 2.32.6.1 2.32.6.2 2.32.6.3 2.32.7.1 2.32.7.2 2.32.7.3 UCDP/PRIO Ar 2.33.1 Identifier 2.33.1.1 2.33.1.2 2.33.2.1 2.33.2.2 2.33.2.3 2.33.2.4 2.33.3 2.33.2.4 2.33.3 2.33.3.1 2.33.3.2 2.33.3.3 2.33.3.4 2.33.3.5 2.33.3.6 2.33.3.6 2.33.3.7 2.33.3.8 2.33.3.9 2.33.3.10 2.33.4 Cause of example | 2.32.6.1 Signed in a Conflict Active Year (active_conflict) 2.32.6.2 Number of Years Since Last Conflict Activity (terundur) 2.32.6.3 Number of Dyads Signed PA (no_dyad) 2.32.7.1 Dataset Version (version) 2.32.7.2 Dataset Version (version) 2.32.7.3 Date Interval Start (dateintervalstart_meta) 2.32.7.3 Date Interval End (dateintervalend_meta) UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset 2.33.1 Identifier Variables 2.33.1.1 Conflict Identifier (conflict_id) 2.33.1.2 Year (year) 2.33.2 Conflict Location 2.33.2.1 Location of Conflict (location) 2.33.2.2 Name of Territory (territory_name) 2.33.2.3 Locations (gwno_loc) 2.33.2.4 Regions (region) 2.233.2.3 Side A (side_a) 2.233.3.3 Side A (side_a) 2.233.3.2 Side A (side_a) 2.233.3.3 Side A (side_a) 2.233.3.3 Side A (side_b) 2.233.3.4 Side B (side_b) 2.233.3.5 Side B (side_b) 2.233.3.6 Supporters of Side A (gwno_a) 2.233.3.7 Country Code for Side A (gwno_a) 2.233.3.8 Country Code for Side A (gwno_a) 2.233.3.9 Country Code for Side B (gwno_b) 2.233.3.1 Country Code for Side B (gwno_b) 2.233.4.1 Cause of Conflict Intensity 2.234.1 Cause of Conflict Intensity 2.234.1 Cause of Conflict (incompatibility) 2.334.2 Intensity Level (intensity_level) 2.335.5 Date of first Death in Conflict (start_date) 2.335.7 Precision (start_prec) 2.335.7 | |

| | | 2.34.1.4 | Conflict Termination (confferm) | 307 |
|------|--------|-----------|--|-----|
| | | 2.34.1.5 | $Outcome\ (outcome)\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\$ | 307 |
| | | 2.34.1.6 | Recurrence (recur) $\dots \dots \dots$ | 307 |
| | | 2.34.1.7 | Incompatibility (incompatibility) $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ | 307 |
| | | 2.34.1.8 | lem:lem:lem:lem:lem:lem:lem:lem:lem:lem: | 308 |
| | | 2.34.1.9 | Type of Conflict (type_of_conflict) | 308 |
| | 2.34.2 | Actors an | d Identifiers | 308 |
| | | 2.34.2.1 | Dyad Count (dyadcount) | 308 |
| | | 2.34.2.2 | Conflict ID (conflict_id) \hdots | |
| | | 2.34.2.3 | Side A (side_a) | 308 |
| | | 2.34.2.4 | Side A ID (side_a_id) | |
| | | 2.34.2.5 | Supporters of Side A (side_a_2nd) | |
| | | 2.34.2.6 | Side B (side_b) | |
| | | 2.34.2.7 | Side B ID (side_b_id) | |
| | | 2.34.2.8 | Supporters of Side B (side_b_2nd) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ | |
| | 2.34.3 | • | imension | |
| | | 2.34.3.1 | Episode End Date (ependdate) $\ \ \ldots \ \ \ldots \ \ \ldots \ \ \ldots \ \ \ldots$ | |
| | | 2.34.3.2 | Episode End Date Precision (ependprec) | |
| | | 2.34.3.3 | Year (year) | |
| | | 2.34.3.4 | Start Date (start_date) | |
| | | 2.34.3.5 | Start Date Precision (start_prec) | |
| | | 2.34.3.6 | Start Date 2 (start_date2) | |
| | | 2.34.3.7 | Start Date 2 Precision (start_prec2) | |
| | 2.34.4 | | Version | |
| | | 2.34.4.1 | Dataset Version (version) | |
| | 2.34.5 | | ical Information | |
| | | 2.34.5.1 | Location (location) | |
| | | 2.34.5.2 | Territory Name (territory_name) | |
| | | 2.34.5.3 | Gleditsch and Ward Location (gwno_loc) | |
| | | 2.34.5.4 | Region (region) \dots | |
| 2.35 | | | Termination Dataset, Dyadic Level | |
| | 2.35.1 | | d Identifiers | |
| | | 2.35.1.1 | Dyad Episode ID (dyadep_id) | |
| | | 2.35.1.2 | Dyad Episode (dyadepisode) | |
| | | 2.35.1.3 | Dyad Count (dyadcount) | |
| | | 2.35.1.4 | Dyad Terminated (dyadterm) | |
| | | 2.35.1.5 | Conflict ID (conflict_id) | |
| | | 2.35.1.6 | Dyad ID (dyad_id) | |
| | | 2.35.1.7 | Side A (side_a) | |
| | | 2.35.1.8 | Side A ID (side_a_id) | |
| | | 2.35.1.9 | Supporters of Side A (side_a_2nd) | |
| | | | Side B (side_b) | |
| | | | Side B ID (side_b_id) | |
| | 0.05.0 | | Supporters of Side B (side_b_2nd) | |
| | 2.35.2 | | Cause and Conflict End | |
| | | 2.35.2.1 | Type of Conflict 2 (type_of_conflict2) | |
| | | 2.35.2.2 | Outcome (outcome) | |
| | | 2.35.2.3 | Recurrence (recur) | 919 |

| | | 2.35.2.4 | Incompatibility (incompatibility) | 315 |
|---|------------|----------|--|-----|
| | | 2.35.2.5 | Intensity Level (intensity_level) | 316 |
| | | 2.35.2.6 | Type of Conflict (type_of_conflict) | 316 |
| | 2.35.3 | Timely I | Dimension | 316 |
| | | 2.35.3.1 | Episode End Date (ependdate) | 316 |
| | | 2.35.3.2 | Episode End Date Precision (ependprec) | 316 |
| | | 2.35.3.3 | Ceasefire Date (cfiredate) | 317 |
| | | 2.35.3.4 | Peace Agreement Date (peagdate) | 317 |
| | | 2.35.3.5 | Year (year) | 317 |
| | | 2.35.3.6 | Start Date (start_date) | 317 |
| | | 2.35.3.7 | Start Date Precision (start_prec) | 317 |
| | | 2.35.3.8 | Start Date 2 (start_date2) | 318 |
| | | 2.35.3.9 | Start Date 2 Precision (start_prec2) | 318 |
| | 2.35.4 | Dataset | Version | 318 |
| | | 2.35.4.1 | Dataset Version (version) | 318 |
| | 2.35.5 | Geograp | hical Information | 319 |
| | | 2.35.5.1 | Location (location) | 319 |
| | | 2.35.5.2 | Territory Name (territory_name) | 319 |
| | | 2.35.5.3 | Gleditsch and Ward Location (gwno_loc) | 319 |
| | | 2.35.5.4 | Region (region) | 319 |
| 3 | Bibliograp | hy | | 321 |

1 Explanatory Notes

1.1 Cautionary Notes

The current release of the Demscore data is a beta version. The data is not yet complete and the data quality is not yet guaranteed. We are working on improving the data quality and are planning to do a full release later this year.

1.2 Demscore Background

Demscore provides worldwide free access to harmonized data on Democracy, Environment, Migration, Social Policy, Conflict and Representation from several of the world's most prominent social science research institutes.

Demscore facilitates large-scale comparative analyses on the grand challenges of today's societies, including those caused by population aging, rapidly changing migration patterns, increased social inequalities, accelerating globalization, recurrent financial crises, political deadlocks, violent conflict, and the rise of populism. The interdisciplinary nature of Demscore data is essential to advance adequate policy responses to such complex societal challenges facing Sweden, Europe, and the world today.

The Demscore consortium includes several national and internationally renowned databases of outmost importance for the scientific community when tackling complex societal challenges associated with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and beyond. The joint infrastructure ensures that data integrity and quality are at the highest international standards, and it maximizes usability in the measurement of contextual data with over 25,000 variables across nearly all countries in the world, from 1789 to the present.

It creates critical time- and cost saving advantages in data collection, management, distribution, and not the least for end-users in the scientific community. A fully normalized, joint PostgreSQL database, sophisticated programming, and a web-based interface make it possible to select a series of variables across all six Demscore databases, and get a custom-designed dataset and codebook generated automatically.

1.3 The Demscore Codebook

The autogenerated Demscore Codebook lists variable entries for those variables chosen by the user along with citation guidelines and license per variable.

The meta data is extracted from the codebooks per dataset stored in a table in The Demscore PostgreSQL database with one row per variable for all datasets. This table includes codebook entries, variable tags, labels and other variable information in LaTeX format used for the generating of an automated codebook.

For all meta data across all datasets, Demscore uses one set of standard entries that all members projects provided information on. In addition, variables from the different datasets have or require different sets of additional information as meta data specific to each dataset. These entries are also included, but as variable-specific meta data below the standard entries.

To avoid name clashes of variables and because variables entries have different naming schemes across datasets and projects, Demscore uses a hybrid form between original variable entries and new Demscore variable entries:

To begin with, all variable names in Demscore were cleaned in the beginning of the harmonization process. This cleaning included for instance that spaces or dots in the variable names were replaced with underscores and all letters were converted to lower case. The original tag is however still available and stored in the PostgreSQL table. Each variable in Demscore is available in a short- and long form. The short form is the cleaned name of the priginal variable tag, the long form begins with the name of the dataset from which it is retrieved, followed by the cleaned variable name.

For instance, the original name of the variable *MinisterPersonalID* from the H-DATA Foreign Minister Dataset is included as *ministerpersonalid* (short form) *hdata_fomin_ministerpersonalid* (long form) in Demscore.

In addition, each dataset in lcudes Demscore unit-identifier variables which are named according to the following naming scheme: Beginning with u_ , followed by the name of the primary unit and finally the variable tag. The year- variable from the COMPLAB SPIN The Out-of-Work Benefits Dataset (OUTWB), which is part of the primary unit u_complab_country_year has the Demscore unit identifier name $u_complab_country_year_year$.

1.4 Methodology

For details on our methodology please see the Demscore Methodology document which is included in the zip file retrieved from the download interface.

1.5 Download ID

The download ID allows the user to share the ID with other users for replication purposes. A user can type the download ID into the demscore website and retrieve the same download selection and files as the original user. This ID is autogenerated for each download from the demscore website.

Download ID:

2 UCDP and ViEWS

The Uppsala Conflict Data Program (UCDP) is the world's main provider of data on organized violence and the oldest ongoing data collection project for civil war, with a history of almost 40 years. Its definition of armed conflict has become the global standard of how conflicts are systematically defined and studied. UCDP produces high-quality data, which are systematically collected, have global coverage, are comparable across cases and countries, and have long time series which are updated annually. Furthermore, the program is a unique source of information for practitioners and policymakers. UCDP also operates and continuously updates its online database (UCDP Conflict Encyclopedia) on armed conflicts and organised violence, in which information on several aspects of armed conflict such as conflict dynamics and conflict resolution is available. This interactive database offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including readymade datasets on organized violence and peacemaking, all free of charge. Data on armed conflicts have been published yearly in the Journal of Peace Research since 1993, in the Human Security Reports since 2005, in the SIPRI Yearbook since 1988, and in the report series States in Armed Conflict (1987-2012). In addition, UCDP researchers regularly publish research on organized violence, its causes, escalation, spread, prevention and resolution, in top scientific journals and books. More information is available on the project's website: https://ucdp.uu.se/

The Violence Early-Warning System (ViEWS) is a publicly available, data-driven forecasting system. It generates monthly probabilistic assessments of the likelihood that fatal political violence will occur in each country and 55×55 km location throughout Africa – during each of the next 36 months. ViEWS is directed by Håvard Hegre and based at the Department of Peace and Conflict Research at Uppsala University and Peace Research Institute Oslo. More information is available on the project's website: https://viewsforecasting.org/

2.1 UCDP Actor Dataset

Dataset tag: ucdp_actor

Description: A dataset of all the actors (including their full names and alternate names) as available in UCDP datasets version 21.1. The dataset also includes information on which conflicts and dyads the actors have been involved in, as well as information on the groups' origins and alliances.

Dataset citation:

Pettersson, Therese, Shawn Davis, Amber Deniz, Garoun Engström, Nanar Hawach, Stina Högbladh, Margareta Sollenberg Magnus Öberg (2021). Organized violence 1989-2020, with a special emphasis on Syria. *Journal of Peace Research*, 58(4)

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#actor

2.1.1 Actor Identifiers

Variables in this section can be used as a unique key for the dataset.

2.1.1.1 Actor Identifier (actorid)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_actorid

Original tag: ActorId

Description:

The unique identifier of all actors.

2.1.2 Actor Names

Variables in this section list the names of the actor in different languages/versions.

2.1.2.1 Actor Name (namedata)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_actor_namedata$

Original tag: NameData

Description:

The name that is used for the actor in a UCDP dataset. The name used for an actor in UCDP data is either its current one or the last name it had when registered in a UCDP dataset. For formally organized non-state actors, such as militias or rebel groups, the names listed in this field are by default acronyms when applicable.

2.1.2.2 Original Actor Name (nameorig)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_nameorig

Original tag: NameOrig

Description:

The name of the actor when it was first included in a UCDP dataset.

2.1.2.3 Full Original Actor Name (nameorigfull)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_nameorigfull

Original tag: NameOrigFull

Description:

The full original name of the actor, in mother tongue.

2.1.2.4 Full English Original Name (nameorigfulleng)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_nameorigfulleng

Original tag: NameOrigFullEng

Description:

The full original name of the actor, in English.

2.1.2.5 Name Change (namechange)

Long tag: ucdp actor namechange

Original tag: NameChange

Description:

A binary variable that codes whether the actor has changed its name. If the actor has changed its name, this variable is coded as 1. If not, a 0 is coded.

2.1.2.6 New Name (newname)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_newname

 $Original\ tag\colon$ NewName

Description:

The new name of the actor.

2.1.2.7 Full New Name Mother Tounge (newnamefullmothertongue)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_actor_newnamefullmothertongue$

Original tag: NewNameFullMotherTongue

Description:

The full new name in mother tongue.

2.1.2.8 Full New Name English (newnamefulleng)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_newnamefulleng

Original tag: NewNameFullEng

Description:

The full new name in English.

2.1.3 Actor Involvement

Variables in this section provide information on whether an actor is involved in organizations or groups of actors.

2.1.3.1 Organizational Level Actor (org)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_org

Original tag: Org Description:

This variable indicates the organizational level of the actor. The level of organization is determined according to the following categories:

Organizational level 1 (formally organized groups):

Rebel groups and other organized groups that have a high enough level of organization so as to be possible to include in the state-based armed conflict category. These include rebel groups with an announced name, as well as military factions (Forces of...).

Organizational level 2 (informally organized groups):

Groups composed of supporters and affiliates to political parties and candidates. These are commonly not groups that are permanently organized for combat, but who at times use their organizational structures for such purposes. In addition to supporters of political parties and candidates, included in this category is also fighting between groups composed of supporters of other organizations such as the supporters of al-Ahly football team fighting against the supporters of al-Masry football team in Egypt 2012.

Organizational level 3 (informally organized groups):

Groups that share a common identification along ethnic, clan, religious, national or tribal lines. These are not groups that are permanently organized for combat, but who at times organize themselves along said lines to engage in fighting.

Organizational level 4 (states):

The actor is the government of a state

2.1.3.2 Conflict Identifier (conflictid)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_conflictid

Original tag: ConflictId

Description:

The unique identifier of all state-based armed conflicts (i.e. conflicts included in the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset) in which the actor has been recorded.

Comma-separated if multiple.

2.1.3.3 Dyad Identifier (dyadid)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_dyadid

Original tag: DyadId

Description:

The unique identifier of all dyads active in state-based armed conflicts (i.e. dyads included in the UCDP Dyadic Dataset) in which the actor has been recorded.

Comma-separated if multiple.

2.1.3.4 Primary Party Dummy (primaryparty)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_primaryparty

Original tag: PrimaryParty

Description:

A binary variable that codes whether the actor has been a primary party in a state-based armed conflict. If the actor has been a primary party, this variable is coded as 1. If not, a 0 is coded.

This variable relates solely to actors active in state-based armed conflicts.

2.1.3.5 Dyad Onesided Identifier (osid)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_osid

Original tag: OSID

Description:

The unique identifier of all dyads listed in the UCDP One-sided Violence Dataset.

2.1.3.6 Onesided Coalition Dummy (oscoalition)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_oscoalition

Original tag: OSCoalition

Description:

A binary variable listing whether the actor has been active in one-sided violence together with one or several other actors in the dataset. If the actor has been part of a temporary coalition in one-sided violence, this variable is coded as 1. If not, a 0 is coded.

2.1.3.7 Onesided Coalition Identifier (oscoalitionid)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_oscoalitionid

Original tag: OSCoalitionID

Description:

The unique identifier of all temporary coalitions listed in the UCDP One-sided Violence

Comma-separated if multiple.

2.1.3.8 Non-State Identifier (nsid)

 $Long\ tag \hbox{:}\ ucdp_actor_nsid$

Original tag: NSID

Description:

The unique identifier of all non-state dyads (i.e. non-conflicts included in the UCDP Non-state Conflict Dataset) in which the actor has been recorded.

Comma-separated if multiple.

2.1.3.9 Non-State Coalition Dummy (nscoalition)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_nscoalition

Original tag: NSCoalition

Description:

A binary variable listing whether the actor has been active in non-state conflict together with one or several other actors in the dataset. If the actor has been part of a temporary coalition in non-state conflict, this variable is coded as 1. If not, a 0 is coded.

2.1.3.10 Non-State Coalition Identifier (nscoalitionid)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_nscoalitionid

Original tag: NSCoalitionID

Description:

The unique identifier of all temporary coalitions listed in the UCDP Non-state Conflict Dataset. Comma-separated if multiple.

2.1.3.11 Alliance (alliance)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_alliance

Original tag: Alliance

Description:

A binary variable listing whether a non-state actor entered into an alliance with another non-state actor, also registered in UCDP data, thus creating a new non-state actor.

2.1.3.12 Alliance Name (namealliance)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_namealliance

Original tag: NameAlliance

Description:

Name of the alliance created by the merger of two or more non-state actors.

2.1.3.13 Alliance Identifier (actoridalliance)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_actoridalliance

Original tag: ActorIdAlliance

Description:

The unique actor identifier of the new non-state actor (alliance) created by the merger of two or more non-state actors.

2.1.3.14 Join Group Dummy (joingroup)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_joingroup

Original tag: JoinGroup

Description:

A binary variable listing whether a non-state actor joined a group already registered in UCDP data.

While this variable is closely related to the Alliance variable, there is a fundamental difference between the two. When an actor is coded in Alliance, it ceases to exist on its own, as it together with another registered actor creates a new organisation. A binary variable listing whether a non-state actor joined a group already registered in UCDP data.

While this variable is closely related to the Alliance variable, there is a fundamental difference between the two. When an actor is coded in Alliance, it ceases to exist on its own, as it together with another registered actor creates a new organisation.

When an actor is coded in Join_group on the other hand, it ceases to exist because it joins, or is overtaken by another already existing group. An example of this is the case of the two Congolese rebel groups Ninjas and Ntsiloulous. When the Cobra militia, together with Angolan support, managed to oust the sitting president Pascal Lissouba (supported by the Cocoyes) and his Prime Minister Bernard Koleleas (supported by the Ninjas), the Ninjas hid and regrouped in the Pool region. In a parallel development, a new group surfaced in Pool; the Ntsiloulous. The Ntsiloulou leader Pasteur Ntumi was able to attract a large following amongst the Ninjas who thought that by following Ntoumi's orders they were carrying out the will of God, and subsequently began increasing his military force. Over time more and more Ninjas joined the Ntsiloulous – some by their own free will and others under the threat of force – until, eventually, the Ninjas had ceased to exist.

2.1.3.15 Group Name (groupname)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_groupname

 $Original\ tag:\ GroupName$

Description:

Name of the non-state group that the given non-state actor joined.

2.1.3.16 Actor Group Identifier (actoridgroup)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_actor_actoridgroup$

Original tag: ActorIdGroup

Description:

The unique actor identifier of the group that a given non-state actor joined.

2.1.4 Splinted Actors

Variables in this section provide information on whether an actor splits into several actors.

2.1.4.1 Splinter Dummy (splinter)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_splinter

Original tag: Splinter

Description:

A binary variable listing whether a non-state actor was created by breaking away from another actor listed in UCDP data.

2.1.4.2 Previous Name of Splinted Actor (nameprev)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_nameprev

Original tag: NamePrev

Description:

Name of the actor that a given non-state actor broke away from.

2.1.4.3 Previous Actor Identifier of Splinted Actor (actoridprev)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_actoridprev

Original tag: ActorIdPrev

Description:

The unique identifier of the actor that a given group broke away from.

2.1.4.4 Temporary Splinter (splittemp)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_splittemp

Original tag: SplitTemp

Description:

A binary variable listing whether a non-state actor was created by a temporary split in the original movement.

Unlike the actors coded as created in the variable Splinter, those formed in SplitTemp are of a temporary nature. Often they may still view themselves as being part of the original group, but divisions within it has caused fighting between different factions or groupings. An example of this is fighting within the Taleban movement in Afghanistan. In 1996, two Taleban commanders and their followers fought each other over control of territory. The two factions, Taleban - Ali Dad faction and Taleban - Mola Khel faction, are registered in the UCDP Actor Dataset as separate actors created from a temporary split from the Taleban. The split is considered temporary as the commanders, after the fighting had ceased, continued to be part of the Taleban movement.

2.1.4.5 Previous Name of Temporarily Splinted Actor (namesplittemp)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_namesplittemp

Original tag: NameSplitTemp

Description:

Name of the actor that a given non-state actor temporarily broke away from.

2.1.4.6 Previous Actor Identifier of Temporarily Splinted Actor (actoridsplittemp)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_actor_actoridsplittemp$

2.2 UCDP BATTLE-RELATED DEATHS DATASET, CONFLICT LEVEL

Original tag: ActorIdSplitTemp

Description:

The unique identifier of the actor that a given group temporarily broke away from.

2.1.5 Geographical Information

Variables in this section describe the location to which the actor is related.

2.1.5.1 Location (location)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_location

Original tag: Location

Description:

The countries in which the actor has been active.

Comma-separated if multiple.

2.1.5.2 Location Country Codes (gwnoloc)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_gwnoloc

Original tag: GWNOLoc

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward code for the countries in which the actor has been active.

Comma-separated if multiple.

2.1.5.3 Regions (region)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_region

Original tag: Region

Description:

Identifies the region of the location

1 = Europe (GWNo: 200-399)

2= Middle East (GWNo: 630-699)

3= Asia (GWNo: 700-999)

4= Africa (GWNo: 400-626)

5 = Americas (GWNo: 2-199).

2.1.6 Dataset Version

The version of the dataset.

2.1.6.1 Dataset Version (version)

Long tag: ucdp_actor_version

Original tag: Version

Description:

The version of the dataset: 21.1

2.2 UCDP Battle-Related Deaths Dataset, Conflict Level

Dataset tag: ucdp_brd_conflict

Description: A conflict-level dataset with information on the number of battle-related deaths in the conflicts from 1989-2020 that appear in the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset.

Dataset citation:

Pettersson, Therese, Shawn Davis, Amber Deniz, Garoun Engström, Nanar Hawach, Stina Högbladh, Margareta Sollenberg Magnus Öberg (2021). Organized violence 1989-2020, with a

2.2 UCDP Battle-Related Deaths Dataset, Conflict Level

special emphasis on Syria. Journal of Peace Research, 58(4).

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.2.1 Indentifier Variables

Variables in this section can be used as a unique key for the dataset.

2.2.1.1 Conflict Identifier (conflict_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_conflict_id
```

Original tag: conflict id

Description:

The unique identifier of the conflict, as given in the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset version 21.1 and the UCDP Dyadic Dataset version 21.1

2.2.1.2 Dyad Identifier (dyad_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_dyad_id
```

Original tag: dyad_id

Description:

A string variable listing all the dyads active in the current conflict-year separated by commas (',').

2.2.1.3 Year (year)

```
Long\ tag:\ ucdp\_brd\_conflict\_year
```

Original tag: year

Description:

The year of observation (1989-2020).

2.2.2 Conflict Location

Variables in this section describe the location of the conflict.

2.2.2.1 Location of Conflict (location_inc)

```
Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_location_inc
```

 $Original\ tag:\ location_inc$

Description:

The name of the country/countries whose government(s) has a primary claim to the incompatibility.

If multiple countries are listed, this is comma separated.

2.2.2.2 Name of Territory (territory_name)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_territory_name

Original tag: territory_name

Description:

The name of the territory over which the conflict is fought, provided that the incompatibility is over territory, as given in the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset.

2.2.2.3 Battle Location (battle_location)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_brd_conflict_battle_location$

Original tag: battle location

Description:

The name of the country/countries in which battle-related deaths have been recorded in this conflict-year: battle_location is a string variable, where the different countries are separated by a comma (','). WARNING: This variable SHOULD NEVER be used for any geographical or spatial analyses of conflict as the distribution of violence as well as the relative magnitude of violence by country is not captured. In effect, a country is listed here if even one dead in the given conflict has occurred in that country. In fact, UCDP provides much better geographic coverage of conflict (including distribution of violence for each conflict and each country) in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (GED).

Like UCDP BRD, GED is global and covers the same period (1989-2020).

2.2.2.4 Location Codes (gwno_loc)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_gwno_loc

Original tag: gwno_loc

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of the incompatibility.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.2.2.5 Battle Location Codes (gwno_battle)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_brd_conflict_gwno_battle$

Original tag: gwno_battle

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of battle_location.

WARNING: This variable SHOULD NEVER be used for any geographical or spatial analyses of conflict as the distribution of violence as well as the relative magnitude of violence by country is not captured. In effect a country

is listed here if even one dead in the given conflict has occurred in that country.

In fact, UCDP provides much better geographic coverage of conflict (including distribution of violence for each conflict and each country) in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (GED).

2.2.2.6 Regions (region)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_region

Original tag: region

Description:

The region of the incompatibility (NOT of the

Battle Location):

1 = Europe (GWNo: 200-399)

2= Middle East (GWNo: 630-699)

3= Asia (GWNo: 700-999)

4= Africa (GWNo: 400-626)

5 = Americas (GWNo: 2-199).

2.2.3 Conflict Parties

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP Battle Related Deaths dataset and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to

aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.2.3.1 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_side_a

Original tag: side a

Description:

The name of the country/countries of Side A in a conflict. Always the government side in intrastate conflicts, as given in the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset. Comma separated if multiple.

2.2.3.2 Side A Identifier (side_a_id)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_side_a_id

Original tag: side_a_id

Description:

The unique identifier of the actor on side A in the dyad.

2.2.3.3 Supporters of Side A (side_a_2nd)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_brd_conflict_side_a_2nd$

Original tag: side_a_2nd

Description:

side_a_2nd lists all states that enter a conflict with troops to actively support side A in the dyad.

A secondary warring party on side A shares the position in the incompatibility with Side A in the conflict. Side_a_2nd does not need to meet the 25 battle-related deaths criterion to be included in the dataset; an active troop participation is enough.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.2.3.4 Side B (side b)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_side_b

Original tag: side b

Description:

The name of the country or opposition organization(s) of side B in a conflict, as given in the UCDP/PRIO Armed

Conflict Dataset.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.2.3.5 Side B Identifier (side_b_id)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_side_b_id

Original tag: side_b_id

Description:

The identifier of each of the actors on side B in the conflict.

Note that in contrast with older versions of UCDP datasets, this variable is NO LONGER the Gleditsch and Ward state identifier (GWcode or GWNo) if the conflict is interstate and Side B represents a country. Use the gwno_b variable instead.

If more than one opposition organization or state is involved in a conflict, this is a comma-separated list of values.

2.2.3.6 Supporters of Side B (side_b_2nd)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_side_b_2nd

Original tag: side b 2nd

Description:

side_b_2nd lists all states that enter a conflict dyad with troops to actively support side B in the dyad. A secondary warring party on side B shares the position in the incompatibility with Side B in the conflict. Side_b_2nd does not need to meet the 25 battle-related deaths criterion to be included in the dataset; an active troop participation is enough.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.2.3.7 Cause of Conflict (incompatibility)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_incompatibility

Original tag: incompatibility

Description:

The main conflict issue identified per the UCDP definitions:

- 1= Incompatibility about government
- 2= Incompatibility about territory
- 3= Incompatibility about government AND territory Integer.

2.2.3.8 Country Code for Side A (gwno_a)

```
Long tag: ucdp brd conflict gwno a
```

Original tag: gwno_a

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country code of side_a.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.2.3.9 Country Codes for Side A Supporters (gwno_a_2nd)

```
Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_gwno_a_2nd
```

 $Original\ tag:\ gwno_a_2nd$

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side_a_2nd.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.2.3.10 Country Code for Side B (gwno_b)

```
Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_gwno_b
```

Original tag: gwno_b

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side_b.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.2.3.11 Country Codes for Side B Supporters (gwno_b_2nd)

```
Long tag: ucdp brd conflict gwno b 2nd
```

Original tag: gwno_b_2nd

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side_b_2nd. Comma separated if multiple.

2.2.4 Fatality Estimates

This section provides fatality figures for each event. A note on civilian deaths: Civilian deaths can exist in all three categories of violence. DD In state-based and non-state violence, civilian deaths count "collateral" killings, i.e. when one or more civilians are killed as an effect of fighting between the two warring parties. At times, such fighting may even result in only the civilian bystanders receiving fatal injuries. Similarly, imprecise shelling or bombing in the context of an armed conflict is coded as state-based violence unless it is clear (from either reporting or context) that civilians have been explicitly targeted. In one-sided violence, the targeted and killed civilians are always registered in the deaths civilians column.

2.2.4.1 Best Estimate (bd_best)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_brd_conflict_bd_best$

Original tag: bd_best

Description:

The UCDP Best estimate for battle-related deaths in the conflict in the given year.

2.2.4.2 Low Estimate (bd_low)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_bd_low

Original tag: bd low

Description:

The UCDP Low estimate for battle-related deaths in the conflict in the given year.

2.2.4.3 High Estimate (bd_high)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_bd_high

Original tag: bd_high

Description:

The UCDP High estimate for battle-related deaths in the conflict in the given year.

2.2.5 Cause of Conflict

These variables indicate the cause(s) of the conflict.

2.2.5.1 Type of Conflict (type_of_conflict)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_type_of_conflict

Original tag: type_of_conflict

Description:

One of the following four types of conflict over which the dyad is fought:

- 1 = extrasystemic (between a state and a non-state group outside its own territory, where the government side is fighting to retain control of a territory outside the state system).
- 2 = interstate (both sides are states in the Gleditsch and Ward membership system).
- 3 = intrastate (side A is always a government; side B is always one or more rebel groups; there is no involvement of foreign governments with troops, i.e. there is no side_a_2nd or side b 2nd coded).
- 4 = internationalized intrastate (side A is always a government; side B is always one or more rebel groups; there is involvement of foreign governments with troops, i.e. there is at least ONE side a 2nd or side b 2nd coded).

2.2.6 Dataset Version

The version of the dataset.

2.2.6.1 Dataset Version (version)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_conflict_version

Original tag: version

Description:

The version of the dataset: 21.1

2.3 UCDP Battle-Related Deaths Dataset, Dyadic Level

Dataset tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic

Description: A dyad-year dataset with information on the number of battle-related deaths in the conflicts from 1989-2020 that appear in the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset.

Dataset citation:

Pettersson, Therese, Shawn Davis, Amber Deniz, Garoun Engström, Nanar Hawach, Stina Högbladh, Margareta Sollenberg Magnus Öberg (2021). Organized violence 1989-2020, with a special emphasis on Syria. *Journal of Peace Research*, 58(4).

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.3.1 Indentifier Variables

Variables in this section can be used as a unique key for the dataset.

2.3.1.1 Conflict Identifier (conflict_id)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_conflict_id

Original tag: conflict_id

Description:

The unique identifier of the conflict to which the dyad corresponds, as given in the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset version 21.1 and the UCDP Dyadic Dataset version 21.1

2.3.1.2 Conflict Identifier (dyad id)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_dyad_id

Original tag: dyad_id

Description:

The unique identifier of the dyad, as given in the UCDP Dyadic Dataset version 21.1

2.3.1.3 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_year

Original tag: year

Description:

The year of observation (1989-2020).

2.3.2 Conflict Location

Variables in this section describe the location of the conflict.

2.3.2.1 Location of Conflict (location_inc)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_location_inc

Original tag: location_inc

Description:

The name of the country/countries whose

government(s) has a primary claim to the incompatibility. If multiple countries are listed, this is comma separated.

2.3.2.2 Name of Territory (territory_name)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_territory_name

Original tag: territory_name

Description:

The name of the territory over which the conflict is fought, provided that the incompatibility is over territory, as given in the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset.

2.3.2.3 Battle Location (battle_location)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_battle_location

 $Original\ tag:\ {\tt battle_location}$

Description:

The name of the country/countries in which battle-related deaths have been recorded in this dyad-year: battle_location is a string variable, where the different countries are separated by a comma

WARNING: This variable SHOULD NEVER be used for any geographical or spatial analyses of conflict as the distribution of violence as well as the relative magnitude of violence by country is not captured. In effect a country is listed here if even one dead in the given conflict has occurred in that country. In fact, UCDP provides much better geographic coverage of conflict (including distribution of violence for each conflict and each country) in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (GED).

Like UCDP BRD, GED is global and covers the same period (1989-2020).

2.3.2.4 Location Codes (gwno loc)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_gwno_loc

Original tag: gwno loc

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of the incompatibility.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.3.2.5 Battle Location Codes (gwno_battle)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_gwno_battle

Original tag: gwno_battle

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of battle_location. Comma separated if multiple.

WARNING: This variable SHOULD NEVER be used for any geographical or spatial analyses of conflict as the distribution of violence as well as the relative magnitude of violence by country is not captured. In effect a country is listed here if even one dead in the given conflict has occurred in that country.

In fact, UCDP provides much better geographic coverage of conflict (including distribution of violence for each conflict and each country) in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (GED).

2.3.2.6 Regions (region)

```
Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_region
```

Original tag: region

Description:

The region of the incompatibility (NOT of the

Battle Location):

1 = Europe (GWNo: 200-399)

2= Middle East (GWNo: 630-699)

3= Asia (GWNo: 700-999)

4= Africa (GWNo: 400-626)

5 = Americas (GWNo: 2-199).

2.3.3 Conflict Parties

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP Battle Related Deaths dataset and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.3.3.1 Side A (side_a)

```
Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_side_a
```

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of the country/countries of Side A in a conflict.

Always the government side in intrastate conflicts, as given in the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset.

2.3.3.2 Side A Identifier (side a id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_side_a_id
```

Original tag: side a id

Description:

The unique identifier of the actor on side A in the dyad.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.3.3.3 Supporters of Side A (side_a_2nd)

```
Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_side_a_2nd
```

 $Original\ tag: side_a_2nd$

Description:

side_a_2nd lists all states that enter a conflict dyad with troops to actively support side A in the dyad.

A secondary warring party on side A shares the position in the incompatibility with Side A in the conflict

Side_a_2nd does not need to meet the 25 battle-related deaths criterion to be included in the dataset; an active troop participation is enough. If multiple countries are listed, this is comma separated.

2.3.3.4 Side B (side_b)

```
Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_side_b
Original tag: side_b
```

Description:

The name of the country or opposition organization in

the dyad, as given in the UCDP Dyadic Dataset.

In the dyadic version of the dataset, only one side b exists per entry.

2.3.3.5 Side B Identifier (side_b_id)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_side_b_id

Original tag: side_b_id

Description:

The unique identifier of the actor on side B in the dyad.

Note that in contrast with older versions of UCDP datasets, this variable is NO LONGER the Gleditsch and

Ward state identifier (GWcode or GWNo) if the conflict

is interstate and Side B represents a country. Use the gwno_b variable instead.

In the dyadic version of the dataset, only one side_b_id exists per entry.

2.3.3.6 Supporters of Side B (side_b_2nd)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_brd_dyadic_side_b_2nd$

Original tag: side b 2nd

Description:

side_b_2nd lists all states that enter a conflict dyad with troops to actively support side B in the dyad.

A secondary warring party on side B shares the position in the incompatibility with Side B in the conflict.

Side_b_2nd does not need to meet the 25 battle-related

deaths criterion to be included in the dataset; an active troop participation is enough.

If multiple countries are listed, this is comma separated.

2.3.3.7 Country Code for Side A (gwno_a)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_gwno_a

Original tag: gwno_a

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side a.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.3.3.8 Country Codes for Side A Supporters (gwno_a_2nd)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_gwno_a_2nd

Original tag: gwno_a_2nd

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side a 2nd.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.3.3.9 Country Code for Side B (gwno_b)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_gwno_b

Original taq: gwno b

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side_b.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.3.3.10 Country Codes for Side B Supporters (gwno_b_2nd)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_gwno_b_2nd

Original tag: gwno_b_2nd

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side b 2nd.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.3.4 Cause of Conflict and Conflict Intensity

These variables indicate the cause(s) of the conflict and it's intensity.

2.3.4.1 Cause of Conflict (incompatibility)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_brd_dyadic_incompatibility$

Original tag: incompatibility

Description:

The main conflict issue identified per the UCDP definitions, as applied to the dyad:

1= Incompatibility about territory

2= Incompatibility about government

3= Incompatibility about government AND territory

2.3.4.2 Type of Conflict (type_of_conflict)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_type_of_conflict

Original tag: type_of_conflict

Description:

One of the following four types of conflict that the dyad is active in:

- 1 = extrasystemic (between a state and a non-state group outside its own territory, where the government side is fighting to retain control of a territory outside the state system)
- 2 = interstate (both sides are states in the Gleditsch and Ward membership system).
- 3 = intrastate (side A is always a government; side B is always one or more rebel groups; there is no involvement of foreign governments with troops, i.e. there is no side_a_2nd or side_b_2nd coded).
- 4 = internationalized intrastate (side A is always a government; side B is always one or more rebel groups; there is involvement of foreign governments with troops, i.e. there is at least ONE side a 2nd or side b 2nd coded).

2.3.5 Fatality Estimates

This section provides fatality figures for each event. A note on civilian deaths: Civilian deaths can exist in all three categories of violence. DD In state-based and non-state violence, civilian deaths count "collateral" killings, i.e. when one or more civilians are killed as an effect of fighting between the two warring parties. At times, such fighting may even result in only the civilian bystanders receiving fatal injuries. Similarly, imprecise shelling or bombing in the context of an armed conflict is coded as state-based violence unless it is clear (from either reporting or context) that civilians have been explicitly targeted. In one-sided violence, the targeted and killed civilians are always registered in the deaths_civilians column.

2.3.5.1 Best Estimate (bd_best)

Long tag: ucdp brd dyadic bd best

Original tag: bd best

Description:

The UCDP Best estimate for battle-related deaths in the dyad in the given year.

2.3.5.2 Best Estimate (bd_low)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_bd_low

Original tag: bd low

Description:

The UCDP Low estimate for battle-related deaths in the dyad in the given year.

2.3.5.3 High Estimate (bd_high)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_bd_high

Original tag: bd_high

Description:

The UCDP High estimate for battle-related deaths in the dyad in the given year.

2.3.6 Dataset Version

The version of the dataset.

2.3.6.1 Dataset Version (version)

Long tag: ucdp_brd_dyadic_version

Original tag: version

Description:

The version of the dataset: 21.1

2.4 UCDP Cities and Armed Conflict Events (CACE)

Dataset tag: ucdp_cace

Description: The Cities and Armed Conflict Events (CACE) dataset constitutes an extension of the UCDP-GED. CACE provides a systematic coding of whether these armed conflict events took place in cities. To identify which events of armed conflict took place in cities, the data was manually matched to data from the United Nations Statistics Division. The current version is based on UCDP-GED v 18.1.

Dataset citation:

Elfversson, Emma Kristine Höglund (2021) Are armed conflicts becoming more urban? Cities, Volume 119

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.4.1 Identifier Variables

This section provides unique identifiers for every event (row/entry) in the dataset. Variables in this section can be used as a unique key for the dataset.

2.4.1.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_id

Original tag: id

Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.4.1.2 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.4.1.3 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.4.2 Timely Dimension

Each event is defined to have occurred at a certain date. The precision of the dataset is one calendar day, starting at 00:00 (midnight) and ending at 23:59 local time. In many cases, the exact day an event has taken place is impossible to find out with any certainty. In those cases, a temporal precision variable is provided which denotes with what accuracy a specific time period in which the event occurred is known.

2.4.2.1 Active Year (active_year)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_active_year

Original tag: active_year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.4.2.2 Date Precision (date_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_date_prec

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.4.2.3 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_year

 $Original\ tag:$ year

Description:

The year of the event

2.4.2.4 date_start (date_start)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_date_start

Original tag: date start

Description:

Start Date

2.4.2.5 date_end (date_end)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_date_end

Original tag: date_end

Description:

End Date

2.4.3 Cause of Conflict

These variables indicate the cause(s) of the conflict.

2.4.3.1 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.4.3.2 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict_name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.4.4 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.4.4.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_dyad_name

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.4.4.2 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side_a_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.4.4.3 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

 $Long\ tag$: ucdp_cace_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.4.4.4 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_side_a

 $Original\ tag:\ side_a$

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.4.4.5 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_cace_side_b_new_id
```

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.4.4.6 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp cace gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.

2.4.4.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp cace side b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.4.5 Geographical Information

Data in the UCDP GED and thus also UCDP CACE is geo-referenced, meaning that each event is connected to a specific location defined by a pair of latitude and longitude coordinates.

2.4.5.1 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_where_prec

Original tag: where_prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.4.5.2 Location (where_coordinates)

```
Long tag: ucdp_cace_where_coordinates
```

Original tag: where coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.4.5.3 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

```
Long tag: ucdp cace adm 1
```

Original tag: adm_1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.4.5.4 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

```
Long tag: ucdp_cace_adm_2
```

Original tag: adm 2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.4.5.5 Latitude (latitude)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_latitude

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.4.5.6 Longitude (longitude)

Long tag: ucdp cace longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.4.5.7 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_geom_wkt

Original tag: geom_wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT (well known text) without SRID.

2.4.5.8 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.4.5.9 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.4.5.10 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.4.5.11 Region (region)

 $Long \ tag: \ ucdp_cace_region$

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following:

Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East

2.4.6 Cities

This section provides a systematic coding of whether armed conflict events took place in cities.

2.4.6.1 City (city)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_city

Original tag: City

Description:

A dichotomous variable which takes the value 1 if "where_coordinates" is a city which had at least 100 000 inhabitants at some point since 1989 (see "Matching events to cities" above).

2.4.6.2 City Name (cace_cityname)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_cace_cityname

Original tag: CACE.cityname

Description:

The name of the city in the CACE data (usually the same as in UCDP GED, but without the suffix "city" or "town")

2.4.6.3 Capital (capital)

Long tag: ucdp cace capital

Original tag: Capital

Description:

A dichotomous variable which takes the value 1 if "where_coordinates" is a national capital.

2.4.6.4 Major City (majorcity)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_majorcity

Original tag: Majorcity

Description:

A dichotomous variable which takes the value 1 if "where_coordinates" is a city which had at least 750 000 inhabitants. Note: this is coded based on the identified population value that is recorded closest to the middle of the time series.

2.4.6.5 Top Three Cities (top3cities)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_cace_top3cities$

Original tag: Top3cities

Description:

A dichotomous variable which takes the value 1 if "where_coordinates" is a city that is among the three largest cities in the country.

2.4.6.6 Comment (comment)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_comment

Original tag: Comment

Description:

A text comment on the coding of the previous variables, if necessary. In a few rare cases the coding was ambiguous dues to the location name, summary nature of an event, or the coordinates provided and a comment on the coding decision is warranted.

2.4.7 Sources

This section provides information on the sources for each event.

2.4.7.1 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_event_clarity

Original tag: event clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict".

2.4.8 Fatality Estimates

This section provides fatality figures for each event. A note on civilian deaths: Civilian deaths can exist in all three categories of violence. DD In state-based and non-state violence, civilian deaths count "collateral" killings, i.e. when one or more civilians are killed as an effect of fighting between the two warring parties. At times, such fighting may even result in only the civilian bystanders receiving fatal injuries. Similarly, imprecise shelling or bombing in the context of an armed conflict is coded as state-based violence unless it is clear (from either reporting or context) that civilians have been explicitly targeted. In one-sided violence, the targeted and killed civilians are always registered in the deaths_civilians column.

2.4.8.1 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths a)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_deaths_a

Original tag: deaths_a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.4.8.2 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_deaths_b

Original tag: deaths b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events."

2.4.8.3 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.4.8.4 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_deaths_unknown

Original tag: deaths_unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.4.8.5 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.4.8.6 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_low

Original tag: low

Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.4.8.7 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_cace_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.5 UCDP Deadly Electoral Conflict dataset (DECO)

Dataset tag: ucdp deco

Description: A global, georeferenced event dataset, based on UCDP data, identifying electoral violence with lethal outcomes from 1989 to 2017.

Dataset citation:

Fjelde, Hanne and Kristine Höglund (2021) "Introducing the Deadly Electoral Conflict Dataset (DECO)" Journal of Conflict Resolution, https://doi.org/10.1177/00220027211021620

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.5.1 Identifier Variables

This section provides unique identifiers for every event (row/entry) in the dataset. Variables in this section can be used as a unique key for the dataset.

2.5.1.1 ID (id)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_id

Original tag: id
Description:

Unique Identifier for Each Event.

Can be used to identify UCDP GED events that are coded as election related by DECO

2.5.1.2 Relid (relid)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_relid

Original tag: relid

Description:

Used in older versions of UCDP data.

2.5.1.3 UCDP GED Included (ucdp_ged)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_ucdp_ged

Original tag: ucdp_ged

Description:

Indicates whether event is included in UCDP GED

2.5.2 Cause of Conflict

These variables indicate the cause(s) of the conflict.

2.5.2.1 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict: 1: state-based conflict 2: non-state conflict

3: one-sided violence

4: violence in civilian protests and miscellaneous incidents

This variable has been updated from UCPD GED public release 19.1 to cover events found exclusively in DECO. We also denote a fourth category: "violence in civilian protests and

miscellaneous," for events in which unorganized, but armed, civilians engage in protests that escalate to lethal violence.

2.5.2.2 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict new id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

Note: not systematically coded for events not included in UCPD GED public release 19.1

2.5.2.3 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict_name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

Note: not systematically coded for events not included in UCPD GED public release 19.1

2.5.3 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.5.3.1 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

Note: not systematically coded for events not included in UCPD GED public release 19.1

2.5.3.2 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side a new id

Description:

Unique ID of Side A.

Note: not systematically coded for events not included in UCPD GED public release 19.1

2.5.3.3 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_side_a

Original tag: side_a

Description:

Name of Side A in the dvad.

Note: not systematically coded for events not included in UCPD GED public release 19.1

2.5.3.4 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

Unique ID of Side B.

Note: not systematically coded for events not included in UCPD GED public release 19.1

2.5.3.5 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_side_b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

Name of Side B in the dyad.

Note: not systematically coded for events not included in UCPD GED public release 19.1

2.5.4 Geographical Information

Data in the UCDP GED and thus also UCDP DECO is geo-referenced, meaning that each event is connected to a specific location defined by a pair of latitude and longitude coordinates.

2.5.4.1 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country ID number for the country where the event takes place.

2.5.4.2 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.5.4.3 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_region

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East

2.5.4.4 Latitude (latitude)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_latitude

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude.

2.5.4.5 Longitude (longitude)

Long taq: ucdp deco longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude.NA

2.5.4.6 Source (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_source_article

Original tag: source article

Description

References to names, dates, and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

2.5.5 Timely Dimension

Each event is defined to have occurred at a certain date. The precision of the dataset is one calendar day, starting at 00:00 (midnight) and ending at 23:59 local time. In many cases, the exact day an event has taken place is impossible to find out with any certainty. In those cases, a temporal precision variable is provided which denotes with what accuracy a specific time period in which the event occurred is known.

2.5.5.1 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_year

 $Original\ tag:\ year$

Description:

Year of electoral violence.

2.5.5.2 Start Date (date_start)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_date_start

Original tag: date_start

Description:

Earliest possible date the event occurred.

2.5.5.3 End Date (date_end)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_date_end

Original tag: date end

Description:

Last possible date the event occurred.

2.5.6 Fatality Estimates

This section provides fatality figures for each event. A note on civilian deaths: Civilian deaths can exist in all three categories of violence. DD In state-based and non-state violence, civilian deaths count "collateral" killings, i.e. when one or more civilians are killed as an effect of fighting between the two warring parties. At times, such fighting may even result in only the civilian bystanders receiving fatal injuries. Similarly, imprecise shelling or bombing in the context of an armed conflict is coded as state-based violence unless it is clear (from either reporting or context) that civilians have been explicitly targeted. In one-sided violence, the targeted and killed civilians are always registered in the deaths civilians column.

2.5.6.1 Deaths on Side A (deaths_a)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_deaths_a

Original tag: deaths a

Description:

Best estimate of deaths sustained by Side A.

2.5.6.2 Deaths on Side B (deaths_b)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_deaths_b

Original tag: deaths b

Description:

Best estimate of deaths sustained by Side B.

2.5.6.3 Civilian Deaths (civilian deaths)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_civilian_deaths

 $Original\ tag:\ {\it civilian_deaths}$

2.5 UCDP DEADLY ELECTORAL CONFLICT DATASET (DECO)

Description:

Best estimate of civilian deaths in the event.

2.5.6.4 Unknown Deaths (unknown)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_unknown

Original tag: unknown

Description:

Best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.5.6.5 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_best

Original tag: best Description:

Best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

2.5.6.6 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_high

Original tag: high

Description:

Highest estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

2.5.6.7 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_low

Original tag: low

Description:

Lowest estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

2.5.7 Electoral Violence

This section adds information about electoral violence that is not included in UCDP GED to each event. DECO defines electoral violence as "violence that is substantially linked to an electoral contest.".

2.5.7.1 Electoral Violence (electoral_vio)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_deco_electoral_vio$

Original tag: electoral_vio

Description:

Indicates whether electoral violence occurred, always = 1

2.5.7.2 Electoral Violence Uncertainty (electoral_vio_uncertainty)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_electoral_vio_uncertainty

Original tag: electoral vio uncertainty

Description:

Variable denoting the level of uncertainty for the coding of the event as electoral violence (and included in DECO)

0 = low uncertainty 1 = some uncertainty 2 = high uncertainty

Uncertainty level 2 is assigned to events where the coding of electoral violence is primarily based on contextual information. Typically, these events are part of a spell of violence, where actors, location, and timing jointly suggest that this event is election- related, but where the link cannot be ascertained.

2.5.7.3 Electoral Violence Source (electoral_vio_source)

Long tag: ucdp deco electoral vio source

 $Original\ tag:\ electoral_vio_source$

Description:

Sources underlying the coding of electoral vio.

This information is only provided if these are other sources than those listed in the UCDP variable source article.

2.5.7.4 Electoral Violence Purpose (electoral_purpose)

Long tag: ucdp deco electoral purpose

Original tag: electoral purpose

Description:

Variable stating the reported purpose of electoral violence.

The reported purpose is coded based on statements by the perpetrators or the reported context of the event. If multiple purposes are denoted, these are separated with ";"

2.5.7.5 Involvement of Side A (electoral_side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_electoral_side_a

Original tag: electoral_side_a

Description:

Variable denoting the type of actor involved in the event on side a. Where there is more than one actor, see also electoral_side_a_2. We record the following categories: Civilians; External actors; Militia; Political supporters; Politicians; Public officials; Rebel group; Security forces; Unclear; Other

2.5.7.6 Involvement of Side A Supporter (electoral_side_a_2)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_electoral_side_a_2

Original tag: electoral_side_a_2

Description:

Variable denoting the type of actor involved in the event on side a if there is more than one

2.5.7.7 Involvement of Side A Incumbents (electoral side a inc)

Long tag: ucdp deco electoral side a inc

Original tag: electoral_side_a_inc

Description:

Variable denoting whether electoral side a has identifiable ties to the incumbent side:

1 = identifiable ties to the incumbent

0 = identifiable ties to the opposition or against the incumbent

-99= ties are unknown

The assessment of ties is based on formal authority, as well as allegiance to or support of the incumbent. State forces, such as police or the military, are therefore coded as having ties to the incumbent, as are supporters of the incumbent party or president.

2.5.7.8 Involvement of Side B (electoral_side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_electoral_side_b

Original tag: electoral side b

Description:

Variable denoting the type of actor involved in the event on side b. Where there is more than one actor, see also electoral_side_b_2. We record the following categories: Civilians; External

actors; Militia; Political supporters; Politicians; Public officials; Rebel group; Security forces; Unclear; Other

2.5.7.9 Involvement of Side B Supporter (electoral_side_b_2)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_electoral_side_b_2

Original tag: electoral side b 2

Description:

Variable denoting the type of actor involved in the event on side b if there is more than one actor.

2.5.7.10 Involvement of Side B Incumbents (electoral_side_b_inc)

Long tag: ucdp deco electoral side b inc

Original tag: electoral_side_b_inc

Description:

Variable denoting whether electoral side b has identifiable ties to the incumbent side:

- 1 = identifiable ties to the incumbent
- 0 = identifiable ties to the opposition or against the incumbent
- -99 = ties are unknown

The assessment of ties is based on formal authority, as well as allegiance to or support of the incumbent. State forces, such as police or the military, are therefore coded as having ties to the incumbent, as are supporters of the incumbent party or president.

2.5.7.11 Main Perpetrator of Electoral Violence (electoral_perpetrator)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_electoral_perpetrator

Original tag: electoral_perpetrator

Description:

Variable denoting who initiates the violence or is the main perpetrator, provided that this information can be ascertained from the event:

- 1 = side a
- 2 = side b
- 3 = symmetric, for example, in clashes between groups of supporters
- 4 = unclear

2.5.7.12 Targets of Electoral Violence (electoral_targets)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_electoral_targets

Original tag: electoral targets

Description:

Variable denoting the targets of the violence, provided that this information can be ascertained from the event description:

- 1 = targeting of political candidate/politician 2 = targeting of election workers/personnel 3 = targeting of voters or party supporters
- 4 = targeting of election-related activists (e.g., NGO workers)
- 5 = targeting of election-related protesters (context-specific, not necessarily organized) 6 = targeting of members of security forces (police, military)
- 7 = targeting of insurgents/rebel soldiers
- 8 = other
- 9 = targeting of non-designated civilians
- 10 = targeting of electoral material
- 11 =targeting of journalists
- -99 = targets are unknown

If an event has multiple targets, these are separated with ";"

2.5.7.13 Type of Election (electoral_type)

Long tag: ucdp_deco_electoral_type

Original tag: electoral_type

Description:

Variable denoting the type of election the violence is associated with:

- 1 = Parliamentary (national) 2 = Presidential (national)
- 3 = Subnational elections
- 4 = Other or unclear
- 5 = Referendum (national or subnational)

When it is not clear to which election the violence relates, or when there are concurrent elections, election types are separated with ";". "Other or unclear" is used to code, for example, by-elections, primary elections, and other elections when it is not clear to which election the event relates.

${\bf 2.5.7.14}\quad {\bf Time~in~Relation~to~Election~(electoral_timing)}$

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_deco_electoral_timing$

Original tag: electoral_timing

Description:

Variable denoting whether the event is pre- election, on election day or post-election:

- 1 = pre-election. Events occurring before election day such as during voter registration, political rallies, political primaries, or party nominations.
- 2 = election day. Events occurring on the day of polling.
- 3 = post-election. Events occurring after election day such as during tallying or in the wake of the announcement of results.
- 4 = unclear timing

The classification is primarily based on assessing the timing of the event in relation to the most proximate election, but in case of multiple elections in close proximity, a more qualitative assessment may also be used to determine the timing.

2.6 UCDP Dyadic Dataset

Dataset tag: ucdp_dyadic

Description: A dyad-year version of the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset. A dyad consists of two opposing actors in an armed conflict where at least one party is the government of a state.

Dataset citation:

Pettersson, Therese, Shawn Davis, Amber Deniz, Garoun Engström, Nanar Hawach, Stina Högbladh, Margareta Sollenberg Magnus Öberg (2021). Organized violence 1989-2020, with a special emphasis on Syria. *Journal of Peace Research*, 58(4).

Harbom, Lotta, Erik Melander Peter Wallensteen (2008) Dyadic Dimensions of Armed Conflict, 1946-2007. *Journal of Peace Research*, 45(5).

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.6.1 Indentifier Variables

Variables in this section can be used as a unique key for the dataset.

2.6.1.1 Dyad Identifier (dyad_id)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_dyad_id

 $Original\ tag:\ dyad_id$

Description:

The unique identifier of the dyad.

2.6.1.2 Conflict Identifier (conflict_id)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_conflict_id

Original tag: conflict_id

Description:

The unique identifier of the conflict to which the dyad corresponds, as given in the UCDP/PRIO

Armed

Conflict Dataset version 21.1

2.6.1.3 Location (location)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_location

Original tag: location

Description:

The name of the country/countries whose government(s) has a primary claim to the incompatibility, Note that this is not necessarily the geographical location of the conflict. Further information on how location is interpreted can be found below, in section 4.1.

If multiple countries are listed, this is comma separated.

2.6.1.4 Name of Territory (territory_name)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_territory_name

Original tag: territory_name

Description:

The name of the territory over which the conflict is fought, provided that the incompatibility is over territory.

In case the two sides use different names for the disputed territory, the name listed is the one used by the opposition organization. One reason for this is that this is most often the name that the general public recognizes. Another reason is that there are cases where the disputed territories do not have an official name.

2.6.1.5 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_year

 $Original\ tag:$ year

Description:

The year of observation (1946-2020).

2.6.1.6 Location Codes (gwno_loc)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_gwno_loc

Original tag: gwno_loc

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of the incompatibility.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.6.1.7 Regions (region)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_region

Original tag: region

Description:

The region of the incompatibility:

```
1 = Europe (GWNo: 200-399)

2= Middle East (GWNo: 630-699)

3= Asia (GWNo: 700-999)

4= Africa (GWNo: 400-626)

5= Americas (GWNo: 2-199).
```

2.6.2 Conflict Parties

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP Dyadic dataset and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.6.2.1 Side A (side_a)

Description:

```
Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_side_a<br/> Original tag: side_a
```

The name of the country/countries of Side A in a conflict.

Always the government side in intrastate conflicts. Note that this is a primary party to the conflict.

2.6.2.2 Side A Identifier (side_a_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_side_a_id

Original tag: side_a_id

Description:

The unique identifier of the actor on side A.
```

Note that in contrast with older versions of UCDP datasets, this variable is NO LONGER the Gleditsch and Ward state identifier (GWcode or GWNo). Use thegwno_a variable instead.

2.6.2.3 Supporters of Side A (side_a_2nd)

```
Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_side_a_2nd
Original tag: side_a_2nd
Description:
```

side_a_2nd lists all states that enter a conflict dyad with troops to actively support side A. By definition, only independent states can be a secondary party in conflict.

A secondary warring party on side A shares the position in the incompatibility with Side A in the conflict. Side_a_2nd does not need to meet the 25 battle-related deaths criterion to be included in the dataset; an active troop participation is enough.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.6.2.4 Side B (side_b)

```
Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_side_b
Original tag: side_b
Description:
```

Identifying the opposition actor or country of side B in the dyad. In an intrastate conflict, this includes a military opposition organization. Note that this is a primary party to the conflict.

2.6.2.5 Side B Identifier (side_b_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_side_b_id
Original tag: side_b_id
```

Description:

The unique identifier of the actor on side B in the dyad.

Note that in contrast with older versions of UCDP datasets, this variable is NO LONGER the Gleditsch and

Ward state identifier (GWcode or GWNo) if the conflict is interstate and Side B represents a country. Use the

gwno b variable instead.

2.6.2.6 Supporters of Side B (side_b_2nd)

```
Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_side_b_2nd
```

Original tag: side_b_2nd

Description:

side_b_2nd lists all states that enter a conflict dyad with troops to actively support side B. By definition, only independent states can be a secondary party in conflict.

A secondary warring party on side B shares the position in the incompatibility with Side B in the conflict.

Side_b_2nd does not need to meet the 25 battle-related deaths criterion to be included in the dataset; an active troop participation is enough.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.6.2.7 Country Code for Side A (gwno_a)

```
Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_gwno_a
```

Original tag: gwno_a

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side a.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.6.2.8 Country Codes for Side A Supporters (gwno_a_2nd)

```
Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_gwno_a_2nd
```

Original tag: gwno_a_2nd

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side a 2nd.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.6.2.9 Country Code for Side B (gwno_b)

```
Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_gwno_b
```

Original tag: gwno_b

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side b.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.6.2.10 Country Codes for Side B Supporters (gwno_b_2nd)

```
Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_gwno_b_2nd
```

Original tag: gwno_b_2nd

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side_b_2nd.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.6.3 Cause of Conflict

These variables indicate the cause(s) of the conflict.

2.6.3.1 Cause of Conflict (incompatibility)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_incompatibility

Original tag: incompatibility

Description:

The main conflict issue identified per the UCDP definitions, as applied to the dyad:

- 1= Incompatibility about territory
- 2= Incompatibility about government
- 3= Incompatibility about government AND territory

Further information on how incompatibility is interpreted can be found below, in section 4.2

2.6.3.2 Intensity Level (intensity_level)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_intensity_level

Original tag: intensity_level

Description:

The intensity level in the dyad per calendar year. The intensity variable is coded in two categories:

- 1. Minor: between 25 and 999 battle-related deaths in a given year.
- 2. War: at least 1,000 battle-related deaths in a given year.

2.6.3.3 Type of Conflict (type_of_conflict)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_type_of_conflict

Original tag: type_of_conflict

Description:

One of the following four types of conflict that the dyad is active in:

- 1 = extrasystemic (between a state and a non-state group outside its own territory, where the government side is fighting to retain control of a territory outside the state system).
- 2 = interstate (both sides are states in the Gleditsch and Ward membership system).
- 3 = intrastate (side A is always a government; side B is always a rebel group; there is no involvement of foreign governments with troops, i.e. there is no side_a_2nd or side_b_2nd coded).
- 4 = internationalized intrastate (side A is always a government; side B is always a rebel group; there is involvement of foreign

governments with troops, i.e. there is at least ONE side_a_2nd or side_b_2nd coded).

2.6.4 Timely Dimension

These variables provide information on the timely dimesion of the conflict.

2.6.4.1 Date of first Death in Conflict (start_date)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_start_date

Original tag: start_date

Description:

The date, as precise as possible, of the first battle-related death in the dyad.

The date is set after the dyad fulfils all criteria required in the definition of an armed conflict, except for the number of deaths.

2.6.4.2 Precision (start prec)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_start_prec

Original tag: start_prec

2.7 UCDP THE ETHNIC ONE-SIDED VIOLENCE (EOSV) DATASET

Description:

The level of precision for the initial start date.

The values are explained in section 4.3

2.6.4.3 Date when Conflict Deaths exceed 25 (start_date2)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_start_date2

Original tag: start date2

Description:

The date, as precise as possible, when fighting in the dyad in a given episode of conflict activity reached 25 battle-related deaths in a year. Thus, for each episode of a conflict dyad, a new start_date2 is coded. In case precise information is lacking, start_date2 is by default set to 31 December.

An episode is defined as continuous conflict activity. Consequently, a new episode is coded whenever a dyad restarts after one or more year(s) of inactivity.

2.6.4.4 Precision (start_prec2)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_start_prec2

Original tag: start_prec2

Description:

The level of precision for startdate2. The values are explained in section 4.3

2.6.5 Dataset Version

The version of the dataset.

2.6.5.1 Dataset Version (version)

Long tag: ucdp_dyadic_version

Original tag: version

Description:

The version of the dataset: 21.1

2.7 UCDP The Ethnic One-Sided Violence (EOSV) Dataset

Dataset tag: ucdp_eosv

Description: An actor-year dataset with information on the ethnic identity of civilian victims of direct and deliberate killings by state and non-state actors (based on the OSV Dataset, see above) from 1989 to 2013. Target groups are denoted with EPR IDs.

Dataset citation:

Fjelde, Hanne, Lisa Hultman, Livia Schubiger, Lars-Erik Cederman, Simon Hug, and Margareta Sollenberg (2019) Introducing the Ethnic One-Sided Violence dataset. *Conflict Management and Peace Science*: https://doi.org/10.1177/0738894219863256

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.7.1 Identifier Variables

This section describes the identifier variables of the dataset. They come directly form the UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset.

2.7.1.1 Actor ID (actorid)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_actorid

Original tag: ActorId

Description:

Identifier of perpetrator of one-sided violence as indicated in the UCDP One-Sided Violence

2.7.1.2 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_year

Original tag: Year

Description:

Calendar year to which the number of civilian victims per perpetrator refers.

2.7.2 Actor Information

This section provides additional information on the actors or perpetrators of ethnic one-sided violence. These variables come directly from the UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset.

2.7.2.1 Actor Name (actorname)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_actorname

Original tag: ActorName

Description:

Name of armed group perpetrating one-sided violence.

2.7.2.2 Is Government Actor (isgovernmentactor)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_eosv_isgovernmentactor$

Original tag: IsGovernmentActor

Description:

This variable records if the actor is the government of a state and is coded as 1 for government actors and 0 for nongovernmental actors.

2.7.3 Fatality Estimates

This section provides fatality figures for each event. They observations come directly form the UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset.

2.7.3.1 Best Fatality Estimate: Number of Civilian Victims (bestfatalityestimate)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_bestfatalityestimate

 $Original\ tag\colon$ BestFatalityEstimate

Description:

Number of civilian victims per perpetrator-year as indicated in the UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset (best estimate).

2.7.3.2 High Fatality Estimate: Number of Civilian Victims (highfatalityestimate)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_highfatalityestimate

 $Original\ tag:\ HighFatalityEstimate$

2.7 UCDP THE ETHNIC ONE-SIDED VIOLENCE (EOSV) DATASET

Description:

Number of civilian victims per perpetrator-year as indicated in the UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset (high estimate).

2.7.4 Geographical Information

Variables in this section describe the location of the conflict and where violence occured. They come come directly from the UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset.

2.7.4.1 Location (location)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_location

Original tag: Location

Description:

Name of the countries where one-sided violence took place in the perpetrator-year. Comma-separated if multiple.

2.7.4.2 GWNO Location (gwnolocation)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_eosv_gwnolocation$

Original tag: GWNOLocation

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward code for the countries where one-sided violence took place in the perpetrator- year (Gleditsch and Ward, 1999). Comma-separated if multiple.

2.7.4.3 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_region

Original taq: Region

Description:

The continents (regions) where one-sided violence took place: 1. Europe (GWNo: 200-399),

- 2. Middle East (GWNo: 630-650 and 652-699)
- 3. Asia (GWNo: 700-999)
- 4. Africa (GWNo: 400-626 and 651) 5. Americas (GWNo: 2-199).

2.7.5 Ethnic Violence

Variables in this section provide information on the ethnic identity of the victims of deliberate violence against noncombatants by armed groups.

2.7.5.1 Ethnic Group 1 (ethngr1)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_ethngr1

Original tag: EthnGr1

Description:

Name of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; names as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). If an ethnic group is identified which does not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), a commonly used name of that group is used.

2.7.5.2 Ethnic Group 1 ID (ethngrid1)

Long tag: ucdp eosv ethngrid1

 $Original\ tag:\ EthnGrID1$

Description:

Identifier of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; identifiers as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). For ethnic groups

that do not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), the identifier is coded as missing.

2.7.5.3 Type 1 (typ1)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_typ1

Original tag: Typ1

Description:

Variable stating whether

- 1. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit information,
- 2. the ethnic group assignment is based on implicit information,
- 3. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit and implicit information,

Note:

UCDP assigns ethnic group identifiers even if ethnicity is judged irrelevant for patterns of targeting.

If neither explicit nor implicit information on the ethnic identity of civilian victims is available, these deaths are not assigned to any ethnic group.

2.7.5.4 Intention 1 (int1)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_int1

Original tag: Int1

Description:

Variable indicating whether one-sided violence (by this perpetrator and in this particular year) against members of ethnic group 1 was purely behavioral, indiscriminate, or based on non-ethnic collective targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 0; no ethnic targeting), or there are indications of ethnic screening or strategic identity-based targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 1; some ethnic targeting).

- 0: No ethnic targeting.
- 1: Some level of ethnic targeting.

2.7.5.5 Intention Confidence 1 (intconf1)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_intconf1

Original tag: Intconf1

Description:

Variable describing level of uncertainty when it comes to variable 'Int1.'

- 1. Low level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention.
- 2. Some level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention, but remain vague; most but not all sources agree on intention; most sources agree on intention, patterns of ethnic targeting cannot be conclusively linked to the events underlying the OSV data; ethnic targeting can be inferred from the context but there is minimal explicit information.
- 3. High level of uncertainty; e.g., sources disagree on intention; scant information on intention available.

2.7.5.6 Data Sources 1 (dats1)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_eosv_dats1$

Original tag: Dats1

Description:

List of data sources used per perpetrator, ethnic victim group, and year, if other than UCDP original source.

Repeating all EOSV variables for each additional ethnic victim group: EthnGr2, EthnGr3, Eth- nGr4, EthnGr5, EthnGr6, EthnGr7.

2.7.5.7 Ethnic Group 2 (ethngr2)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_ethngr2

Original tag: EthnGr2

Description:

Name of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; names as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). If an ethnic group is identified which does not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), a commonly used name of that group is used.

2.7.5.8 Ethnic Group 2 ID (ethngrid2)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_ethngrid2

Original tag: EthnGrID2

Description:

Identifier of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; identifiers as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). For ethnic groups that do not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), the identifier is coded as missing.

2.7.5.9 Type 2 (typ2)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_typ2

Original tag: Typ2

Description:

Variable stating whether

- 1. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit information,
- 2. the ethnic group assignment is based on implicit information,
- 3. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit and implicit information,

Note:

UCDP assigns ethnic group identifiers even if ethnicity is judged irrelevant for patterns of targeting.

If neither explicit nor implicit information on the ethnic identity of civilian victims is available, these deaths are not assigned to any ethnic group.

2.7.5.10 Intention 2 (int2)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_int2

Original tag: Int2
Description:

Variable indicating whether one-sided violence (by this perpetrator and in this particular year) against members of ethnic group 1 was purely behavioral, indiscriminate, or based on non-ethnic collective targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 0; no ethnic targeting), or there are indications of ethnic screening or strategic identity-based targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 1; some ethnic targeting).

- 0: No ethnic targeting.
- 1: Some level of ethnic targeting.

2.7.5.11 Intention Confidence 2 (intconf2)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_intconf2

Original tag: Intconf2

Description:

Variable describing level of uncertainty when it comes to variable 'Int1.'

- 1. Low level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention.
- 2. Some level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention, but remain vague; most but not all sources agree on intention; most sources agree on intention, patterns of ethnic targeting cannot be conclusively linked to the events underlying the OSV data; ethnic targeting can be inferred from the context but there is minimal explicit information.
- 3. High level of uncertainty; e.g., sources disagree on intention; scant information on intention available.

2.7.5.12 Data Sources 2 (dats2)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_dats2

Original tag: Dats2

Description:

List of data sources used per perpetrator, ethnic victim group, and year, if other than UCDP original source.

2.7.5.13 Ethnic Group 3 (ethngr3)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_ethngr3

Original tag: EthnGr3

Description:

Name of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; names as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). If an ethnic group is identified which does not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), a commonly used name of that group is used.

2.7.5.14 Ethnic Group 3 ID (ethngrid3)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_ethngrid3

Original tag: EthnGrID3

Description:

Identifier of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; identifiers as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). For ethnic groups that do not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), the identifier is coded as missing.

2.7.5.15 Type 3 (typ3)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_typ3

Original tag: Typ3

Description:

Variable stating whether

- 1. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit information,
- 2. the ethnic group assignment is based on implicit information,
- 3. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit and implicit information,

Note:

UCDP assigns ethnic group identifiers even if ethnicity is judged irrelevant for patterns of targeting.

If neither explicit nor implicit information on the ethnic identity of civilian victims is available, these deaths are not assigned to any ethnic group.

2.7.5.16 Intention 3 (int3)

Long tag: ucdp eosv int3

Original tag: Int3

Description:

Variable indicating whether one-sided violence (by this perpetrator and in this particular year) against members of ethnic group 1 was purely behavioral, indiscriminate, or based on non-ethnic collective targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 0; no ethnic targeting), or there are indications of ethnic screening or strategic identity-based targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 1; some ethnic targeting).

0: No ethnic targeting.

1: Some level of ethnic targeting.

2.7.5.17 Intention Confidence 3 (intconf3)

Long tag: ucdp eosv intconf3

Original tag: Intconf3

Description:

Variable describing level of uncertainty when it comes to variable 'Int1.'

- 1. Low level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention.
- 2. Some level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention, but remain vague; most but not all sources agree on intention; most sources agree on intention, patterns of ethnic targeting cannot be conclusively linked to the events underlying the OSV data; ethnic targeting can be inferred from the context but there is minimal explicit information.
- 3. High level of uncertainty; e.g., sources disagree on intention; scant information on intention available.

2.7.5.18 Data Sources 3 (dats3)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_dats3

Original tag: Dats3

Description:

List of data sources used per perpetrator, ethnic victim group, and year, if other than UCDP original source.

2.7.5.19 Ethnic Group 4 (ethngr4)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_ethngr4

Original tag: EthnGr4

Description:

Name of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; names as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). If an ethnic group is identified which does not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), a commonly used name of that group is used.

2.7.5.20 Ethnic Group 4 ID (ethngrid4)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_ethngrid4

Original tag: EthnGrID4

Description:

Identifier of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; identifiers as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). For ethnic groups that do not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), the identifier is coded as missing.

2.7.5.21 Type 4 (typ4)

Long tag: ucdp eosv typ4

 $Original\ tag:\ Typ4$

Description:

Variable stating whether

- 1. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit information,
- 2. the ethnic group assignment is based on implicit information,
- 3. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit and implicit information,

Note:

UCDP assigns ethnic group identifiers even if ethnicity is judged irrelevant for patterns of targeting.

If neither explicit nor implicit information on the ethnic identity of civilian victims is available, these deaths are not assigned to any ethnic group.

2.7.5.22 Intention 4 (int4)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_int4

Original tag: Int4

Description:

Variable indicating whether one-sided violence (by this perpetrator and in this particular year) against members of ethnic group 1 was purely behavioral, indiscriminate, or based on non-ethnic collective targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 0; no ethnic targeting), or there are indications of ethnic screening or strategic identity-based targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 1; some ethnic targeting).

- 0: No ethnic targeting.
- 1: Some level of ethnic targeting.

2.7.5.23 Intention Confidence 4 (intconf4)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_intconf4

Original tag: Intconf4

Description:

Variable describing level of uncertainty when it comes to variable 'Int1.'

- 1. Low level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention.
- 2. Some level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention, but remain vague; most but not all sources agree on intention; most sources agree on intention, patterns of ethnic targeting cannot be conclusively linked to the events underlying the OSV data; ethnic targeting can be inferred from the context but there is minimal explicit information.
- 3. High level of uncertainty; e.g., sources disagree on intention; scant information on intention available.

2.7.5.24 Data Sources 4 (dats4)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_dats4

Original tag: Dats4

Description:

List of data sources used per perpetrator, ethnic victim group, and year, if other than UCDP original source.

2.7.5.25 Ethnic Group 5 (ethngr5)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_eosv_ethngr5$

Original tag: EthnGr5

Description:

Name of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; names as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). If an ethnic group is identified which does not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), a commonly used name of that group is used.

2.7.5.26 Ethnic Group 5 ID (ethngrid5)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_ethngrid5

Original tag: EthnGrID5

Description:

Identifier of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; identifiers as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). For ethnic groups that do not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), the identifier is coded as missing.

2.7.5.27 Type 5 (typ5)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_typ5

Original tag: Typ5

Description:

Variable stating whether

1. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit information,

- 2. the ethnic group assignment is based on implicit information,
- 3. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit and implicit information,

Note

UCDP assigns ethnic group identifiers even if ethnicity is judged irrelevant for patterns of targeting.

If neither explicit nor implicit information on the ethnic identity of civilian victims is available, these deaths are not assigned to any ethnic group.

2.7.5.28 Intention 5 (int5)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_int5

Original tag: Int5

Description:

Variable indicating whether one-sided violence (by this perpetrator and in this particular year) against members of ethnic group 1 was purely behavioral, indiscriminate, or based on non-ethnic collective targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 0; no ethnic targeting), or there are indications of ethnic screening or strategic identity-based targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 1; some ethnic targeting).

- 0: No ethnic targeting.
- 1: Some level of ethnic targeting.

2.7.5.29 Intention Confidence 5 (intconf5)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_intconf5

Original tag: Intconf5

Description:

Variable describing level of uncertainty when it comes to variable 'Int1.'

- 1. Low level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention.
- 2. Some level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention, but remain vague; most but not all sources agree on intention; most sources agree on intention, patterns of ethnic targeting cannot be conclusively linked to the events underlying the OSV data; ethnic targeting can be inferred from the context but there is minimal explicit information.
- 3. High level of uncertainty; e.g., sources disagree on intention; scant information on intention available.

2.7.5.30 Data Sources 5 (dats5)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_dats5

Original tag: Dats5

Description:

List of data sources used per perpetrator, ethnic victim group, and year, if other than UCDP original source.

2.7.5.31 Ethnic Group 6 (ethngr6)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_ethngr6

Original tag: EthnGr6

Description:

Name of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; names as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). If an ethnic group is identified which does not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), a commonly used name of that group is used.

2.7.5.32 Ethnic Group 6 ID (ethngrid6)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_ethngrid6

Original tag: EthnGrID6

Description:

Identifier of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; identifiers as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). For ethnic groups that do not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), the identifier is coded as missing.

2.7.5.33 Type 6 (typ6)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_typ6

Original tag: Typ6

Description:

Variable stating whether

- 1. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit information,
- 2. the ethnic group assignment is based on implicit information,
- 3. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit and implicit information,

Note:

UCDP assigns ethnic group identifiers even if ethnicity is judged irrelevant for patterns of targeting.

If neither explicit nor implicit information on the ethnic identity of civilian victims is available, these deaths are not assigned to any ethnic group.

2.7.5.34 Intention 6 (int6)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_int6

Original tag: Int6

Description:

Variable indicating whether one-sided violence (by this perpetrator and in this particular year) against members of ethnic group 1 was purely behavioral, indiscriminate, or based on non-ethnic collective targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 0; no ethnic targeting), or there are indications of ethnic screening or strategic identity-based targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 1; some ethnic targeting).

- 0: No ethnic targeting.
- 1: Some level of ethnic targeting.

2.7.5.35 Intention Confidence 6 (intconf6)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_eosv_intconf6$

Original tag: Intconf6

Description:

Variable describing level of uncertainty when it comes to variable 'Int1.'

- 1. Low level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention.
- 2. Some level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention, but remain vague; most but not all sources agree on intention; most sources agree on intention, patterns of ethnic targeting cannot be conclusively linked to the events underlying the OSV data; ethnic targeting can be inferred from the context but there is minimal explicit information.
- 3. High level of uncertainty; e.g., sources disagree on intention; scant information on intention available.

2.7.5.36 Data Sources 6 (dats6)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_dats6

Original tag: Dats6

Description:

List of data sources used per perpetrator, ethnic victim group, and year, if other than UCDP original source.

2.7.5.37 Ethnic Group 7 (ethngr7)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_ethngr7

Original tag: EthnGr7

Description:

Name of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; names as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). If an ethnic group is identified which does not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), a commonly used name of that group is used.

2.7.5.38 Ethnic Group 7 ID (ethngrid7)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_eosv_ethngrid7$

Original tag: EthnGrID7

Description:

Identifier of ethnic group exposed to one-sided violence perpetrated by a given armed group in the respective year; identifiers as in EPR if available (Vogt et al., 2014). For ethnic groups that do not fulfill the criteria for inclusion in EPR (e.g. because of size or lack of national relevance), the identifier is coded as missing.

2.7.5.39 Type 7 (typ7)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_typ7

Original tag: Typ7

Description:

Variable stating whether

- 1. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit information,
- 2. the ethnic group assignment is based on implicit information,
- 3. the ethnic group assignment is based on explicit and implicit information,

Note:

UCDP assigns ethnic group identifiers even if ethnicity is judged irrelevant for patterns of targeting.

If neither explicit nor implicit information on the ethnic identity of civilian victims is available, these deaths are not assigned to any ethnic group.

2.7.5.40 Intention 7 (int7)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_int7

Original tag: Int7
Description:

Variable indicating whether one-sided violence (by this perpetrator and in this particular year) against members of ethnic group 1 was purely behavioral, indiscriminate, or based on non-ethnic collective targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 0; no ethnic targeting), or there are indications of ethnic screening or strategic identity-based targeting in the majority of killings (intention = 1; some ethnic targeting).

- 0: No ethnic targeting.
- 1: Some level of ethnic targeting.

2.7.5.41 Intention Confidence 7 (intconf7)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_intconf7

Original tag: Intconf7

Description:

Variable describing level of uncertainty when it comes to variable 'Int1.'

- 1. Low level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention.
- 2. Some level of uncertainty; e.g., sources agree on intention, but remain vague; most but not all sources agree on intention; most sources agree on intention, patterns of ethnic targeting cannot be conclusively linked to the events underlying the OSV data; ethnic targeting can be inferred from the context but there is minimal explicit information.
- 3. High level of uncertainty; e.g., sources disagree on intention; scant information on intention available.

2.7.5.42 Data Sources 7 (dats7)

Long tag: ucdp_eosv_dats7

Original tag: Dats7

Description:

List of data sources used per perpetrator, ethnic victim group, and year, if other than UCDP original source.

2.8 UCDP External Support – Disaggregated/Supporter Level Dataset

Dataset tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter

Description: A dataset providing information on the existence, type, and provider of external support for all warring parties (actors) coded as active in UCDP data, on an annual basis, between 1975 and 2009.

The External Support – Disaggregated/Supporter Level Dataset is best suited for analysis from the perspective of the supporter, (e.g. analyses on number of supporters in a given year, actions of a particular supporter in a given region, etc.) or for more complex analyses (excluding some supporters, excluding some types of offered support etc.). The basic difference from the UCDP External Support – Primary Warring Party Dataset is that, if more than one supporter gave support to a party in a year, each individual supporter is listed on a separate row. As such, types of support need not be aggregated, each row containing the types of support that each external supporter gave to a certain receiver in a given year.

Dataset citation:

Högbladh, Stina, Therése Pettersson Lotta Themnér (2011) External Support in Armed Conflict 1975–2009. Presenting new data. Paper presented at the 52nd Annual International Studies Association Convention, Montreal, Canada, 16-19 March 2011.

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.8.1 Identification Variables

These variables identify the conflicting parties using the UCDP ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads.

2.8.1.1 External Support Incident ID (external_id)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_id

Original tag: external_id

Description:

numeric (4-digit positive integer). A unique identifier for each individual entry (incident of support) in the external support dataset. As of version 1.0-2011, this variable ranges between 1 and 7900. The value can be used as a unique key to the dataset.

For actors not present in the UCDP Actor Dataset v.2.1-2010 (with values of the external_id variable above 7000), a separate addendum containing the name and the IDs of the actors is provided with this dataset.

2.8.1.2 Yearly Warring Party ID (ywp_id)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_ywp_id

 $Original\ tag:\ ywp_id$

Description:

numeric (4-digit positive integer). An identifier for each individual primary warring party active in a given year in a given conflict. ywp_id is year-specific, i.e., it is different for the same primary warring party in different years.

2.8.1.3 Year of Observation (ywp_year)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_ywp_year

Original tag: ywp_year

Description:

numeric (4-digit positive integer). Year of observation. The current dataset covers the 1975-2009 periods, containing all years in which warring parties have been active in the UCDP datasets.

2.8.1.4 Name of primary warring party or receiver of support (ywp_name)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_ywp_name

Original tag: ywp name

Description:

string. Name of the actor (primary warring party/receiver of support), as listed in the UCDP Actor dataset.

2.8.1.5 ID of the primary warring party/receiver of support (actorid)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_actorid

Original tag: actorID

Description:

numeric (4-digit positive integer). The unique identifier of the individual actor (primary warring party/receiver of support), as listed in the UCDP Actor dataset version 2.1-2010.

$2.8.1.6 \quad Conflict \ ID \ (UCDP \ database) \ (bc_id)$

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_bc_id

Original tag: bc_id

Description:

numeric (3-digit positive integer). One of two unique identifiers of the armed conflict in which the primary warring party is involved during the dyad-year. bc_id corresponds to the conflict IDs assigned by the UCDP database.

2.8.1.7 Conflict ID (UCDP datasets) (conflictid)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_conflictid

Original tag: conflictID

Description:

numeric (3-digit positive integer). One of two unique identifiers of the armed conflict in which the primary warring party is involved during the dyad-year. conflictID corresponds to the conflict IDs used in the UCDP/Prio Dataset and the UCDP Dyadic dataset.

2.8.1.8 Conflict Name (bc_name)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_bc_name

Original tag: bc_name

Description:

string. Name of the conflict, same as listed in the UCDP database and UCDP/Prio Dataset.

2.8.1.9 Dyad ID (bwd id)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_bwd_id

Original tag: bwd_id

Description:

numeric (4-digit positive integer). The unique identifier of the dyad in which the primary warring party is involved, as listed in the UCDP Dyadic Dataset.

2.8.1.10 Dyad Name (bwd_name)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_bwd_name

Original tag: bwd_name

Description:

text. The name of the dyad in which the primary warring party is involved, as listed in the UCDP Dyadic Dataset.

2.8.1.11 Country One (country1)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_country1

Original tag: country1

Description:

text. In case of intrastate conflict, the name of the country where the government is being challenged or where a territory is being claimed. In case of interstate conflict, the name of one of the states involved in the conflict.

2.8.1.12 Country One (country2)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_country2

Original tag: country2

Description:

text. In case of intrastate conflict, this value is empty (NULL). In case of interstate conflict, the name of the other state involved in the conflict.

2.8.1.13 Location ID One (locationid1)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_locationid1

Original tag: locationid1

Description:

numeric (3-digit positive integer). Numeric country code corresponding to country1 variable. The country codes in use correspond to those used by the UCDP database, UCDP Actor Dataset, UCDP/Prio Dataset and UCDP Dyadic Dataset and are compatible with the country codes employed by the Correlates of War Project and to those used by the Gleditsch and Ward Interstate System.

2.8.1.14 Location ID Two (locationid2)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_locationid2

Original tag: locationid2

Description:

numeric (3-digit positive integer). Numeric country code corresponding to country2 variable. The value of the variable is empty (NULL) if the value of country2 is empty (NULL). The country codes in use correspond to those used by the UCDP database, UCDP Actor Dataset, UCDP/Prio Dataset and UCDP Dyadic Dataset and are compatible with the country codes employed by the Correlates of War Project and to those used by the Gleditsch and Ward Interstate System.

2.8.2 Variables Identifying the External Supporter

All variables that follow are only coded if either external_exists or external_alleged are coded as 1. Otherwhise, these values of these variables is left empty (NULL).

2.8.2.1 External Support Exists (external_exists)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_exists

Original tag: external exists

Description:

dummy variable (missing values coded as -1). The variable takes the value of 1 if a primary warring

party/receiver of support received any form of external support from a given supporter in a given year.

Additionally, missing/unclear/incomplete values (-1) may contain entries on types of support (see below). However, these entries are not complete and, possibly, lack reliability. Significant future work is planned on these entries for future releases of the dataset.

2.8.2.2 Name of External Supporter (external_name)

Long tag: ucdp extsup dis supporter external name

Original tag: external name

Description:

This variable lists the name of the external party providing support to a primary warring party in the incident of support coded.

Names are similar to those used in the UCDP Actor Dataset, with the following differences:

- In case of governmental supporters, the particle 'Government of' has been dropped. Standardized forms are used for a number of states, such as United States, Soviet Union, East Germany, West Germany, North Korea, South Korea, North Yemen, South Yemen and United Kingdom.
- The names of supporters, as used in the current dataset, are the names of both states and non- state groups as were current in the year when they provided external support.

2.8.2.3 ID of External Supporter (external_nameid)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_nameid

Original tag: external_nameid

Description:

numeric (4-digit positive integer). The unique identifier of the external supporter. The value is taken from the UCDP Actor Dataset v.2.1-2010 for actors present in that dataset.

For actors not present in the UCDP Actor Dataset v.2.1-2010 (with values of the external_id variable above 7000), a separate addendum containing the name and the IDs of the actors is provided with this dataset.

2.8.2.4 External Support is Alleged (external_alleged)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_alleged

Original tag: external alleged

Description:

dummy variable. The variable takes the value of 1 if there are allegations of external support that a primary warring party received certain forms of external support from a given external supporter in a given year, but no clear evidence of that support has been found.

Otherwise, if either evidence of clearly established external support from a given warring party exists, or if there is no support given to a primary warring party in a given year, external_alleged is coded as 0.

As such, in all cases where external_alleged is coded as 1, external_exists is coded as 0. Further, in all cases where external exists is coded as 1, external alleged is coded as 0.

In cases where a given external supporter clearly provided a primary warring party/receiver of support with certain types of support in a given year, and, additionally, is only alleged to have provided certain other types of support to the primary warring party in the same year, two entries, with two separate external_id are produced for the given external supporter, one covering only clear types of support, the other covering only alleged types of support.

2.8.3 Variables Identifying the Type of Support Provided by the Supporter

All variables that follow are only coded if either external_exists or external_alleged are coded as 1. Otherwhise, these values of these variables is left empty (NULL).

The following types are distinguished by UCDP, identified by a name, and a literal (a single-letter code defining the type of support): Troops as secondary warring party (literal X), Access to Territory (literal L), Access to military or intelligence infrastructure (literal Y), Weapons (literal W), Materiel/Logistics (literal M), Training/Expertise (literal T), Funding/Economic Support (literal

), Intelligence material (literal I), Other forms of support (literal O), Unknown support (literal U). Each type of support Intelligence material (literal I), Other forms of support (literal I), Unknown support (liter

2.8.3.1 Troops as Secondary Warring Party (external_type_x)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_type_x
Original tag: external_type_X

Description:

This type of support indicates that a state has sent combat troops to fight alongside a primary warring

party. This category corresponds to what UCDP in other places call secondary warring support. Note that this does not apply to troops sent as technicians in support of equipment sent or loaned (which would be coded as M-Materiel/logistics or W-Weapons), or to military trainers, military specialists, planners, experts etc. (which would be coded as T-Training/Expertise). Further, this DOES NOT covers joint ops or alliances between non-state entities, or between a non-state external supporter and a government primary warring party or if the secondary supporter is engaged on its own in a conflict with a common enemy (it is then coded as Y-access to military and intelligence infrastructure).

2.8.3.2 Access to Military or Intelligence Infrastructure or Joint Operations (external_type_y)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_type_y
Original tag: external_type_Y
Description:

This type of support is coded when a supporter allows a warring party to use its own military infrastructure as if it would be integrated within the warring party's chain of command. This translates in the external supporter permitting the primary warring party, in some way or another, to use some part of their military infrastructure (bases, intelligence gathering stations etc.) as if it were their own, while stopping short of sending troops to fight alongside the primary warring party.

Alliances between rebel groups and joint operations by two governments against a rebel group, where each of the two governments is a primary warring party in two separate conflicts against that same non- state group are also counted as Y-Access to military or intelligence infrastructure.

Examples of support coded as Y-Access to military or intelligence infrastructure include treaties allowing for joint intelligence operation, such as Plan Condor, a joint coordination effort by the militaries of a number of South American dictatorships with a goal of eliminating leftist groups, leases of bases belonging to the external supporter or joint co-ordination/planning of operations by two rebel groups.

2.8.3.3 Access to Territory (external_type_l)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_type_l
Original tag: external_type_L
Description:

This type of support covers support, by which an actor allows a warring party to set bases on the territory it controls, permits sanctuary or cross-border military action for the supported warring party or in any other way concedes its full sovereignty in favor of a supported party. Access to territory is only coded when it is clear that the support was intentional. Subsequently,

in the many states in Sub Saharan Africa or South Asia where borders are very porous and there is no or very limited control in densely forested or desert areas, it is not enough to find evidence that a group for instance had bases on a 'supporter's' territory, but actual proof of intent is needed.

2.8.3.4 Weapons (external_type_w)

```
Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_type_w
Original tag: external_type_W
```

Description:

Support covered here includes donations, transfers, supplies or loans of weapons or ammunition of any kind. Sales on conciliatory terms (such as deferred payments, offsets beyond what could be expected under terms of standard commercial agreements) are included in this category. Note that this variable is not coded for sales of weaponry between governments in accordance to standard commercial terms.

2.8.3.5 Materiel/Logistics Support (external_type_m)

```
Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_type_m
Original tag: external_type_M
Description:
```

A range of different types of support is covered in this variable. Typical support covered by this category include non-weaponry and non-ammunition supplies that are used in conjunction with direct military operations and serve direct military purposes (vehicles, uniforms, tents, field hospitals, etc.). This includes technology that is not directly a weapons system (radars, night vision technology, construction bulldozers etc.).

Also included is logistics assistance (including troops transport), as well as repair and support facilities for advanced weaponry (such as aircraft, rocketry, tanks), including technicians or operators of such.

2.8.3.6 Training/Expertise (external_type_t)

```
Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_type_t Original tag: external_type_T Description:
```

This variable covers training of any kind, both in situ and in the supporter's country. Furthermore, expert personnel and foreign military advisers present at HQ level or not directly engaged in combat operations are included in this category of assistance.

2.8.3.7 Funding and Economic Support (external_type_dollar)

```
Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_type_dollar Original tag: external_type_
Description:
```

This type of support covers any form of economic aid that was extended by an external supporter in order to be used to fund the waging of the armed conflict or is given to the warring party. This includes military loans, military grants, and military/defense to be used towards improving the capabilities of the military. This also includes intercession or support in front of multilateral financial institutions (such as the WB or the IMF) or other lenders. Note that this type of support typically does not include humanitarian, development or balance of payments aid/loans.

2.8.3.8 Intelligence (external_type_i)

```
Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_type_i
Original tag: external_type_I
Description:
```

This form of support covers any form of intelligence material presented by an external

supporter (maps regarding positions of the enemy, cryptographic codes and keys, satellite imagery, signals intelligence of any kind, information on troop capability, data on whereabouts of rebel leaders etc.).

Note that this includes only information provided as such by the external supporter. If a supporter gives the warring party the possibility to utilize (at will) the capacities of the supporter's intelligence infrastructure (i.e., gives access to a primary party to use a satellite to gather intelligence as they see fit), this is coded as Y-Access to military or intelligence infrastructure.

2.8.3.9 Other Forms of Support (external_type_o)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_type_o

Original tag: external_type_O

Description:

This form of support includes types not covered in the previous categories, such as e.g. recruitment opportunities, running, harboring and/or funding a radio station belonging to a rebel group, intermediating transfers of weaponry, etc.

2.8.3.10 Unknown Type of Support (external_type_u)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_type_u

Original tag: external_type_U

Description:

This form of support is coded when reliable sources talk of support but do not specify of what type.

2.8.3.11 Description of the Type of Support Provided (external_type_text)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_type_text

Original tag: external type text

Description:

text. external_type_text contains an English-language description of the types of support provided by an external supporter, for added legibility of the dataset. Each type of support provided by an external supporter is listed in the cell using standardised phrasing.

The 10 standard phrases are: Troops as secondary warring party, Access to Territory, Access to military or intelligence infrastructure, Weapons, Materiel/Logistics, Training/Expertise, Funding/Economic Support, Intelligence material, Other forms of support, check codebook, Support exists, but is of unknown type.

e.g. if variables external_X, external_W, external_M, external_T, external_arecoded1 for a given entry, the rest being 0, this variable will contain :

Troops as secondary warring party, We apons, Materiel/Logistics, Training/Expertise, Funding/Economic Superfixed Funding/Economic Superfixed

2.8.3.12 External Support Code as Regular Expression (external_type_code)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_dis_supporter_external_type_code

Original tag: external_type_code

Description:

text/regular expression. This variable expresses the type of support offered by an external supporter as a regular expression that can be used by advanced text-processing and pattern matching tools (such as awk and grep). Each type of support is expressed by its literal identifier: $X,L,Y,W,M,T,I,O,U.Ifthesupportisonly alleged (external_alleged =$

1), the expression is bracketed. Further, the order the literal identifiers appear in is consistent, being the one shown of the expression of the expressi

 $ex.1: ifvariables external_X, external_W, external_M, external_T, external$ are coded 1 for a given entry, the rest being 0, external_alleged being 0 and external_exists being 1 and this variable will contain XWMT.

ex.2

 $ifvariables external_{I}$, $external_{L}$, $external_{I}$, are coded 1 for a given entry, the rest being 0, $external_{a} lleged being <math>0$ and 0 are the rest being 0, 0 and 0 are the rest being 0, 0 and 0 are the rest being 0, 0 and 0 are the rest being 0 are the rest being 0 and 0 are the rest being 0 and

 $ex.3: ifvariablesexternal_L, external_O$, external_O, are coded 1 for a given entry, the rest being 0, external_alleged being 1 and external_exists being 0 and this variable will contain (LO).

2.9 UCDP External Support – Primary Warring Party Dataset

Dataset tag: ucdp_extsup_warring

Description: A dataset providing information on the existence, type, and provider of external support for all warring parties (actors) coded as active in UCDP data, on an annual basis, between 1975 and 2009.

The External Support – Primary Warring Party Dataset is best suited for analysis from the perspective of the receiver of support, as long as the analysis does not require the exclusion or inclusion of supporters, or the distinction of who supplied what.

Dataset citation:

Högbladh, Stina, Therése Pettersson Lotta Themnér (2011) External Support in Armed Conflict 1975–2009. Presenting new data. Paper presented at the 52nd Annual International Studies Association Convention, Montreal, Canada, 16-19 March 2011.

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.9.1 Identification Variables

These variables identify the conflicting parties using the UCDP ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads.

2.9.1.1 Yearly Warring Party ID (ywp_id)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_extsup_warring_ywp_id$

Original tag: ywp_id

Description:

numeric (4-digit positive integer). An identifier for each individual primary warring party active in a given year in a given conflict. ywp_id is year-specific, i.e., it is different for the same primary warring party in different years.

2.9.1.2 Year of Observation (ywp_year)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_ywp_year

Original tag: ywp_year

Description:

numeric (4-digit positive integer). Year of observation. The current dataset covers the 1975-2009 periods, containing all years in which warring parties have been active in the UCDP datasets.

2.9.1.3 Name of primary warring party or receiver of support (ywp_name)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_ywp_name

Original tag: ywp_name

Description:

string. Name of the actor (primary warring party/receiver of support), as listed in the UCDP Actor dataset.

2.9.1.4 ID of the primary warring party/receiver of support (actorid)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_actorid

Original tag: actorID

Description:

numeric (4-digit positive integer). The unique identifier of the individual actor (primary warring party/receiver of support), as listed in the UCDP Actor dataset version 2.1-2010.

2.9.1.5 Conflict ID (UCDP database) (bc_id)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_bc_id

Original tag: bc id

Description:

numeric (3-digit positive integer). One of two unique identifiers of the armed conflict in which the primary warring party is involved during the dyad-year. bc_id corresponds to the conflict IDs assigned by the UCDP database.

2.9.1.6 Conflict ID (UCDP datasets) (conflictid)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_conflictid

Original tag: conflictID

Description:

numeric (3-digit positive integer). One of two unique identifiers of the armed conflict in which the primary warring party is involved during the dyad-year. conflictID corresponds to the conflict IDs used in the UCDP/Prio Dataset and the UCDP Dyadic dataset.

2.9.1.7 Conflict Name (bc_name)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_bc_name

Original tag: bc_name

Description:

string. Name of the conflict, same as listed in the UCDP database and UCDP/Prio Dataset.

2.9.1.8 Country One (country1)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_country1

Original tag: country1

Description:

text. In case of intrastate conflict, the name of the country where the government is being challenged or where a territory is being claimed. In case of interstate conflict, the name of one of the states involved in the conflict.

2.9.1.9 Location ID One (locationid1)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_locationid1

Original tag: locationid1

Description:

numeric (3-digit positive integer). Numeric country code corresponding to country1 variable. The country codes in use correspond to those used by the UCDP database, UCDP Actor Dataset, UCDP/Prio Dataset and UCDP Dyadic Dataset and are compatible with the country codes employed by the Correlates of War Project and to those used by the Gleditsch and Ward Interstate System.

2.9.1.10 Country One (country2)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_country2

Original tag: country2

Description:

text. In case of intrastate conflict, this value is empty (NULL). In case of interstate conflict, the name of the other state involved in the conflict.

2.9.1.11 Location ID Two (locationid2)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_locationid2

Original tag: locationid2

Description:

numeric (3-digit positive integer). Numeric country code corresponding to country2 variable. The value of the variable is empty (NULL) if the value of country2 is empty (NULL). The country codes in use correspond to those used by the UCDP database, UCDP Actor Dataset, UCDP/Prio Dataset and UCDP Dyadic Dataset and are compatible with the country codes employed by the Correlates of War Project and to those used by the Gleditsch and Ward Interstate System.

2.9.1.12 Dyad ID (bwd_id)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_bwd_id

Original tag: bwd id

Description:

numeric (4-digit positive integer). The unique identifier of the dyad in which the primary warring party is involved, as listed in the UCDP Dyadic Dataset.

2.9.1.13 Dyad Name (bwd_name)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_bwd_name

 $Original\ tag:\ bwd_name$

Description:

text. The name of the dyad in which the primary warring party is involved, as listed in the UCDP Dyadic Dataset.

2.9.2 Variables Identifying the External Supporter

All variables that follow are only coded if either external_exists or external_alleged are coded as 1. Otherwhise, these values of these variables is left empty (NULL).

2.9.2.1 External Support Exists (external_exists)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_external_exists

Original tag: external_exists

Description:

dummy variable (missing values coded as -1). The variable takes the value of 1 if a primary warring

party/receiver of support received any form of external support from a given supporter in a given year.

Additionally, missing/unclear/incomplete values (-1) may contain entries on types of support (see below). However, these entries are not complete and, possibly, lack reliability. Significant future work is planned on these entries for future releases of the dataset.

2.9.2.2 External Support is Alleged (external_alleged)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_external_alleged

Original tag: external_alleged

Description:

dummy variable. The variable takes the value of 1 if there are allegations of external support that a primary warring party received certain forms of external support from a given external supporter in a given year, but no clear evidence of that support has been found.

Otherwise, if either evidence of clearly established external support from a given warring party exists, or if there is no support given to a primary warring party in a given year, external_alleged is coded as 0.

As such, in all cases where external_alleged is coded as 1, external_exists is coded as 0. Further, in all cases where external_exists is coded as 1, external_alleged is coded as 0.

In cases where a given external supporter clearly provided a primary warring party/receiver of support with certain types of support in a given year, and, additionally, is only alleged to have provided certain other types of support to the primary warring party in the same year, two entries, with two separate external_id are produced for the given external supporter, one covering only clear types of support, the other covering only alleged types of support.

2.9.2.3 Name of External Supporter (external_name)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_external_name

Original tag: external_name

Description:

This variable lists the name of the external party providing support to a primary warring party in the incident of support coded.

Names are similar to those used in the UCDP Actor Dataset, with the following differences:

- In case of governmental supporters, the particle 'Government of' has been dropped. Standardized forms are used for a number of states, such as United States, Soviet Union, East Germany, West Germany, North Korea, South Korea, North Yemen, South Yemen and United Kingdom.
- The names of supporters, as used in the current dataset, are the names of both states and non-state groups as were current in the year when they provided external support.

2.9.2.4 External Support Code as Regular Expression (external_code)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_extsup_warring_external_code$

Original tag: external_code

Description:

text/regular expression. This variable expresses the type of support offered by all external supporters as a regular expression that can be used by advanced text-processing and pattern matching tools (such as awk and grep). Each type of support is expressed in a code formed by

the literal identifiers

(X,L,Y,W,M,T,,I,O,U) indicating the type of support given (see section 5.15 for details). If the support is only all egals, the expression is bracketed. Further, the order the literal identifiers appear in is consistent, being the one shown of the expression of

2.9.2.5 Name of Supporter and Type of Support Provided (external_type)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_external_type

Original tag: external type

Description:

text. Contains an English-language description of external supporters together with the types of support provided by them, for added legibility of the dataset. Each type of support provided by an external supporter is listed in the cell using standardized phrasing.

The general format of the text is: (It is alleged that) external supporter 1 supported receiver of support with types of support. (It is alleged that) external supporter 2 supported receiver of support with types of support....

The 10 standard phrases for types of support are: Troops as secondary warring party, Access to Territory, Access to military or intelligence infrastructure, Weapons, Materiel/Logistics, Training/Expertise, Funding/Economic Support, Intelligence material, Other forms of support, check codebook, Support exists, but is of unknown type.

Note that if you need to process the type of support provided by external supporters to various receivers of support, it is easier to use the External Support – Disaggregated/Supporter Level Dataset

2.9.3 Variables Identifying the Type of Support Provided by the Supporter

All variables that follow are only coded if either external exists or external alleged are coded as 1. Otherwhise, these values of these variables is left empty (NULL).

The following types are distinguished by UCDP, identified by a name, and a literal (a single-letter code defining the type of support): Troops as secondary warring party (literal X), Access to Territory (literal L), Access to military or intelligence infrastructure (literal Y), Weapons (literal W), Materiel/Logistics (literal M), Training/Expertise (literal T), Funding/Economic Support

), Intelligence material (literal I), Other forms of support (literal O), Unknown support (literal U). Each type of support is a support of support in the support of support is a support of support in the support of support is a support of support in the support of support is a support of support in the support of support is a support of support in the support of support is a support of support in the support of support is a support of support in the support of support is a support in the support of support in the support is a support in the support is a support in the support of support in the support in the support in the support in the support is a support in the support

2.9.3.1 Troops as Secondary Warring Party (external_type_x)

```
Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_external_type__x
Original tag: external_type_X
Description:
```

This type of support indicates that a state has sent combat troops to fight alongside a primary

party. This category corresponds to what UCDP in other places call secondary warring support. Note that this does not apply to troops sent as technicians in support of equipment sent or loaned (which would be coded as M-Materiel/logistics or W-Weapons), or to military trainers, military specialists, planners, experts etc. (which would be coded as T-Training/Expertise). Further, this DOES NOT covers joint ops or alliances between non-state entities, or between a non-state external supporter and a government primary warring party or if the secondary supporter is engaged on its own in a conflict with a common enemy (it is then coded as Y-access to military and intelligence infrastructure).

2.9.3.2 Access to Territory (external_type_l)

```
Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_external_type__l
Original tag: external type L
Description:
```

This type of support covers support, by which an actor allows a warring party to set bases on the territory it controls, permits sanctuary or cross-border military action for the supported warring party or in any other way concedes its full sovereignty in favor of a supported party. Access to territory is only coded when it is clear that the support was intentional. Subsequently, in the many states in Sub Saharan Africa or South Asia where borders are very porous and there is no or very limited control in densely forested or desert areas, it is not enough to find evidence that a group for instance had bases on a 'supporter's' territory, but actual proof of intent is needed.

2.9.3.3 Access to Military or Intelligence Infrastructure or Joint Operations (external_type_y)

```
Long tag: ucdp extsup warring external type y
Original tag: external type Y
Description:
```

This type of support is coded when a supporter allows a warring party to use its own military infrastructure as if it would be integrated within the warring party's chain of command. This translates in the external supporter permitting the primary warring party, in some way or another, to use some part of their military infrastructure (bases, intelligence gathering stations etc.) as if it were their own, while stopping short of sending troops to fight alongside the primary warring party.

Alliances between rebel groups and joint operations by two governments against a rebel group, where each of the two governments is a primary warring party in two separate conflicts against that same non- state group are also counted as Y-Access to military or intelligence infrastructure.

Examples of support coded as Y-Access to military or intelligence infrastructure include

treaties allowing for joint intelligence operation, such as Plan Condor, a joint coordination effort by the militaries of a number of South American dictatorships with a goal of eliminating leftist groups, leases of bases belonging to the external supporter or joint co-ordination/planning of operations by two rebel groups.

2.9.3.4 Weapons (external_type_w)

```
Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_external_type__w
Original tag: external_type W
```

Description:

Support covered here includes donations, transfers, supplies or loans of weapons or ammunition of any kind. Sales on conciliatory terms (such as deferred payments, offsets beyond what could be expected under terms of standard commercial agreements) are included in this category. Note that this variable is not coded for sales of weaponry between governments in accordance to standard commercial terms.

2.9.3.5 Materiel/Logistics Support (external_type_m)

```
Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_external_type__m
Original tag: external_type_M
Description:
```

A range of different types of support is covered in this variable. Typical support covered by this category include non-weaponry and non-ammunition supplies that are used in conjunction with direct military operations and serve direct military purposes (vehicles, uniforms, tents, field hospitals, etc.). This includes technology that is not directly a weapons system (radars, night vision technology, construction bulldozers etc.).

Also included is logistics assistance (including troops transport), as well as repair and support facilities for advanced weaponry (such as aircraft, rocketry, tanks), including technicians or operators of such.

2.9.3.6 Training/Expertise (external_type_t)

```
Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_external_type__t
Original tag: external_type_T
Description:
```

This variable covers training of any kind, both in situ and in the supporter's country. Furthermore, expert personnel and foreign military advisers present at HQ level or not directly engaged in combat operations are included in this category of assistance.

2.9.3.7 Funding and Economic Support (external_type_dollar)

```
Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_external_type__dollar
Original tag: external_type__
Description:
```

This type of support covers any form of economic aid that was extended by an external supporter in order to be used to fund the waging of the armed conflict or is given to the warring party. This includes military loans, military grants, and military/defense to be used towards improving the capabilities of the military. This also includes intercession or support in front of multilateral financial institutions (such as the WB or the IMF) or other lenders. Note that this type of support typically does not include humanitarian, development or balance of payments aid/loans.

2.9.3.8 Intelligence (external_type_i)

```
Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_external_type__i
Original tag: external_type_I
Description:
```

This form of support covers any form of intelligence material presented by an external

supporter (maps regarding positions of the enemy, cryptographic codes and keys, satellite imagery, signals intelligence of any kind, information on troop capability, data on whereabouts of rebel leaders etc.).

Note that this includes only information provided as such by the external supporter. If a supporter gives the warring party the possibility to utilize (at will) the capacities of the supporter's intelligence infrastructure (i.e., gives access to a primary party to use a satellite to gather intelligence as they see fit), this is coded as Y-Access to military or intelligence infrastructure.

${\bf 2.9.3.9}\quad {\bf Other\ Forms\ of\ Support\ (external_type_o)}$

 ${\it Long~tag:}~ {\rm ucdp_extsup_warring_external_type__o}$

Original tag: external_type_O

Description:

This form of support includes types not covered in the previous categories, such as e.g. recruitment opportunities, running, harboring and/or funding a radio station belonging to a rebel group, intermediating transfers of weaponry, etc.

${\bf 2.9.3.10}\quad {\bf Unknown\ Type\ of\ Support\ (external_type_u)}$

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_external_type__u

Original tag: external_type_U

Description:

This form of support is coded when reliable sources talk of support but do not specify of what type.

2.9.3.11 Comments on External Support (external_comment)

Long tag: ucdp_extsup_warring_external_comment

Original tag: external_comment

Description:

text. This variable contains freeform comments included by the coders. The field could contain contextual information of various kinds, historical data, magnitude or level of support, the overall effect the support had on the conflict, coding information etc.

2.10 UCDP External Support in Non-state Conflict Dataset

 $Dataset\ tag:\ ucdp_extsupp$

Description: A dyad-year dataset containing information on external support in non-state conflict. The dataset covers non-state conflicts in Africa, 1989-2011 and is compatible with the UCDP Non-State Conflict Dataset v. 2.5-2016.

The data builds on and extends the UCDP External Support Dataset and the UCDP Non-State Conflict Dataset by introducing additional information on external support to warring parties in non-state conflicts.

$Dataset\ citation:$

Nina von Uexkull Therese Pettersson (2018) Issues and Actors in African Nonstate Conflicts: A New Data Set. International Interactions. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/03050629.2018.1493478

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.10.1 Identifiers

These variables identify the conflicting parties using the UCDP ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads.

2.10.1.1 Dyad Old ID (dyad_id)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_dyad_id

Original tag: dyad_id

Description:

The identifier of the Non-state conflict. This version of the External Support in Non-state Conflict Dataset is compatible with the UCDP Non-state Conflict Dataset v.2.5-2016. In 2017 the ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads was changed in order to make it unique across all UCDP core datasets and all UCDP types of violence. This variable corresponds to the Dyad ID reported in the v.2.5-2016 Dataset. For the Dyad ID according to the new ID system, please consult the dyadid_new variable.

2.10.1.2 Dyad New ID (dyadid_new)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_dyadid_new

Original tag: dyadid new

Description:

The unique identifier of the Non-state conflict.

This version of the External Support in Non-state Conflict Dataset is compatible with the UCDP Non-state Conflict Dataset v.2.5-2016. In 2017 the ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads was changed in order to make it unique across all UCDP core datasets and all UCDP types of violence. This variable contains information on the Dyad ID according to the new ID system. To download a conversion table containing new and old IDs, visit http://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/.

2.10.1.3 Side A Name (side_a_name)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_side_a

Original tag: side_a_name

Description:

The party that constitute Side A in the conflict. For each conflict the parties are listed in alphabetical order, using the latest known names of the parties involved.

2.10.1.4 Side A ID (side_a_id)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_side_a_id

Original tag: side_a_id

Description:

The ID of the groups that make up Side A. For conflicts

with multiple actors fighting together a temporary coalition ID has been assigned.

This version of the External Support in Non-state Conflict Dataset is compatible with the UCDP Non-state Conflict Dataset v.2.5-2016. In 2017 the ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads was changed in order to make it unique across all UCDP core datasets and all UCDP types of violence. This variable corresponds to the Side A ID reported in the v.2.5-2016 Dataset. To download a conversion table containing new and old IDs, visit http://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/.

2.10.1.5 Side B Name (side_b_name)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_side_b

Original tag: side b name

Description:

The party that constitute Side B in the conflict. For each conflict the parties are listed in alphabetical order, using the latest known names of the parties involved.

2.10.1.6 Side B ID (side_b_id)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_side_b_id

Original tag: side b id

Description:

The ID of the groups that make up Side B. For conflicts with multiple actors fighting together a temporary coalition ID has been assigned.

This version of the External Support in Non-state Conflict Dataset is compatible with the UCDP Non-state Conflict Dataset v.2.5-2016. In 2017 the ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads was changed in order to make it unique across all UCDP core datasets and all UCDP types of violence. This variable corresponds to the Side B ID reported in the v.2.5-2016 Dataset. To download a conversion table containing new and old IDs, visit http://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/.

2.10.2 Organizational Actor Level

Variables in this section describe the organizational level of the warring sides.

2.10.2.1 Organizational Level (org)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_org

Original tag: org

Description:

This variable indicates the organizational level of the warring sides. The level of organization is determined according to the following categories:

Organizational level 1 (formally organized groups): Rebel groups and other organized groups that have a high enough level of organization so as to be possible to include in the state-based armed conflict category. These include rebel groups with an announced name, as well as military factions (Forces of...). This level of organization captures fighting between highly organized rebel groups and fatalities are recorded according to the criteria set for battle-related deaths in the state-based conflict category.

Organizational level 2 (informally organized groups): Groups composed of supporters and affiliates to political parties and candidates. These are commonly not groups that are permanently organized for combat, but who at times use their organizational structures for such purposes. Battle-related deaths are recorded according to section 3.2.a of the definition of non-state conflict.

Organizational level 3 (informally organized groups): Groups that share a common identification along ethnic, clan, religious, national or tribal lines. These are not groups that are permanently organized for combat, but who at times organize themselves along said lines to engage in fighting. This level of organization captures aspects of what is commonly referred to as 'communal conflicts', in that conflict stands along lines of communal identity. Battle-related deaths are recorded according to section 3.2.a of the definition of non-state conflict.

2.10.3 Support

Variables in this section give information on whether the conflicting parties receive support form external actors.

2.10.3.1 Side A Components (side_a_components)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_side_a_components

Original tag: side_a_components

Description:

For conflicts with multiple actors fighting together, the actors' separate Actor IDs are listed in this variable and separated by a comma.

2.10.3.2 Supporters of Side A (support a)

```
Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_support_a
```

Original tag: support a

Description:

support_a is a binary variable that codes whether the actor listed in Side A received support from an external actor during the year. The variable takes the value of 1 if Side A received any form of clearly established external support from one or more external supporter(s) in a given year. If not, a 0 is coded.

2.10.3.3 Alleged Supporters of Side A (support_a_alleged)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_support_a_alleged

Original tag: support a alleged

Description:

support_a_alleged is a binary variable that codes whether there are only allegations that the actor listed in Side A received support from an external actor during the year. The variable takes the value of 1 if only alleged support has been found for Side A in a given year. If not, a 0 is coded. If there is clearly established external support (shown in the variable support_a), this variable takes the value of 0.

2.10.3.4 Side B Components (side_b_components)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_side_b_components

Original tag: side b components

Description:

For conflicts with multiple actors fighting together, the actors' separate Actor IDs, are listed in this variable and separated by a comma.

2.10.3.5 Supporters of Side B (support_b)

Long tag: ucdp extsupp support b

Original tag: support_b

Description:

support_b is a binary variable that codes whether the actor listed in Side B received support from an external actor during the year. The variable takes the value of 1 if Side B received any form of clearly established external support from one or more external supporter(s) in a given year. If not, a 0 is coded.

2.10.3.6 Alleged Supporters of Side B (support_b_alleged)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_support_b_alleged

Original tag: support_b_alleged

Description:

support_b_alleged is a binary variable that codes whether there are only allegations that the actor listed in Side B received support from an external actor during the year. The variable takes the value of 1 if only alleged support has been found for Side B in a given year. If not, a 0 is coded. If there is clearly established external support (shown in the variable support_b), this variable takes the value of 0.

2.10.3.7 Confirmed Support (support confirmed)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_support_confirmed

Original tag: support_confirmed

Description:

support_confirmed is a binary variable that codes whether any support from an external actor was confirmed in a given dyad in a given year, The variable takes the value of 1 if Side A, Side B, or both, received any form of clearly established external support from one or more external supporter(s) in a given year. If not, a 0 is coded.

2.10.3.8 Any Support (support_any)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_support_any

Original tag: support_any

Description:

support_any is a binary variable that codes whether any support from an external actor, confirmed or alleged, was registered in a given dyad in a given year, The variable takes the value of 1 if Side A, Side B, or both, received any form of clearly established external support, or alleged support, from one or more external supporter(s) in a given year. If not, a 0 is coded.

2.10.4 Timely Dimension

These variables provide information on when the conflict takes place.

2.10.4.1 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_year

Original tag: year

Description:

The year of observation.

2.10.5 Geographical Information

These variables provide information on where the conflict takes place.

2.10.5.1 Location (location)

Long tag: ucdp_extsupp_location

Original tag: location

Description:

The countries where fighting took place in the dyad-year. Comma-separated if multiple.

2.11 UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (GED)

Dataset tag: ucdp ged

Description: This dataset is UCDP's most disaggregated dataset, covering individual events of organized violence (phenomena of lethal violence occurring at a given time and place). These events are sufficiently fine-grained to be geo-coded down to the level of individual villages, with temporal durations disaggregated to single, individual days.

Dataset citation:

Pettersson, Therese, Shawn Davis, Amber Deniz, Garoun Engström, Nanar Hawach, Stina Högbladh, Margareta Sollenberg Magnus Öberg (2021). Organized violence 1989-2020, with a special emphasis on Syria. *Journal of Peace Research*, 58(4).

Sundberg, Ralph and Erik Melander (2013) Introducing the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset. Journal of Peace Research, 50(4).

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.11.1 Indentifier Variables

This section provides unique identifiers for every event (row/entry) in the dataset. Variables in this section can be used as a unique key for the dataset.

2.11.1.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_id
Original tag: id

Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.11.1.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_relid

Original tag: relid

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.11.1.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict dset id)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.11.1.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_ged_conflict_new_id$

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.11.1.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_dyad_dset_id

 $Original\ tag:\ dyad_dset_id$

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.11.1.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.11.2 Timely Dimension

Each event is defined to have occurred at a certain date. The precision of the dataset is one calendar day, starting at 00:00 (midnight) and ending at 23:59 local time. In many cases, the exact day an event has taken place is impossible to find out with any certainty. In those cases, a temporal precision variable is provided which denotes with what accuracy a specific time period in which the event occurred is known.

2.11.2.1 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_year

Original tag: year

Description:

The year of the event

2.11.2.2 Active Year (active_year)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_active_year

Original tag: active_year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.11.2.3 Date Precision (date_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_date_prec

Original tag: date prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known

5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.11.2.4 Start Date (date_start)

 $Long \ tag: \ ucdp_ged_date_start$

Original tag: date start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

$\mathbf{2.11.2.5} \quad \mathbf{End} \ \mathbf{Date} \ (\mathbf{date_end})$

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_ged_date_end$

Original tag: date_end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.

2.11.2.6 Active Conflict Year (active_year_grouped)

Long tag: ucdp ged active year grouped

Original tag: NA
Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.11.3 Dataset Version

The version of the dataset.

2.11.3.1 Code Status (code_status)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_code_status

Original tag: code status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.11.4 Cause of Conflict

These variables indicate the cause(s) of the conflict.

2.11.4.1 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.11.4.2 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_conflict_name

 $Original\ tag:\ conflict_name$

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.11.5 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.11.5.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_dyad_name

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.11.5.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_side_a_dset_id

Original tag: side a dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.11.5.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp ged side a new id

Original tag: side_a_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.11.5.4 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_side_a

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.11.5.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_ged_side_b_dset_id$

Original tag: side b dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.11.5.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.11.5.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_side_b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.11.5.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.11.5.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.

2.11.6 Sources

This section contains references to the sources underlying each event. See section 4.2 for a description of the data collection processes and source selection process. The full texts of these sources are often copyrighted to news agencies/publishers. If you need to obtain access to the full text of reports, you will either need to re-download them from Factiva/Lexis Nexis or other relevant source provider.5 UCDP does not store the unique identifiers that Factiva, Reuters, AFP etc. assigns to an article, as during the decades-long data collection process we observed such identifiers change multiple times, making them useless for tracing source material directly.

2.11.6.1 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_number_of_sources

Original tag: number_of_sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field.

2.11.6.2 Source Metadata (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_source_article

Original tag: source_article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News,

BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.11.6.3 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_source_office

Original tag: source office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.11.6.4 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp ged source date

Original tag: source_date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.11.6.5 Title (source_headline)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_source_headline

Original tag: source_headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.11.6.6 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_source_original

Original tag: source_original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.11.6.7 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_event_clarity

Original tag: event_clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict".

2.11.7 Geographical Information

Data in the UCDP GED is geo-referenced, meaning that each event is connected to a specific location defined by a pair of latitude and longitude coordinates.

2.11.7.1 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_where_prec

Original tag: where prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

1: exact location of the event known and coded.

- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.11.7.2 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_where_coordinates

Original tag: where coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.11.7.3 Location Comment (where_description)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_where_description

Original tag: where description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.11.7.4 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

Long tag: ucdp ged adm 1

Original tag: adm_1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.11.7.5 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_ged_adm_2$

Original tag: adm_2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.11.7.6 Latitude (latitude)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_latitude

 $Original\ tag:$ latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.11.7.7 Longitude (longitude)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.11.7.8 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_geom_wkt

Original tag: geom_wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT $(well\ known\ text)$ without SRID.

2.11.7.9 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

Variable citation: Tollefsen, Andreas Forø; Håvard Strand & Halvard Buhaug (2012) PRIO-GRID: A Unified Spatial Data Structure, Journal of Peace Research 49(2): 363–374.

2.11.7.10 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.11.7.11 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.11.7.12 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp ged region

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following:

Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East

2.11.8 Fatality Estimates

This section provides fatality figures for each event.

A note on civilian deaths: Civilian deaths can exist in all three categories of violence.

In state-based and non-state violence, civilian deaths count "collateral" killings, i.e. when one or more civilians are killed as an effect of fighting between the two warring parties. At times, such fighting may even result in only the civilian bystanders receiving fatal injuries. Similarly, imprecise shelling or bombing in the context of an armed conflict is coded as state-based violence unless it

is clear (from either reporting or context) that civilians have been explicitly targeted. In one-sided violence, the targeted and killed civilians are always registered in the deaths_civilians column.

This section includes additional variables created for Demscore, that group the fatalities per country and year by the type of violence. These variables are relevant when aggregating the UCDP GED Dataset to a country-year level.

2.11.8.1 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a)

```
Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_a
```

Original tag: deaths_a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.11.8.2 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_b

Original tag: deaths b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.11.8.3 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.11.8.4 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

 $Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_unknown$

Original tag: deaths_unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.11.8.5 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.11.8.6 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp ged high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.11.8.7 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_low

Original tag: low Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.11.8.8 Best Estimate of Deaths due to Nonstate Violence (best_non_state)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_best_non_state

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.11.8.9 Best Estimate of Deaths due to One-Sided Violence (best_one_sided)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_best_one_sided

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.11.8.10 Best Estimate of Deaths due to State-Based Violence (best_state_based)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_best_state_based

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

$2.11.8.11 \ \ \, \text{Best} \ \ \, \text{Estimate} \ \ \, \text{of} \ \ \, \text{Deaths} \ \ \, \text{for} \ \ \, \text{Side} \ \ \, \text{A} \ \ \, \text{due} \ \ \, \text{to} \ \ \, \text{Nonstate} \ \ \, \text{Violence} \ \ \, \text{(deaths_a_non_state)}$

Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_a_non_state

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.11.8.12 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A due to One-Sided Violence (deaths_a_one_sided)

 $Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_a_one_sided$

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.11.8.13 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A due to State-based Violence (deaths_a_state_based)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_a_state_based

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

$2.11.8.14 \quad Best \quad Estimate \quad of \quad Deaths \quad for \quad Side \quad B \quad due \quad to \quad Nonstate \quad Violence \\ (deaths_b_non_state)$

Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_b_non_state

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.11.8.15 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B due to One-Sided Violence (deaths_b_one_sided)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_b_one_sided

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.11.8.16 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B due to State-based Violence (deaths_b_state_based)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_b_state_based

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.11.8.17 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians due to Nonstate Violence (deaths_civilians_non_state)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_civilians_non_state

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

${\bf 2.11.8.18~Best~Estimate~of~Deaths~of~Civilians~due~to~One-Sided~Violence~(deaths_civilians_one_sided)}$

Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_civilians_one_sided

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

${\bf 2.11.8.19~Best~Estimate~of~Deaths~of~Civilians~due~to~State-Based~Violence~(deaths_civilians_state_based)}$

Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_civilians_state_based

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.11.8.20 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons due to Nonstate Violence (deaths_unknown_non_state)

Long tag: ucdp ged deaths unknown non state

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.11.8.21 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons due to One-Sided Violence (deaths_unknown_one_sided)

Long tag: ucdp ged deaths unknown one sided

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

${\bf 2.11.8.22~Best~Estimate~of~Deaths~of~Other~Persons~due~to~State-Based~Violence~(deaths_unknown_state_based)}$

Long tag: ucdp_ged_deaths_unknown_state_based

Original tag: NA

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.11.8.23 Highest Estimate of Deaths due to Nonstate Violence (high_non_state)

Long tag: ucdp ged high non state

Original tag: NA

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.11.8.24 Highest Estimate of Deaths due to One-Sided Violence (high_one_sided)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_high_one_sided

Original tag: NA

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.11.8.25 Highest Estimate of Deaths due to State-Based Violence (high_state_based)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_high_state_based

Original tag: NA

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.11.8.26 Lowest Estimate of Deaths due to Nonstate Violence (low_non_state)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_low_non_state

Original tag: NA
Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.11.8.27 Lowest Estimate of Deaths due to One-Sided Violence (low_one_sided)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_low_one_sided

Original tag: NA
Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.11.8.28 Lowest Estimate of Deaths due to State-Based Violence (low state based)

Long tag: ucdp_ged_low_state_based

Original tag: NA Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.12 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), April 2021

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. Research Politics

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.12.0.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent apr21 id

Original tag: id Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.12.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_relid

Original tag: relid

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.12.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.12.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.12.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_dyad_dset_id

Original tag: dyad_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.12.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent apr21 dyad new id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.12.0.7 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_year

2.12 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), APRIL 2021

Original tag: year

Description:

The year of the event

2.12.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent apr21 active year

Original tag: active year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.12.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_date_prec

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.12.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_apr21_date_start$

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.12.0.11 End Date (date end)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_date_end

Original tag: date_end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.12.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_code_status

Original tag: code_status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.NA

2.12.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.12.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict_name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.12.1 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.12.1.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_dyad_name

Original tag: dyad name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.12.1.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent apr21 side a dset id

Original tag: side_a_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.12.1.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side a new id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.12.1.4 Side A (side_a)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_side_a
```

Original tag: side a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.12.1.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_side_b_dset_id

Original tag: side_b_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.12.1.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.12.1.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_side_b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.12.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.12.1.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.12.1.10 Number of Sources (number of sources)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_number_of_sources

Original tag: number of sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field.

2.12.1.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_source_article

Original tag: source article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News.

BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.12.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_source_office

Original tag: source_office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.12.1.13 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_source_date

Original tag: source date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.12.1.14 Title (source_headline)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_source_headline

Original tag: source_headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.12.1.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_source_original

Original tag: source_original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.12.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_event_clarity

Original tag: event_clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.12.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_where_prec

Original tag: where prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. $25~\mathrm{km}$ radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal

administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.

6: only the country where the event took place in is known.

7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.12.1.18 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_where_coordinates

Original tag: where coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.12.1.19 Location Comment (where_description)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_where_description

Original tag: where description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.12.1.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_adm_1

Original tag: adm 1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.12.1.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_adm_2

 $Original\ tag:\ {\tt adm}_2$

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.12.1.22 Latitude (latitude)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_apr21_latitude$

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.12.1.23 Longitude (longitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.12.1.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_apr21_geom_wkt$

Original tag: geom_wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT $(well\ known\ text)$ without SRID.

2.12.1.25 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.12.1.26 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.12.1.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.12.1.28 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_region

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, $Middle\ East\ NA$

2.12.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths a)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_apr21_deaths_a$

Original tag: deaths_a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.12.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_deaths_b

Original tag: deaths_b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.12.1.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_deaths_civilians

2.13 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), AUGUST 2021

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.12.1.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_deaths_unknown

Original tag: deaths unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.12.1.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent apr21 best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.12.1.34 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.12.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_apr21_low

Original tag: low Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.13 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), August 2021

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation: Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. *Research Politics*

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.13.0.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_id

Original tag: id Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.13.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent aug21 relid

Original tag: relid Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.13.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.13.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.13.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_dyad_dset_id

Original tag: dyad_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.13.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_aug21_dyad_new_id$

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided

Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.13.0.7 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_year

Original tag: year Description:

The year of the event

2.13.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_active_year

Original tag: active year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.13.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_aug21_date_prec$

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.13.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_date_start
```

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.13.0.11 End Date (date_end)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_date_end
```

Original tag: date_end

2.13 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), AUGUST 2021

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.13.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_code_status

Original tag: code_status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.NA

2.13.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

1: state-based conflict

2: non-state conflict

3: one-sided violence

2.13.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict_name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.13.1 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.13.1.1 Dyad Name (dyad name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_dyad_name

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.13.1.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_side_a_dset_id

Original tag: side a dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.13.1.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_side_a_new_id
```

2.13 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), AUGUST 2021

```
Original tag: side_a_new_id
```

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.13.1.4 Side A (side_a)

```
Long\ tag:\ ucdp\_gedevent\_aug21\_side\_a
```

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.13.1.5 Old Side B Identifier (side b dset id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_side_b_dset_id
```

 $Original\ tag:\ side_b_dset_id$

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.13.1.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_side_b_new_id
```

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.13.1.7 Side B (side b)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_side_b
```

Original tag: side b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.13.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_gwnoa
```

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.13.1.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.13.1.10 Number of Sources (number of sources)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_number_of_sources

Original tag: number_of_sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field.

2.13.1.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent aug21 source article

Original tag: source_article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News.

BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.13.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source office)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_source_office

Original tag: source_office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.13.1.13 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_source_date

Original tag: source_date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.13.1.14 Title (source_headline)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_source_headline

Original tag: source headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.13.1.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_source_original

Original tag: source_original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.13.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_event_clarity

Original tag: event_clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.13.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_where_prec

Original tag: where_prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.13.1.18 Location (where coordinates)

```
Long tag: ucdp gedevent aug21 where coordinates
```

Original tag: where_coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.13.1.19 Location Comment (where_description)

```
Long tag: ucdp gedevent aug21 where description
```

Original tag: where description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.13.1.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_adm_1
```

Original tag: adm 1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.13.1.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

```
Long tag: ucdp gedevent aug21 adm 2
```

 $Original\ tag:\ {\tt adm}_2$

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.13.1.22 Latitude (latitude)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_latitude
```

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.13.1.23 Longitude (longitude)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_longitude
```

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.13.1.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_geom_wkt

Original tag: geom_wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT $(well\ known\ text)$ without SRID.

2.13.1.25 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.13.1.26 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.13.1.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.13.1.28 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_region

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.13.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_deaths_a

Original tag: deaths a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.13.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_deaths_b

Original tag: deaths b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.13.1.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.13.1.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_aug21_deaths_unknown$

Original tag: deaths_unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.13.1.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.13.1.34 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.13.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_aug21_low

Original tag: low

Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.14 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), December 2021

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP

Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. Research Politics

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.14.0.1 Identifier (id)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_dec21_id$

Original tag: id
Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.14.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_relid

Original tag: relid

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.14.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.14.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict new id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.14.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_dec21_dyad_dset_id$

Original tag: dyad dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.14.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.14.0.7 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_year

Original tag: year Description:

The year of the event

2.14.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_dec21_active_year$

Original tag: active_year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.14.0.9 Date Precision (date prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_date_prec

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known

- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.14.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_dec21_date_start$

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.14.0.11 End Date (date_end)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_date_end

Original tag: date_end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.14.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_code_status

Original tag: code status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.NA

2.14.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.14.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.14.1 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.14.1.1 Dyad Name (dyad name)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_dec21_dyad_name$

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.14.1.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

```
Long~tag:~ucdp\_gedevent\_dec21\_side\_a\_dset\_id
```

Original tag: side_a_dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.14.1.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side a new id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.14.1.4 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_side_a

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.14.1.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_side_b_dset_id

Original tag: side b dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.14.1.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.14.1.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_side_b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.14.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.14.1.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.14.1.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent dec21 number of sources

 $Original\ tag:\ number_of_sources$

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source** article field.

2.14.1.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_source_article

 $Original\ tag:\ source_article$

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News,

BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.14.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_source_office

Original tag: source office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.14.1.13 Publication Date (source_date)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_dec21_source_date$

Original tag: source date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.14.1.14 Title (source_headline)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent dec21 source headline

Original tag: source_headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.14.1.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_source_original

Original tag: source original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.14.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_event_clarity

Original tag: event_clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently

detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.14.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_where_prec

Original tag: where prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.14.1.18 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_where_coordinates

Original tag: where coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.14.1.19 Location Comment (where_description)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_where_description

Original tag: where_description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.14.1.20 Latitude (latitude)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_dec21_latitude$

Original tag: latitude

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.14.1.21 Longitude (longitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.14.1.22 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent dec21 geom wkt

Original tag: geom_wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT (well known text) without SRID.

2.14.1.23 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (\mathbf{gid}) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.14.1.24 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.14.1.25 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.14.1.26 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_region

 $Original\ tag:$ region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.14.1.27 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a)

```
Long\ tag:\ ucdp\_gedevent\_dec21\_deaths\_a
```

2.14 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), DECEMBER 2021

```
Original tag: deaths_a
```

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.14.1.28 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_deaths_b
```

Original tag: deaths_b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.14.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.14.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_deaths_unknown

Original tag: deaths unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.14.1.31 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.14.1.32 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.14.1.33 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_dec21_low

Original tag: low

Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.15 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), February 2021

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. Research Politics

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.15.0.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_id

Original tag: id

Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.15.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb21 relid

Original tag: relid Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.15.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.15.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_feb21_conflict_new_id$

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.15.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_feb21_dyad_dset_id$

Original tag: dyad_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.15.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.15.0.7 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_year

Original tag: year

Description:

The year of the event

2.15.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_active_year

Original tag: active_year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.15.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_date_prec
```

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.15.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_date_start

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.15.0.11 End Date (date_end)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_date_end

Original tag: date_end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.15.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_code_status

Original tag: code_status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.NA

2.15.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.15.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.15.1 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.15.1.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_feb21_dyad_name$

Original tag: dyad name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.15.1.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb21 side a dset id

Original tag: side_a_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.15.1.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side_a_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.15.1.4 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_side_a

 $Original\ tag:\ side_a$

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.15.1.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_side_b_dset_id

Original tag: side_b_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.15.1.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_side_b_new_id

 $Original\ tag:\ {\tt side_b_new_id}$

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.15.1.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_side_b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.15.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.15.1.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.15.1.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb21 number of sources

Original tag: number_of_sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field.

2.15.1.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_source_article

Original tag: source_article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News, BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse.

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.15.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb21 source office

Original tag: source_office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.15.1.13 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_source_date

Original tag: source_date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.15.1.14 Title (source_headline)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_source_headline

Original tag: source_headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.15.1.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_source_original

Original tag: source original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.15.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_event_clarity

Original tag: event_clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.15.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_where_prec

Original tag: where prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.15.1.18 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_where_coordinates

Original tag: where coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.15.1.19 Location Comment (where_description)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_feb21_where_description$

Original tag: where_description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.15.1.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

```
Long~tag:~ucdp\_gedevent\_feb21\_adm\_1
```

Original tag: adm_1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.15.1.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_adm_2
```

Original tag: adm_2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.15.1.22 Latitude (latitude)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb21 latitude

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.15.1.23 Longitude (longitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.15.1.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb21 geom wkt

Original tag: geom_wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT (well known text) without SRID.

2.15.1.25 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.15.1.26 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.15.1.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.15.1.28 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_region

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, $Middle\ East\ NA$

2.15.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_deaths_a

Original tag: deaths_a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.15.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_deaths_b

Original tag: deaths_b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.15.1.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb21 deaths civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.15.1.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb21 deaths unknown

Original tag: deaths_unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.15.1.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.15.1.34 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.15.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb21_low

Original tag: low Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.16 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), February 2022

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. Research Politics

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.16.0.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_id

Original tag: id
Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.16.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_relid

Original tag: relid

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.16.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.16.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict new id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.16.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_dyad_dset_id

Original tag: dyad_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.16.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.16.0.7 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_year

Original tag: year

Description:

The year of the event

2.16.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb22 active year

Original tag: active_year

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.16.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_date_prec

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.16.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_date_start

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.16.0.11 End Date (date_end)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_date_end

Original tag: date_end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.16.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_feb22_code_status$

Original tag: code_status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.16.1 Cause of Conflict

These variables indicate the cause(s) of the conflict.

2.16.1.1 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb22 type of violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

1: state-based conflict

- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.16.1.2 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.16.2 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.16.2.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb22 dyad name

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.16.2.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_side_a_dset_id

Original tag: side_a_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.16.2.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side_a_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.16.2.4 Side A (side_a)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_side_a
```

Original tag: side_a

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.16.2.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_side_b_dset_id

Original tag: side b dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.16.2.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.16.2.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_side_b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.16.2.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.16.2.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.16.2.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb22 number of sources

Original tag: number_of_sources

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field.

2.16.2.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_feb22_source_article$

Original tag: source article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News,

BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.16.2.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_source_office

Original tag: source_office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.16.2.13 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_source_date

Original tag: source_date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.16.2.14 Title (source headline)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_source_headline

Original tag: source headline

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.16.2.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_source_original

Original tag: source original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.16.2.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb22 event clarity

Original tag: event clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.16.2.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_where_prec

Original tag: where prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without

defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.

6: only the country where the event took place in is known.

7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.16.2.18 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_where_coordinates

Original tag: where_coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.16.2.19 Location Comment (where_description)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_where_description

Original tag: where_description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.16.2.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_adm_1

Original tag: adm_1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.16.2.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_adm_2

Original tag: adm 2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.16.2.22 Latitude (latitude)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_feb22_latitude$

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.16.2.23 Longitude (longitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.16.2.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_geom_wkt

Original tag: geom_wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT $(well\ known\ text)$ without SRID.

2.16.2.25 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.16.2.26 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb22 country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.16.2.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.16.2.28 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_region

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.16.2.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths a)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_feb22_deaths_a$

Original tag: deaths_a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.16.2.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_deaths_b

Original tag: deaths_b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.16.2.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.16.2.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths unknown)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_feb22_deaths_unknown$

Original tag: deaths unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.16.2.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent feb22 best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.16.2.34 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.16.2.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_feb22_low

Original tag: low Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.17 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January to December 2021

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. *Research Politics*

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.17.0.1 Identifier (id)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_id$

Original tag: id

Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.17.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_relid

Original tag: relid

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.17.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.17.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.17.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_dyad_dset_id

Original tag: dyad_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.17.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per

the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.17.0.7 Year (year)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_year
Original tag: year
```

Description:

The year of the event

2.17.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_active_year
```

Original tag: active year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.17.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_date_prec
```

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.17.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_date_start
```

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.17.0.11 End Date (date end)

```
Long~tag:~ucdp\_gedevent\_jan\_dec\_21\_date\_end
```

Original tag: date_end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.17.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

```
Long tag: ucdp gedevent jan dec 21 code status
```

Original tag: code status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.NA

2.17.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

```
Long\ tag:\ ucdp\_gedevent\_jan\_dec\_21\_type\_of\_violence
```

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict: 1: state-based conflict

2: non-state conflict3: one-sided violence

2.17.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.17.1 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.17.1.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_dyad_name

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.17.1.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_side_a_dset_id
```

Original tag: side_a_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.17.1.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side_a_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.17.1.4 Side A (side_a)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_side_a
```

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.17.1.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_side_b_dset_id

Original tag: side_b_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.17.1.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.17.1.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_side_b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.17.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.17.1.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.17.1.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_number_of_sources

Original tag: number of sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field.

2.17.1.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_source_article

Original tag: source_article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News,

BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.17.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_source_office

Original tag: source office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.17.1.13 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_source_date

Original tag: source date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.17.1.14 Title (source headline)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent jan dec 21 source headline

Original tag: source_headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.17.1.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_source_original

Original tag: source_original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.17.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent jan dec 21 event clarity

Original tag: event_clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.17.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_where_prec$

Original tag: where prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.17.1.18 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_where_coordinates

Original tag: where_coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.17.1.19 Location Comment (where_description)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_where_description

Original tag: where_description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.17.1.20 First Administrative Division (adm 1)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_adm_1

Original tag: adm_1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.17.1.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_adm_2

Original tag: adm_2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.17.1.22 Latitude (latitude)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_latitude$

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.17.1.23 Longitude (longitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.17.1.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_geom_wkt

Original tag: geom_wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT $(well\ known\ text)$ without SRID.

2.17.1.25 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid **1** and **2**.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.17.1.26 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.17.1.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.17.1.28 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_region

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.17.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_deaths_a

Original tag: deaths a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.17.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_deaths_b

Original tag: deaths b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.17.1.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.17.1.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_deaths_unknown

Original tag: deaths_unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.17.1.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.17.1.34 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.17.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan_dec_21_low

Original tag: low

Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.18 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2021

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes

2.18 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), JANUARY 2021

available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. Research Politics

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.18.0.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_id

Original tag: id
Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.18.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_relid

Original tag: relid

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.18.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.18.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict new id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.18.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_jan21_dyad_dset_id$

Original tag: dyad dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.18.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.18.0.7 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_year

Original tag: year Description:

The year of the event

2.18.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_jan21_active_year$

Original tag: active_year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.18.0.9 Date Precision (date prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_date_prec

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known

- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.18.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_date_start

Original tag: date start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.18.0.11 End Date (date_end)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_date_end

Original tag: date_end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.18.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_code_status

Original tag: code status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.NA

2.18.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.18.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict_name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.18.1 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.18.1.1 Dyad Name (dyad name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_dyad_name

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.18.1.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

```
Long\ tag:\ ucdp\_gedevent\_jan21\_side\_a\_dset\_id
```

 $Original\ tag: side_a_dset\ id$

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.18.1.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side a new id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.18.1.4 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_side_a

 $Original\ tag:\ side_a$

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.18.1.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_side_b_dset_id

Original tag: side b dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.18.1.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.18.1.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_side_b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.18.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.18.1.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.18.1.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent jan21 number of sources

 $Original\ tag:\ number_of_sources$

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source** article field.

2.18.1.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_jan21_source_article$

Original tag: source_article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News,

BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.18.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_source_office

Original tag: source office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.18.1.13 Publication Date (source_date)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_jan21_source_date$

Original tag: source date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the source_article field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.18.1.14 Title (source_headline)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent jan21 source headline

Original tag: source_headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.18.1.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_source_original

Original tag: source original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.18.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_event_clarity

Original tag: event_clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently

detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.18.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_where_prec

Original tag: where_prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.18.1.18 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_where_coordinates

Original tag: where coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.18.1.19 Location Comment (where_description)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_where_description

Original tag: where_description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.18.1.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_adm_1
Original tag: adm_1
```

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.18.1.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_adm_2
```

Original tag: adm 2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.18.1.22 Latitude (latitude)

```
Long~tag:~ucdp\_gedevent\_jan21\_latitude
```

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.18.1.23 Longitude (longitude)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_longitude
```

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.18.1.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_geom_wkt

 $Original\ tag:\ {\rm geom_wkt}$

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT $(well\ known\ text)$ without SRID.

${\bf 2.18.1.25 \quad PRIO\text{-}gid\ Cell\ ID\ of\ Event\ (priogrid_gid)}$

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.18.1.26 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.18.1.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_country_id
```

```
Original tag: country_id
```

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.18.1.28 Region (region)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_region
```

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.18.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_deaths_a
```

Original tag: deaths a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.18.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_deaths_b

Original tag: deaths_b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.18.1.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.18.1.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_deaths_unknown

Original tag: deaths_unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.18.1.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.18.1.34 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan21_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.18.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent jan21 low

Original tag: low Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.19 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), January 2022

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. Research Politics

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.19.0.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_id

Original tag: id

Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.19.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_relid

Original tag: relid

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.19.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.19.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_conflict_new_id
```

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.19.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_dyad_dset_id

Original tag: dyad_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.19.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.19.0.7 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_year

Original tag: year

Description:

The year of the event

2.19.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_active_year

Original tag: active_year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.19.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_date_prec

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known:
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.19.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_date_start

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.19.0.11 End Date (date_end)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_date_end

Original tag: date_end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.19.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_code_status

Original tag: code status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.19.1 Cause of Conflict

These variables indicate the cause(s) of the conflict.

2.19.1.1 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.19.1.2 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.19.2 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.19.2.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_jan22_dyad_name$

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.19.2.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_side_a_dset_id

Original tag: side a dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.19.2.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent jan22 side a new id

Original tag: side_a_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.19.2.4 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_side_a

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.19.2.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_side_b_dset_id

Original tag: side b dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.19.2.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.19.2.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_side_b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.19.2.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_jan22_gwnoa$

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.19.2.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.19.2.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_number_of_sources

Original tag: number_of_sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field.

2.19.2.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_source_article

Original tag: source article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News, BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.19.2.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent jan22 source office

Original tag: source office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.19.2.13 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent jan22 source date

Original tag: source_date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.19.2.14 Title (source_headline)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_source_headline

Original tag: source_headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.19.2.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_source_original

Original tag: source original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.19.2.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_event_clarity

Original tag: event clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.19.2.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_where_prec

Original tag: where prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.19.2.18 Location (where_coordinates)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_jan22_where_coordinates$

Original tag: where_coordinates

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.19.2.19 Location Comment (where_description)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_where_description
```

Original tag: where description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.19.2.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_adm_1
```

Original tag: adm_1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.19.2.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

```
Long tag: ucdp gedevent jan22 adm 2
```

Original tag: adm 2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.19.2.22 Latitude (latitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_latitude

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.19.2.23 Longitude (longitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.19.2.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

```
Long\ tag:\ ucdp\_gedevent\_jan22\_geom\_wkt
```

Original tag: geom_wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT $(well\ known\ text)$ without SRID.

${\bf 2.19.2.25 \quad PRIO\text{-}gid\ Cell\ ID\ of\ Event\ (priogrid_gid)}$

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the

PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.19.2.26 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.19.2.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.19.2.28 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent jan22 region

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.19.2.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_deaths_a

Original tag: deaths a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.19.2.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_jan22_deaths_b$

Original tag: deaths_b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.19.2.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.19.2.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_deaths_unknown
```

2.20 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), JULY 2021

Original tag: deaths_unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.19.2.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent jan22 best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.19.2.34 Highest Estimate (high)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_jan22_high$

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.19.2.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_jan22_low

Original tag: low Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.20 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), July 2021

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. Research Politics

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.20.0.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_id

Original tag: id

Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.20.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_july21_relid$

 $Original\ tag\colon$ relid

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.20.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_july21_conflict_dset_id$

Original tag: conflict dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.20.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.20.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_dyad_dset_id

Original tag: dyad_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.20.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.20.0.7 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_year

Original tag: year Description:

The year of the event

2.20.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_active_year

Original tag: active_year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.20.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_date_prec

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.20.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_july21_date_start$

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.20.0.11 End Date (date_end)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_date_end

Original tag: date end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.20.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_july21_code_status$

Original tag: code_status

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.NA

2.20.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.20.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.20.1 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.20.1.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_dyad_name

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.20.1.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_side_a_dset_id

 $Original\ tag:\ side_a_dset_id$

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.20.1.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side_a_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.20.1.4 Side A (side_a)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_side_a
```

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.20.1.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_side_b_dset_id
```

Original tag: side_b_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.20.1.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.20.1.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_side_b

Original tag: side b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.20.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.20.1.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

2.20 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), JULY 2021

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.20.1.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_number_of_sources

Original tag: number of sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field.

2.20.1.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_source_article

Original tag: source article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News,

BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.20.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_source_office

Original tag: source_office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.20.1.13 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_source_date

Original tag: source date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean

information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.20.1.14 Title (source_headline)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_source_headline

Original tag: source_headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.20.1.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_source_original

Original tag: source_original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.20.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_event_clarity

Original tag: event clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.20.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_where_prec

Original tag: where prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

1: exact location of the event known and coded.

- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.20.1.18 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_where_coordinates

Original tag: where coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.20.1.19 Location Comment (where_description)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_where_description

Original tag: where description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.20.1.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_adm_1

Original tag: adm_1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.20.1.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_july21_adm_2$

Original tag: adm_2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.20.1.22 Latitude (latitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_latitude

 $Original\ tag:$ latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.20.1.23 Longitude (longitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.20.1.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_geom_wkt

Original tag: geom wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT $(well\ known\ text)$ without SRID.

2.20.1.25 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.20.1.26 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.20.1.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.20.1.28 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_region

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.20.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_deaths_a

Original tag: deaths_a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.20.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_deaths_b
Original tag: deaths_b
```

2.21 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), JUNE 2021

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.20.1.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.20.1.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths unknown)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_deaths_unknown

Original tag: deaths unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.20.1.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths a, deaths b, deaths civilians and deaths unknown.

2.20.1.34 Highest Estimate (high)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_july21_high$

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.20.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_july21_low

Original tag: low

Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.21 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), June 2021

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. *Research Politics*

2.21 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), JUNE 2021

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.21.0.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_id

Original tag: id Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.21.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_relid

Original tag: relid Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.21.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict dset id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.21.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.21.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent june21 dyad dset id

Original tag: dyad_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.21.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_june21_dyad_new_id$

Original tag: dyad new id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.21.0.7 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_year

Original tag: year

Description:

The year of the event

2.21.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_active_year

Original tag: active_year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.21.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_date_prec

 $Original\ tag:\ {\tt date_prec}$

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.21.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

```
Long tag: ucdp gedevent june21 date start
```

2.21 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), JUNE 2021

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.21.0.11 End Date (date_end)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent june21 date end

Original tag: date end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.21.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_code_status

Original tag: code_status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.NA

2.21.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.21.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict_name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.21.1 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.21.1.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_dyad_name

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.21.1.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_side_a_dset_id

Original tag: side_a_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.21.1.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side_a_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.21.1.4 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_side_a

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.21.1.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_side_b_dset_id

Original tag: side_b_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.21.1.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.21.1.7 Side B (side_b)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_side_b
```

Original tag: side b

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.21.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.21.1.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.21.1.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_number_of_sources

Original tag: number of sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field.

2.21.1.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_source_article

Original tag: source_article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News,

BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.21.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source office)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_june21_source_office$

Original tag: source_office

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.21.1.13 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_source_date

Original tag: source_date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.21.1.14 Title (source headline)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_source_headline

Original tag: source headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.21.1.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent june21 source original

Original tag: source_original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.21.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_event_clarity

Original tag: event_clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.21.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_where_prec

Original tag: where prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.21.1.18 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent june21 where coordinates

Original tag: where_coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.21.1.19 Location Comment (where_description)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_where_description

Original tag: where description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.21.1.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_adm_1

Original tag: adm 1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.21.1.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_adm_2
```

Original tag: adm_2

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.21.1.22 Latitude (latitude)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_latitude
```

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.21.1.23 Longitude (longitude)

```
Long~tag:~ucdp\_gedevent\_june21\_longitude
```

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.21.1.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_geom_wkt
```

Original tag: geom_wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT (well known text) without SRID.

${\bf 2.21.1.25 \quad PRIO\text{-}gid\ Cell\ ID\ of\ Event\ (priogrid_gid)}$

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.21.1.26 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.21.1.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.21.1.28 Region (region)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_region
```

```
Original tag: region
```

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.21.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_deaths_a
```

Original tag: deaths_a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.21.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_deaths_b

Original tag: deaths_b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.21.1.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.21.1.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_deaths_unknown

Original tag: deaths unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.21.1.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.21.1.34 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.21.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

2.22 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), MARCH 2021

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_june21_low

Original tag: low Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.22 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), March 2021

Dataset tag: ucdp gedevent mar21

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. Research Politics

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.22.0.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_id

Original tag: id Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.22.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent mar21 relid

Original tag: relid

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.22.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.22.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.22.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_dyad_dset_id
Original tag: dyad_dset_id
```

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.22.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_dyad_new_id
```

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.22.0.7 Year (year)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_year
```

Original tag: year Description:

The year of the event

The year of the event

2.22.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_active_year
```

Original tag: active_year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in

either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.22.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_date_prec

Original tag: date prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.22.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_date_start

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.22.0.11 End Date (date_end)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_date_end

Original tag: date end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.22.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_mar21_code_status$

Original tag: code_status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.NA

2.22.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.22.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.22.1 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.22.1.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_dyad_name

Original tag: dyad name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.22.1.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_side_a_dset_id

Original tag: side_a_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.22.1.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side a new id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.22.1.4 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent mar21 side a

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.22.1.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_mar21_side_b_dset_id$

Original tag: side b dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.22.1.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.22.1.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_side_b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.22.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.22.1.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.22.1.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_number_of_sources

Original tag: number_of_sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field.

2.22.1.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_source_article

Original tag: source article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News, BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.22.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_source_office

Original tag: source office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.22.1.13 Publication Date (source_date)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_mar21_source_date$

Original tag: source_date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.22.1.14 Title (source_headline)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_source_headline

 $Original\ tag:$ source_headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.22.1.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent mar21 source original

Original tag: source_original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event

originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.22.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_event_clarity

Original tag: event clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.22.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_where_prec

Original tag: where_prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.22.1.18 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_where_coordinates

Original tag: where coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.22.1.19 Location Comment (where_description)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_where_description
```

```
Original tag: where_description
```

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.22.1.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

```
Long~tag:~ucdp\_gedevent\_mar21\_adm\_1
```

Original tag: adm_1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.22.1.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_adm_2
```

Original tag: adm_2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.22.1.22 Latitude (latitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_latitude

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.22.1.23 Longitude (longitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.22.1.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_geom_wkt
```

Original tag: geom_wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT $(well\ known\ text)$ without SRID.

2.22.1.25 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_priogrid_gid
```

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid **1** and **2**.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.22.1.26 Country (country)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_country
```

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.22.1.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_country_id
```

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.22.1.28 Region (region)

```
Long\ tag:\ ucdp\_gedevent\_mar21\_region
```

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.22.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_deaths_a

Original tag: deaths_a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.22.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_deaths_b

Original tag: deaths_b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.22.1.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.22.1.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_deaths_unknown

Original tag: deaths_unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.22.1.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent mar21 best

Original tag: best Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.22.1.34 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.22.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar21_low

Original tag: low Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.23 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), March 2022

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. *Research Politics*

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.23.0.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent mar22 id

Original tag: id Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.23.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_relid

Original tag: relid

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.23.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.23.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.23.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_dyad_dset_id

Original tag: dyad_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.23.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent mar22 dyad new id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.23.0.7 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_year

Original tag: year

Description:

The year of the event

2.23.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent mar22 active year

Original tag: active year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.23.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_date_prec

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.23.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_date_start

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

$\mathbf{2.23.0.11} \quad \mathbf{End} \ \mathbf{Date} \ (\mathbf{date_end})$

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_date_end

Original tag: date_end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.23.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_code_status

Original tag: code_status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.23.1 Cause of Conflict

These variables indicate the cause(s) of the conflict.

2.23.1.1 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_mar22_type_of_violence$

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.23.1.2 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_mar22_conflict_name$

Original tag: conflict name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.23.2 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.23.2.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_dyad_name

Original tag: dyad name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.23.2.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_side_a_dset_id

Original tag: side_a_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.23.2.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side_a_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.23.2.4 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_side_a

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.23.2.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_side_b_dset_id

Original tag: side_b_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.23.2.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.23.2.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_side_b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.23.2.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.23.2.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.23.2.10 Number of Sources (number of sources)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_number_of_sources

Original tag: number of sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field.

2.23.2.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_source_article

Original tag: source_article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News.

BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.23.2.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_source_office

Original tag: source_office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.23.2.13 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_source_date

Original tag: source date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.23.2.14 Title (source_headline)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_source_headline

Original tag: source_headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.23.2.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_source_original

Original tag: source_original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.23.2.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_event_clarity

Original tag: event_clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.23.2.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_where_prec

Original tag: where prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. $25~\mathrm{km}$ radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal

administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.

6: only the country where the event took place in is known.

7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.23.2.18 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_where_coordinates

Original tag: where coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.23.2.19 Location Comment (where_description)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_where_description

Original tag: where description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.23.2.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_adm_1

Original tag: adm_1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.23.2.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent mar22 adm 2

Original tag: adm_2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.23.2.22 Latitude (latitude)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_mar22_latitude$

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.23.2.23 Longitude (longitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.23.2.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_mar22_geom_wkt$

Original tag: geom_wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT $(well\ known\ text)$ without SRID.

2.23.2.25 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.23.2.26 Country (country)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_mar22_country$

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.23.2.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.23.2.28 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_region

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.23.2.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths a)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_mar22_deaths_a$

Original tag: deaths_a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.23.2.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent mar22 deaths b

Original tag: deaths_b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.23.2.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.23.2.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_mar22_deaths_unknown$

Original tag: deaths unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.23.2.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent mar22 best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.23.2.34 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.23.2.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_mar22_low

Original tag: low Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.24 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), May 2021

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. *Research Politics*

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page:

https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.24.0.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_id

Original tag: id

Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.24.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_relid

Original tag: relid

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.24.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.24.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict new id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.24.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_dyad_dset_id

Original tag: dyad_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.24.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per

the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.24.0.7 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_year

Original tag: year Description:

The year of the event

2.24.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_active_year

Original tag: active year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.24.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_date_prec

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.24.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_date_start

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.24.0.11 End Date (date end)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_date_end

2.24 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), MAY 2021

Original tag: date_end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.24.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent may21 code status

Original tag: code status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.NA

2.24.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_may21_type_of_violence$

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict: 1: state-based conflict 2: non-state conflict

3: one-sided violence

2.24.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict_name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.24.1 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.24.1.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_dyad_name

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.24.1.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_side_a_dset_id

Original tag: side_a_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.24.1.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side_a_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.24.1.4 Side A (side_a)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_side_a
```

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.24.1.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_side_b_dset_id

Original tag: side_b_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.24.1.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.24.1.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_side_b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.24.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.24.1.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.24.1.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_number_of_sources

Original tag: number of sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field.

2.24.1.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_source_article

Original tag: source_article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News,

BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.24.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_source_office

Original tag: source office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.24.1.13 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_source_date

Original tag: source date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.24.1.14 Title (source headline)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent may21 source headline

Original tag: source_headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.24.1.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_source_original

Original tag: source_original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.24.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent may21 event clarity

Original tag: event_clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.24.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_where_prec

Original tag: where prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.24.1.18 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_where_coordinates

Original tag: where coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.24.1.19 Location Comment (where_description)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_where_description

Original tag: where_description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.24.1.20 First Administrative Division (adm 1)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_adm_1

Original tag: adm_1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.24.1.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_adm_2

Original tag: adm_2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.24.1.22 Latitude (latitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_latitude

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.24.1.23 Longitude (longitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.24.1.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_geom_wkt

 $Original\ tag:\ geom_wkt$

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT (well known text) without SRID.

2.24.1.25 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid **1** and **2**.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.24.1.26 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.24.1.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.24.1.28 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_region

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.24.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_deaths_a

Original tag: deaths a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.24.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_deaths_b

Original tag: deaths b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.24.1.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.24.1.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_may21_deaths_unknown$

Original tag: deaths_unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.24.1.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.24.1.34 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.24.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_may21_low

Original tag: low

Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.25 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), November 2021

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP

Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. Research Politics

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.25.0.1 Identifier (id)

```
Long\ tag:\ ucdp\_gedevent\_nov21\_id
```

Original tag: id

Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.25.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_relid
```

Original tag: relid

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.25.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_conflict_dset_id
```

Original tag: conflict_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.25.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_conflict_new_id
```

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.25.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_nov21_dyad_dset_id$

Original tag: dyad dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.25.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.25.0.7 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_year

Original tag: year Description:

The year of the event

2.25.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_nov21_active_year$

Original tag: active_year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.25.0.9 Date Precision (date prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_date_prec

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known

- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.25.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_nov21_date_start$

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.25.0.11 End Date (date_end)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_date_end

Original tag: date_end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.25.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent nov21 code status

Original tag: code status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.NA

2.25.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.25.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict_name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.25.1 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.25.1.1 Dyad Name (dyad name)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_nov21_dyad_name$

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.25.1.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

```
Long~tag:~ucdp\_gedevent\_nov21\_side\_a\_dset\_id
```

Original tag: side_a_dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.25.1.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side a new id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.25.1.4 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_side_a

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.25.1.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_side_b_dset_id

 $Original\ tag:\ side_b_dset_id$

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.25.1.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_side_b_new_id

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.25.1.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_side_b

Original tag: side b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.25.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.25.1.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.25.1.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent nov21 number of sources

Original tag: number_of_sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source** article field.

2.25.1.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_source_article

 $Original\ tag:\ source_article$

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News,

BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.25.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_source_office

Original tag: source office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.25.1.13 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_source_date

Original tag: source date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.25.1.14 Title (source_headline)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent nov21 source headline

Original tag: source_headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.25.1.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_source_original

Original tag: source original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.25.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_event_clarity

Original tag: event_clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently

detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.25.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_nov21_where_prec$

Original tag: where_prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.25.1.18 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_where_coordinates

Original tag: where coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.25.1.19 Location Comment (where_description)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_where_description

Original tag: where_description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.25.1.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_adm_1
Original tag: adm_1
```

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.25.1.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_adm_2
```

Original tag: adm_2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.25.1.22 Latitude (latitude)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_latitude
```

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.25.1.23 Longitude (longitude)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_longitude
```

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.25.1.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_geom_wkt

 $Original\ tag:\ {\tt geom_wkt}$

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT (well known text) without SRID.

${\bf 2.25.1.25 \quad PRIO\text{-}gid\ Cell\ ID\ of\ Event\ (priogrid_gid)}$

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.25.1.26 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.25.1.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_country_id

```
Original tag: country_id
```

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.25.1.28 Region (region)

```
Long tag: ucdp gedevent nov21 region
```

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.25.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_deaths_a
```

Original tag: deaths_a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.25.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths b)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_deaths_b
```

Original tag: deaths_b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.25.1.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.25.1.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_deaths_unknown
```

Original tag: deaths_unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.25.1.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.25.1.34 Highest Estimate (high)

2.26 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), OCTOBER 2021

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.25.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_nov21_low

Original tag: low Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.26 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), October 2021

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. Research Politics

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.26.0.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_id

Original tag: id

Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.26.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_relid

Original tag: relid

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.26.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.26.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_conflict_new_id
```

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.26.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_dyad_dset_id

Original tag: dyad_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.26.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.26.0.7 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_year

Original tag: year

Description:

The year of the event

2.26.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_active_year

Original tag: active_year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.26.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_date_prec

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known:
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.26.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_date_start

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.26.0.11 End Date (date_end)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_date_end

Original tag: date_end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.26.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_code_status

Original tag: code status

Description:

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.NA

2.26.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.26.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict_name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.26.1 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.26.1.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_dyad_name

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.26.1.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_oct21_side_a_dset_id$

Original tag: side_a_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.26.1.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_side_a_new_id

Original tag: side_a_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.26.1.4 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_side_a

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.26.1.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_side_b_dset_id
```

```
Original tag: side_b_dset_id
```

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.26.1.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_oct21_side_b_new_id$

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.26.1.7 Side B (side b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_side_b

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.26.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.26.1.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.26.1.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_number_of_sources

Original tag: number of sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field.

2.26.1.11 Source Metadata (source_article)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_oct21_source_article$

Original tag: source article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News, BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.26.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent oct21 source office

Original tag: source office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.26.1.13 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent oct21 source date

Original tag: source_date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.26.1.14 Title (source_headline)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_source_headline

Original tag: source_headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.26.1.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_source_original

Original tag: source original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.26.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_event_clarity

Original tag: event clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.26.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_where_prec

Original tag: where prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

- 1: exact location of the event known and coded.
- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.26.1.18 Location (where_coordinates)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_oct21_where_coordinates$

Original tag: where_coordinates

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.26.1.19 Location Comment (where_description)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_where_description
```

Original tag: where description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.26.1.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_adm_1
```

Original tag: adm_1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.26.1.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

```
Long tag: ucdp gedevent oct21 adm 2
```

Original tag: adm 2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.26.1.22 Latitude (latitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_latitude

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.26.1.23 Longitude (longitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_longitude

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.26.1.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

```
Long~tag:~ucdp\_gedevent\_oct21\_geom\_wkt
```

Original tag: geom_wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT $(well\ known\ text)$ without SRID.

${\bf 2.26.1.25 \quad PRIO\text{-}gid\ Cell\ ID\ of\ Event\ (priogrid_gid)}$

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid **1** and **2**.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the

PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.26.1.26 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.26.1.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_oct21_country_id$

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.26.1.28 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent oct21 region

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.26.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_deaths_a

Original tag: deaths a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.26.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_oct21_deaths_b$

Original tag: deaths_b

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.26.1.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.26.1.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths_unknown)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_deaths_unknown
```

2.27 UCDP CANDIDATE EVENTS DATASET (UCDP CANDIDATE), SEPTEMBER 2021

Original tag: deaths_unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.26.1.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent oct21 best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths_a, deaths_b, deaths_civilians and deaths_unknown.

2.26.1.34 Highest Estimate (high)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_oct21_high$

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.26.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_oct21_low

Original tag: low Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.27 UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate), September 2021

Dataset tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21

Description: The UCDP Candidate Events Dataset (UCDP Candidate) is based on UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (UCDP GED), but published at a monthly release cycle. It makes available monthly releases of candidate events data with not more than a month's lag globally. See codebook for similarieties and differences between the two products.

Dataset citation:

Hegre, Håvard, Mihai Croicu, Kristine Eck, and Stina Högbladh (July 2020) Introducing the UCDP Candidate Events Dataset. Research Politics

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#candidate NA

2.27.0.1 Identifier (id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_id

Original tag: id Description:

A unique numeric ID identifying each event.

2.27.0.2 Old Identifier (relid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_relid

Original tag: relid

Only used in older versions of the dataset, empty variable in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.27.0.3 Old Conflict Identifier (conflict_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_conflict_dset_id

Original tag: conflict dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.27.0.4 Conflict Identifier (conflict_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_conflict_new_id

Original tag: conflict_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual conflict in the dataset.

UCDP Conflict ID for state based, non-state conflicts and one-sided violence as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset and UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided dataset version 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

2.27.0.5 Old Dyad Identifier (dyad_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_dyad_dset_id

Original tag: dyad_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.27.0.6 Dyad Identifier (dyad_new_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_dyad_new_id

Original tag: dyad_new_id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual dyad in the dataset.

UCDP Dyad ID for state based conflicts, non-state conflicts and one-sided incidences as per the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Datasets versions 21.1.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

This identifier is unique across the dataset (i.e. a non-state conflict cannot have the same identifier as a state-based conflict or a one-sided instance), irrespective of type of violence, and may be used for filtering and aggregation

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.NA

2.27.0.7 Year (year)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_sep21_year$

Original tag: year Description:

The year of the event

2.27.0.8 Active Year (active_year)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_active_year

Original tag: active_year

Description:

1: if the event belongs to an active conflict/dyad/actor-year

0: otherwise

Active years are years that have crossed the 25 battle related deaths threshold and non-active years are the remainder.

If a dyad crossed the 25-deaths threshold in a single year, but did generate some events in either previous or subsequent years, all events belonging to the dyad are included, including those in years where the threshold was not crossed.

2.27.0.9 Date Precision (date_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_date_prec

Original tag: date_prec

Description:

How precise the information is about the date of an event.

- 1: exact date of event is known;
- 2: the date of the event is known only within a 2-6 day range.
- 3: only the week of the event is known
- 4: the date of the event is known only within an 8-30 day range or only the month when the event has taken place is known
- 5: the date of the event is known only within a range longer than one month but not more than one calendar year.

2.27.0.10 Start Date (date_start)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_sep21_date_start$

Original tag: date_start

Description:

The earliest possible date when the event has taken place.

2.27.0.11 End Date (date_end)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_date_end

Original tag: date end

Description:

The last possible date when the event has taken place.NA

2.27.0.12 Code Status (code_status)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_sep21_code_status$

Original tag: code_status

Always clear, only used for monthly releases of candidate events, only available in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.NA

2.27.0.13 Type of Violence (type_of_violence)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_type_of_violence

Original tag: type_of_violence

Description:

Type of UCDP conflict:

- 1: state-based conflict
- 2: non-state conflict
- 3: one-sided violence

2.27.0.14 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflict to which the event belongs. For non-state conflicts and one-sided violence this is the same as the dyad name.

2.27.1 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP GED and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.27.1.1 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_dyad_name

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

The two sides are separated by an ASCII dash (e.g. Government of Russia - Caucasus Emirate, Taleban - civilians).

2.27.1.2 Old Side A Identifier (side_a_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_side_a_dset_id

Original tag: side_a_dset_id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.27.1.3 Side A Identifier (side_a_new_id)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_gedevent_sep21_side_a_new_id$

Original tag: side_a_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side A.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnoa described below.

2.27.1.4 Side A (side_a)

```
Long~tag:~ucdp\_gedevent\_sep21\_side\_a
```

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The name of Side A in the dyad. In state-based conflicts always a government. In one-sided violence always the perpetrating party.

2.27.1.5 Old Side B Identifier (side_b_dset_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_side_b_dset_id

Original tag: side b dset id

Description:

Only used in older versions of the dataset, exists but should not be used in the api 21.1 version, removed in the other formats for UCDP GED 21.1.

2.27.1.6 Side B Identifier (side_b_new_id)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_sep21_side_b_new_id$

Original tag: side_b_new_id

Description:

A unique ID of side B.

Fully compatible with UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, UCDP Non-State Dataset and UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset versions 17.1 and later.

Warning: Not compatible with pre-17.1 versions of any UCDP datasets.

Note that this ID is no longer the Gleditsch and Ward number for State actors/sides. If you need that identifier, use gwnob described below.

2.27.1.7 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_side_b

 $Original\ tag:\ side_b$

Description:

The name of Side B in the dyad. In state-based always the rebel movement or rivalling government. In one-sided violence always "civilians".

2.27.1.8 Country Code for Side A (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side A if the side is a state.

Empty if Side A is not a state.

2.27.1.9 Country Code for Side B (gwnob)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_gwnob

Original tag: gwnob

The Gleditsch and Ward number for Side B if the side is a state.

Empty if Side B is not a state.NA

2.27.1.10 Number of Sources (number_of_sources)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_number_of_sources

Original tag: number_of_sources

Description:

Number of total sources containing information for an event that were consulted.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013 and for recently revised events. For older data, -1. Note that -1 does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source article** field.

2.27.1.11 Source Metadata (source article)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_source_article

Original tag: source article

Description:

References to the names, dates and titles of the source material from which information on the event is gathered.

A reference to at least one source material is available for ALL EVENTS.

This variable is highly streamlined for information collected since 2013, and is less so for older data. For such older data, abbreviations are sometimes used for source agencies. The most frequent are:

R: Reuters News,

BBC: BBC Monitoring

AP: Associated Press Newswires AFP: Agence France Presse,

X: Xinhua

DOW: Dow Jones Wires

2.27.1.12 Publishing Organisation (source_office)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_source_office

Original tag: source_office

Description:

The name of the organizations publishing the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.27.1.13 Publication Date (source_date)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_source_date

Original tag: source date

Description:

The dates the source materials were published on.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected since 2013, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean

information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

1753-01-01 is set as a default date when the date is missing.

2.27.1.14 Title (source_headline)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_source_headline

Original tag: source headline

Description:

The titles of the source materials.

Note that this variable is only available for data collected for 2013 and 2014, and for recently revised events. For older data, the field is empty. Note that an empty field does not mean information on the source is missing; reference to the source material is always available in the **source_article** field, for every event.

2.27.1.15 Original Source (source_original)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_source_original

Original tag: source_original

Description:

The name or type of person or organization from which the information about the event originates in the original report.

e.g. "police", "Lt. Col. Johnson", "eyewitnesses", "rebel spokesman".

2.27.1.16 Event Clarity Based on Reports (event_clarity)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_event_clarity

Original tag: event clarity

Description:

1 (high) for events where the reporting allows the coder to identify the event in full. That is, events where the individual happening is described by the original source in a sufficiently detailed way as to identify individual incidents, i.e. separate activities of fighting in a single location:

Example of such reporting: "2 people where killed in Banda Aceh town on the 9th of December in fighting between the government and GAM when a car exploded in a main market."

2 (lower) for events where an aggregation of information was already made by the source material that is impossible to undo in the coding process. Such events are described by the original source only as aggregates (totals) of multiple separate activities of fighting spanning over a longer period than a single, clearly defined day.

Examples of such reporting: "The Ukrainian government informs that 29 people have died in the past six days in a number of clashes with the separatists along the line of conflict". NA

2.27.1.17 Precision of Location (where_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_where_prec

Original tag: where prec

Description:

The precision with which the coordinates and location assigned to the event reflects the location of the actual event.

1: exact location of the event known and coded.

- 2: event occurred within at maximum a ca. 25 km radius around a known point. The coded point is the known point.
- 3: only the second order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 4: only the first order administrative division where an event happened is known. That administrative division is coded with a point representing it (typically the centroid).
- 5: the only spatial reference for the event is neither a known point nor a known formal administrative division, but rather a linear feature (e.g. a long river, a border, a longer road or the line connecting two locations further afield than 25 km) or a fuzzy polygon without defined borders (informal regions, large radiuses etc.). A representation point is chosen for the feature and employed.
- 6: only the country where the event took place in is known.
- 7: event in international waters or airspace.

2.27.1.18 Location (where_coordinates)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_where_coordinates

Original tag: where_coordinates

Description:

Name of the location to which the event is assigned. Fully standardized and normalized.

2.27.1.19 Location Comment (where_description)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_where_description

Original tag: where description

Description:

Comment on the location coded, sometimes left empty can include area of the capital or name of a village that has not been found.

2.27.1.20 First Administrative Division (adm_1)

Long tag: ucdp gedevent sep21 adm 1

Original tag: adm 1

Description:

Name of the first order (largest) administrative division where the event took place.

2.27.1.21 Second Administrative Division (adm_2)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_sep21_adm_2$

Original tag: adm_2

Description:

Name of the second order administrative division where the event took place.

2.27.1.22 Latitude (latitude)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_latitude

Original tag: latitude

Description:

Latitude (in decimal degrees)

2.27.1.23 Longitude (longitude)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_sep21_longitude$

Original tag: longitude

Description:

Longitude (in decimal degrees)

2.27.1.24 OGC Textual Representation (geom_wkt)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_geom_wkt

Original tag: geom wkt

Description:

An Open Geospatial Consortium textual representation of the location of each individual point. Formatted as OGC WKT $(well\ known\ text)$ without SRID.

2.27.1.25 PRIO-gid Cell ID of Event (priogrid_gid)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_priogrid_gid

Original tag: priogrid_gid

Description:

The PRIO-grid cell id (**gid**) in which the event took place. Compatibility with PRIO-grid (Tollefsen, 2012) is guaranteed for both PRIO-grid 1 and 2.

Warning: We associate every point to the PRIO-grid that contains it, even if the point is in another country than the one officially assigned to the respective PRIO-grid cell through their majority area rule. It is your responsibility to make sure the covariates for the PRIO-grid cell are correct for each event. Further, for the same reason, DO NOT, under any circumstances, first clip out (subset) PRIO-grid by country before merging with UCDP GED as data loss will certainly occur. Refer to your copy of the PRIO-grid for further details on PRIO-grid's majority assignment rule (p.3 in PrioGRID's original codebook).

2.27.1.26 Country (country)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_country

Original tag: country

Description:

Name of the country in which the event takes place.

2.27.1.27 Country Identifier (country_id)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_country_id

Original tag: country_id

Description:

Gleditsch and Ward number of the country in which the event takes place.

2.27.1.28 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_region

Original tag: region

Description:

Region where the event took place. One of following: Africa, Americas, Asia, Europe, Middle East NA

2.27.1.29 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side A (deaths_a)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_gedevent_sep21_deaths_a$

Original tag: deaths_a

Description:

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side a.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.27.1.30 Best Estimate of Deaths for Side B (deaths_b)

```
Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_deaths_b
Original tag: deaths_b
```

The best estimate of deaths sustained by side b.

Always 0 for one-sided violence events.

2.27.1.31 Best Estimate of Deaths of Civilians (deaths_civilians)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_deaths_civilians

Original tag: deaths_civilians

Description:

The best estimate of dead civilians in the event.

For non-state or state-based events, this is the number of collateral damage resulting in fighting between side a and side b. For one-sided violence, it is the number of civilians killed by side a.

2.27.1.32 Best Estimate of Deaths of Other Persons (deaths unknown)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_deaths_unknown

Original tag: deaths unknown

Description:

The best estimate of deaths of persons of unknown status.

2.27.1.33 Best Estimate (best)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_best

Original tag: best

Description:

The best (most likely) estimate of total fatalities resulting from an event.

It is always the sum of deaths a, deaths b, deaths civilians and deaths unknown.

2.27.1.34 Highest Estimate (high)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_high

Original tag: high

Description:

The highest reliable estimate of total fatalities .

2.27.1.35 Lowest Estimate (low)

Long tag: ucdp_gedevent_sep21_low

Original tag: low Description:

The lowest reliable estimate of total fatalities.

2.28 UCDP Non-State Conflict Dataset

Dataset tag: ucdp_nonstate

Description: A conflict-year dataset containing information on communal and organized armed conflict where none of the parties is the government of a state.

Dataset citation:

Pettersson, Therese, Shawn Davis, Amber Deniz, Garoun Engström, Nanar Hawach, Stina Högbladh, Margareta Sollenberg Magnus Öberg (2021). Organized violence 1989-2020, with a special emphasis on Syria. *Journal of Peace Research*, 58(4).

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data,

including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

Sundberg, Ralph, Kristine Eck and Joakim Kreutz (2012) Introducing the UCDP Non-State Conflict Dataset. *Journal of Peace Research*, 49(2).

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.28.1 Indentifier Variables

This section provides unique identifiers for every event (row/entry) in the dataset. Variables in this section can be used as a unique key for the dataset.

2.28.1.1 Conflict Identifier (conflict_id)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_conflict_id

Original tag: conflict_id

Description:

The unique identifier of the non-state conflict.

2.28.1.2 Dyad Identifier (dyad_id)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_dyad_id

Original tag: dyad_id

Description:

The unique identifier of the non-state dyad (a pair of two opposing actors).

Note that one non-state conflict has, per definition, one and only one non-state dyad. The inclusion of both dyad IDs and conflict IDs in the dataset is meant to allow easier integration of this dataset with other UCDP products such as the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset, the UCDP Dyadic Dataset or the UCDP GED.

2.28.1.3 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_year

 $Original\ tag:$ year

Description:

The year of observation (1989-2020)

2.28.2 Conflict Sides

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP Nonstate and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.28.2.1 Organizational Level (org)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_org

Original tag: org Description:

This variable indicates the organizational level of the warring sides. The level of organization is determined according to the following categories:

Organizational level 1 (formally organized groups):

Rebel groups and other organized groups that have a high enough level of organization so as to be possible to include in the state-based armed conflict category. These include rebel groups with an announced name, as well as military factions (Forces of...). This level of

organization captures fighting between highly organized rebel groups and fatalities are recorded according to the criteria set for battle-related deaths in the state-based conflict category.

Organizational level 2 (informally organized groups): Groups composed of supporters and affiliates to political parties and candidates. These are commonly not groups that are permanently organized for combat, but who at times use their organizational structures for such purposes. In addition to supporters of political parties and candidates, included in this category is also fighting between groups composed of supporters of other organizations such as the supporters of al-Ahly football team fighting against the supporters of al-Masry football team in Egypt 2012. Battle-related deaths are recorded according to section 3.2.a of the definition of non-state conflict.

Organizational level 3 (informally organized groups): Groups that share a common identification along ethnic, clan, religious, national or tribal lines. These are not groups that are permanently organized for combat, but who at times organize themselves along said lines to engage in fighting. This level of organization captures aspects of what is commonly referred to as 'communal conflicts', in that conflict stands along lines of communal identity. Battle-related deaths are recorded according to section 3.2.a of the definition of non-state conflict.

2.28.2.2 Side A (side_a_name)

Long tag: ucdp nonstate side a name

Original tag: side a name

Description:

The party that constitute Side A in the conflict. For each conflict the parties are listed in alphabetical order, using the latest known names of the parties involved.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.28.2.3 Side A Fullname (side_a_name_fulltext)

Long tag: ucdp nonstate side a name fulltext

Original tag: side_a_name_fulltext

Description:

The full original name of the actor, in English.

2.28.2.4 Side A Fullname Mother Tongue (side_a_name_mothertongue)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_nonstate_side_a_name_mothertongue$

Original tag: side_a_name_mothertongue

Description:

The full original name of the actor, in mother tongue.

2.28.2.5 Side A Identifier (side_a_id)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_side_a_id

 $Original\ tag:\ side_a_id$

Description:

The unique identifier of the groups that make up Side A. For conflicts with multiple actors fighting together a temporary coalition ID has been assigned.

From version 17.1 of the dataset and onwards, the ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads changed in order to make it unique across all UCDP core datasets and all UCDP types of violence. To download a conversion table containing new and old IDs, visit http://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/.

2.28.2.6 Side A Components (side_a_components)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_side_a_components

Original tag: side_a_components

Description:

For conflicts with multiple actors fighting together as a joint (temporary) coalition, the components of the coalition (in the form of a string of actor IDs) are listed here. Comma separated.

2.28.2.7 Supporters of Side A (side_a_2nd)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_side_a_2nd

Original tag: side_a_2nd

Description:

side_a_2nd lists all states that enter a non-state conflict with troops to actively support side A in the dyad. See section 2.2 for information on under which conditions this is applicable. This variable is not part of the API version of the dataset.

2.28.2.8 Codes for Supporters of Side A (gwno_a_2nd)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_gwno_a_2nd

Original tag: gwno_a_2nd

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side_a_2nd. This variable is not part of the API version of the dataset.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.28.2.9 Side B (side_b_name)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_side_b_name

Original tag: side_b_name

Description:

The party that constitute Side B in the conflict. For each

conflict the parties are listed in alphabetical order, using the latest known names of the parties involved.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.28.2.10 Side B Fullname (side_b_name_fulltext)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_side_b_name_fulltext

Original tag: side_b_name_fulltext

Description:

The full original name of the actor, in English.

2.28.2.11 Side B Fullname Mother Tongue (side_b_name_mothertongue)

Long tag: ucdp nonstate side b name mothertongue

Original tag: side_b_name_mothertongue

Description:

The full original name of the actor, in mother tongue.

2.28.2.12 Side B Identifier (side_b_id)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_side_b_id

Original tag: side_b_id

Description:

The unique identifier of the groups that make up Side B. For conflicts with multiple actors fighting together a temporary coalition ID has been assigned.

From version 17.1 of the dataset and onwards, the ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads changed in order to make it unique across all UCDP core datasets and all UCDP types of

violence. To download a conversion table containing new and old IDs, visit http://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/.

2.28.2.13 Side B Components (side_b_components)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_side_b_components

Original tag: side b components

Description:

For conflicts with multiple actors fighting together as a joint (temporary) coalition, the components of the coalition (in the form of a string of actor IDs) are listed here. Comma separated.

2.28.2.14 Supporters of SIde B (side_b_2nd)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_side_b_2nd

Original tag: side_b_2nd

Description:

side_b_2nd lists all states that enter a non-state conflict with troops to actively support side B in the dyad. See section 2.3 for information on under which conditions this is applicable. This variable is not part of the API version of the dataset.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.28.2.15 Codes for Supporters of Side B (gwno_b_2nd)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_gwno_b_2nd

Original tag: gwno b 2nd

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side_b_2nd. This variable is not part of the API version of the dataset.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.28.3 Timely Dimension

These variables provide information on the timely dimesion.

2.28.3.1 Date of first Death in Conflict (start_date)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_start_date

Original tag: start_date

Description:

The first time there is a recorded event in a given dyad that results in at least one fatality. This date is the same for all years in which the conflict has been active, regardless of whether the conflict has been active in several episodes or not.

The start_date is coded as precisely as possible. For certain conflicts we can pinpoint the start of the conflict down to a single event, taking place on a specific day. For other conflicts, this is not possible, due to lack of precise information.

2.28.3.2 Start Date Precision (start_prec)

Long tag: ucdp nonstate start prec

Original tag: start prec

Description:

The start_prec (start precision) is coded to highlight the level of certainty for the date set in the start_date variable.

- 1. Day, month and year are precisely coded; there is good information on the event.
- 2. Day is assigned; month and year are precisely coded. This precision score is assigned if the first event which causes at least one fatality takes place within a period of 2-6 days.

- 3. Day is unknown; month (or a period of 30 days, not necessarily a calendar month) and year are precisely coded. The day is known to be in a given period of 30 days. The date is set to the last date of the period.
- 4. Month is assigned, year is precisely coded. The date is set to the last day of the assigned month
- 5. Day and month are assigned, year is precisely coded. Day and month are set as precisely as possible. For example, if an event is known to have taken place between March and July, the date is set to 31 July with precision score 5.

This is an automatic aggregation from the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset. For more complex inquiries in the temporal dimension of the conflict, you are advised to use the UCDP GED.

2.28.3.3 Date when Conflict Deaths exceed 25 (start_date2)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_start_date2

Original tag: start_date2

Description:

start_date2 gives the date, as precise as possible, when a given episode of conflict activity reached 25 battle-related deaths.

2.28.3.4 Start Date Two Precision (start prec2)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_start_prec2

Original tag: start_prec2

Description:

Precision scores calculated as per start_prec above

This is an automatic aggregation from the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset. For more complex inquiries in the temporal dimension of the conflict, you are advised to use the UCDP GED.

2.28.3.5 End of Conflict Episode Dummy (ep_end)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_ep_end

Original tag: ep_end

Description:

ep_end is a binary variable that codes whether the conflict is inactive the following year and an episode of the conflict thus ends. If the conflict is inactive the following year(s), this variable is coded as 1. If not, a 0 is coded. For the latest year in the dataset, it is unknown whether the conflict will be recorded as active or inactive in the following year, and the variable is always given the code 0.

2.28.3.6 Date of Conflict Episode End (ep_end_date)

Long tag: ucdp nonstate ep end date

Original tag: ep_end_date

Description:

This variable is only coded in years where ep_end has the value 1. If a conflict year is followed by at least one year of conflict inactivity, the ep_end_date variable lists, as precise as possible, the last date of recorded combat.

2.28.3.7 End Date Precision (ep_end_prec)

Long tag: ucdp nonstate ep end prec

 $Original\ tag \colon ep_end_prec$

Description:

Precision scores calculated as per start_prec above.

This is an automatic aggregation from the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset. For more

complex inquiries in the temporal dimension of the conflict, you are advised to use the UCDP GED.

2.28.4 Fatality Estimates

This section provides fatality figures for each event. A note on civilian deaths: Civilian deaths can exist in all three categories of violence. DD In state-based and non-state violence, civilian deaths count "collateral" killings, i.e. when one or more civilians are killed as an effect of fighting between the two warring parties. At times, such fighting may even result in only the civilian bystanders receiving fatal injuries. Similarly, imprecise shelling or bombing in the context of an armed conflict is coded as state-based violence unless it is clear (from either reporting or context) that civilians have been explicitly targeted. In one-sided violence, the targeted and killed civilians are always registered in the deaths_civilians column.

2.28.4.1 Best Estimate (best_fatality_estimate)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_best_fatality_estimate

Original tag: best_fatality_estimate

Description:

The best fatality estimate for the given conflict-year.

This is an automatic aggregation (summing) of all the Best figures for all incidents reported for the given conflict-year in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset.

2.28.4.2 Lowest Estimate (low_fatality_estimate)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_low_fatality_estimate

Original tag: low fatality estimate

Description:

The low fatality estimate for the given conflict-year.

This is an automatic aggregation (summing) of all the Low figures for all incidents reported for the given conflict-year in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset.

2.28.4.3 Highest Estimate (high_fatality_estimate)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_high_fatality_estimate

Original tag: high_fatality_estimate

Description:

The high fatality estimate for the given conflict-year.

This is an automatic aggregation (summing) of all the High figures for all incidents reported for the given conflict-year in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset.

2.28.5 Location

Variables in this section describe the location of the conflict/event.

2.28.5.1 Location (location)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_location

Original tag: location

Description:

The countries where fighting took place in the conflict-year.

Comma-separated if multiple.

This variable should never be used for any geographical or spatial analyses of conflict as the distribution of violence as well as the relative magnitude of violence by country is not captured. In effect, a country is listed here if even one dead in the given conflict has occurred in that country.

In fact, UCDP provides much better geographic coverage of conflict (including distribution of violence for each conflict and each country) in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (GED).

Like the UCDP Non-State Conflict Dataset, GED is global and covers the same period (1989-2020).

2.28.5.2 Location Codes (gwno_location)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_gwno_location

Original tag: gwno_location

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward code for the countries where fighting took place in the conflict-year. Comma-separated if multiple.

This variable should never be used for any geographical or spatial analyses of conflict as the distribution of violence as well as the relative magnitude of violence by country is not captured. In effect, a country is listed here if even one dead in the given conflict has occurred in that country. In fact, UCDP provides much better geographic coverage of conflict (including distribution of violence for each conflict and each country) in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (GED).

Like the UCDP Non-State Conflict Dataset, GED is global and covers the same period (1989-2020).

2.28.5.3 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_region

Original tag: region

Description:

The continents (regions) where violence took place:

- 1 = Europe (GWNo: 200-399),
- 2 = Middle East (GWNo: 630-699)
- 3 = Asia (GWNo: 700-999)
- 4= Africa (GWNo: 400-626)
- 5 = Americas (GWNo: 2-199).

2.28.6 Dataset Version

The version of the dataset.

2.28.6.1 Dataset Version (version)

Long tag: ucdp_nonstate_version

Original tag: version

Description:

The version of the dataset: 21.1

2.29 UCDP Non-state Conflict Issues and Actors Dataset

Dataset tag: ucdp_nscia

Description: A dyad-year dataset containing information on conflict issues and key actor characteristics in non-state conflict. The dataset covers non-state conflicts in Africa, 1989-2011 and is compatible with the UCDP Non-State Conflict Dataset v. 2.5-2016.

The data builds on and extends the UCDP Non-State Conflict Dataset by introducing additional

information on what the actors in the conflict are fighting over, alongside actor characteristics. The data set distinguishes between two main categories of issues, territory or authority, in addition to a residual category of other issues.

Dataset citation:

Nina von Uexkull Therese Pettersson (2018) Issues and Actors in African Nonstate Conflicts: A New Data Set. International Interactions. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/03050629.2018.1493478

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.29.1 Identifiers

These variables identify the conflicting parties using the UCDP ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads.

2.29.1.1 Dyad Old Id (dyad_id)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_dyad_id

Original tag: dyad_id

Description:

The identifier of the Non-state conflict.

This version of the UCDP Non-state Conflict Issues and Actors Dataset is compatible with the UCDP Non-state Conflict Dataset v.2.5-2016. In 2017 the ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads was changed in order to make it unique across all UCDP core datasets and all UCDP types of violence. This variable corresponds to the Dyad ID reported in the v.2.5-2016 Dataset. For the Dyad ID according to the new ID system, please consult the dyadid_new variable.

2.29.1.2 Dyad New ID (dyadid_new)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_dyadid_new

Original tag: dyadid_new

Description:

The unique identifier of the Non-state conflict. This version of the UCDP Non-state Conflict Issues and Actors Dataset is compatible with the UCDP Non-state Conflict Dataset v.2.5-2016. In 2017 the ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads was changed in order to make it unique across all UCDP core datasets and all UCDP types of violence. This variable contains information on the Dyad ID according to the new ID system. To download a conversion table containing new and old IDs, visit http://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/.

2.29.1.3 Side A Name (side_a_name)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_side_a
Original tag: sida_a_name

original lag. Sida_a_a_name

Description:

The party that constitute Side A in the conflict. For each conflict the parties are listed in alphabetical order, using the latest known names of the parties involved.

2.29.1.4 Side A ID (side a id)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_side_a_id

Original tag: side_a_id

The ID of the groups that make up Side A. For conflicts

with multiple actors fighting together a temporary coalition ID has been assigned.

This version of the UCDP Non-state Conflict Issues and Actors Dataset is compatible with the UCDP Non-state Conflict Dataset v.2.5-2016. In 2017 the ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads was changed in order to make it unique across all UCDP core datasets and all UCDP types of violence. This variable corresponds to the Side A ID reported in the v.2.5-2016 Dataset. To download a conversion table containing new and old IDs, visit http://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/.

2.29.1.5 Side B Name (side_b_name)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_side_b
Original tag: side_b_name

Description:

The party that constitute Side B in the conflict. For each conflict the parties are listed in alphabetical order, using the latest known names of the parties involved.

2.29.1.6 Side B ID (side_b_id)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_side_b_id

Original tag: side_b_id

Description:

The ID of the groups that make up Side B. For conflicts

with multiple actors fighting together a temporary coalition ID has been assigned.

This version of the UCDP Non-state Conflict Issues and Actors Dataset is compatible with the UCDP Non-state Conflict Dataset v.2.5-2016. In 2017 the ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads was changed in order to make it unique across all UCDP core datasets and all UCDP types of violence. This variable corresponds to the Side B ID reported in the v.2.5-2016 Dataset. To download a conversion table containing new and old IDs, visit http://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/.

2.29.2 Organizational Actor Level

Variables in this section describe the organizational level of the warring sides.

2.29.2.1 Organizational Level (org)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_org

Original tag: org

Description:

This variable indicates the organizational level of the warring sides. The level of organization is determined according to the following categories:

Organizational level 1 (formally organized groups): Rebel groups and other organized groups that have a high enough level of organization so as to be possible to include in the state-based armed conflict category. These include rebel groups with an announced name, as well as military factions (Forces of...). This level of organization captures fighting between highly organized rebel groups and fatalities are recorded according to the criteria set for battle-related deaths in the state-based conflict category.

Organizational level 2 (informally organized groups): Groups composed of supporters and affiliates to political parties and candidates. These are commonly not groups that are permanently organized for combat, but who at times use their organizational structures for such purposes. Battle-related deaths are recorded according to section 3.2.a of the definition of non-state conflict.

Organizational level 3 (informally organized groups): Groups that share a common identification along ethnic, clan, religious, national or tribal lines. These are not groups that are permanently organized for combat, but who at times organize themselves along said lines to engage in fighting. This level of organization captures aspects of what is commonly

referred to as 'communal conflicts', in that conflict stands along lines of communal identity. Battle-related deaths are recorded according to section 3.2.a of the definition of non-state conflict.

2.29.3 Timely Dimension

These variables provide information on when the conflict takes place.

2.29.3.1 Year (year)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_nscia_year$

Original tag: year

Description:

The year of observation.

2.29.4 Geographical Information

These variables provide information on where the conflict takes place.

2.29.4.1 Location Code (gwno_location)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_gwno_location

Original tag: gwno_location

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward code for the countries where fighting took place in the dyad-year.

Comma-separated

if multiple.

2.29.5 Livelihood and Religion

These variables describe the livelihood of the conflicting parties and whether religion is salient in the mobilization of the armed groups involved in non-state conflict.

2.29.5.1 Side A Livelihood (side_a_live)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_side_a_live

Original tag: side a live

Description:

1=Agropastoralist, 2=Pastoralist, 3=Farmer, 4=Other/Unknown, 5= N/A

For all communal groups that mobilize along the lines of particular livelihoods this variable notes that livelihood. This variable is only coded for organizational level 3 groups (informally organized groups). For groups of organizational level 1 and 2 this variable takes the value of 5.

2.29.5.2 Side A Religious (side_a_rel)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_side_a_rel

Original tag: side_a_rel

Description:

This variable notes where religion is salient in the mobilization of the armed group involved in non-state conflict. If not, this variable takes the value of 0.

2.29.5.3 Side B Livelihood (side_b_live)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_side_b_live

Original tag: side_b_live

Description:

1=Agropastoralist, 2=Pastoralist, 3=Farmer, 4=Other, 5= N/A

For all communal groups that mobilize along the lines of particular livelihoods this variable

notes that livelihood. This variable is only coded for organizational level 3 groups (informally organized groups). For groups of organizational level 1 and 2 this variable takes the value of 5.

2.29.5.4 Side A Religious (side_b_rel)

```
Long tag: ucdp_nscia_side_b_rel
```

Original tag: side b rel

Description:

This variable notes where religion is salient in the mobilization of the armed group involved in non-state conflict. If not, this variable takes the value of 0.

2.29.5.5 Dyadic Livelihood (dyadic_live)

```
Long tag: ucdp_nscia_dyadic_live
```

Original tag: dyadic_live

Description:

The livelihood of both groups involved in conflict, always in numerical order (i.e. if Side A has livelihood 3, and Side B has livelihood 2, dyadic_live will always be 23, never 32).

2.29.6 Conflict Issues

Variables in this section give information about the issues in the respective non-state conflict. The main issues (territory, authority, other) are further divided into subissues.

2.29.6.1 Territorial Conflict Issues (issue_territory)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_issue_territory

Original tag: issue_territory

Description:

This category includes all territorial issues that are claimed by both groups e.g. border demarcation, access to grazing land, wells or arable land. It is distinguished from the authority category in that the groups are not fighting about whose decisions will be impose upon the other group through the local or national government, but over a piece of land.

2.29.6.2 Authority Conflict Issues (issue_authority)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_issue_authority

Original tag: issue authority

Description:

This category includes all conflicts related to the formal administration of the state (e.g. control of the local administration, influence in the state administration). Also electoral violence between supporters of candidates of different political parties falls into this category. Alternatively, authority can be informal such as chiefdom/kingdom within an ethnic group or leadership struggles within a rebel groups.

2.29.6.3 Other Conflict Issue (issue_other)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_issue_other

Original tag: issue_other

Description:

Residual other issue cluster for all issues that fit neither the authority or territorial categories.

2.29.6.4 Agricultural Land or Water Conflict Issues (subissue_agland_water)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_nscia_subissue_agland_water$

Original tag: subissue_agland_water

Land-use conflicts where water or agricultural lands are the bones of contentions. Subissue of territory cluster of issues.

2.29.6.5 Religious Conflict Issue (subissue_religious)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_subissue_religious

Original tag: subissue_religious

Description:

At least one side in the conflict-dyad has made demands that are explicitly referring to religion. For instance, if a group fights for the application of Sharia law within a certain territory, the conflict issue will be coded as religious (cf. Svensson and Nilsson 2017). Subissue of residual other issue category.

2.29.6.6 Formal Authority Conflict Issue (subissue_formal_aut)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_subissue_formal_aut

Original tag: subissue formal aut

Description:

Conflict issue is a source of formal authority – such as control state apparatus, or particular government representatives. Subissue of authority category.

2.29.6.7 Livestock Conflict Issue (subissue livestock)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_subissue_livestock

Original tag: subissue livestock

Description:

This category will include all conflicts where the main aim is to appropriate livestock from the other group. For example, violent cattle raids are very common among pastoralist and agro-pastoralist communities in the Sahel region. Subissue of residual other category.

2.29.6.8 Informal Authority Conflict Issue (subissue_informal_authority)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_subissue_informal_authority

Original tag: subissue_informal_authority

Description:

Conflict issue is not control of the state apparatus, but leadership within a group or a community. Sub-cluster of the authority category.

2.29.6.9 Territory Conflict Issue (subissue_territory)

Long tag: ucdp nscia subissue territory

Original tag: subissue_territory

Description:

This category includes all territorial issues that are claimed by both groups e.g. border demarcation that do not fall into agricultural land/water subissue category. Subissue of territory.

2.29.6.10 Sub-Issue Other (subissue_other)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_subissue_other

Original tag: subissue_other

Description:

Indicates all conflicts that have issue other but neither are over livestock nor religion.

2.29.7 Sources

Variables in this section indicate the quality of the sources for information on conflict issues.

2.29.7.1 Primary Source (primary)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_primary

Original tag: primary

Description:

Indicates the quality of primary source, i.e. statements

from the conflicting parties themselves about what they fight over, for information on the conflict issue (max value).

5=both groups agree, 3=contradictory statements, 1=one group statement, 0=no

2.29.7.2 Secondary Source (secondary)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_secondary

Original tag: secondary

Description:

Indicates the quality of secondary source for information on the conflict issue (max value).

5=many, 1=few, 0=no

2.29.7.3 Time Reference for Information (timeref)

Long tag: ucdp_nscia_timeref

Original tag: timeref

Description:

Indicates the quality of time reference for information on the conflict issue (max value).

5=immediate AND background, 3=immediate, 2=background, 0=no

This variable indicates how close in time to the relevant conflict episode a statement was made or the secondary source was found. This allows users to distinguish between sources that indicate general issues of contention between conflicting parties and information that refers explicitly to a particular outbreak of fighting.

2.30 UCDP One-sided Violence Dataset

Dataset tag: ucdp_onesided

Description: An actor-year dataset with information of intentional attacks on civilians by governments and formally organized armed groups.

Dataset citation:

Pettersson, Therese, Shawn Davis, Amber Deniz, Garoun Engström, Nanar Hawach, Stina Högbladh, Margareta Sollenberg Magnus Öberg (2021). Organized violence 1989-2020, with a special emphasis on Syria. *Journal of Peace Research*, 58(4).

Eck, Kristine Lisa Hultman (2007) Violence Against Civilians in War. Journal of Peace Research, 44(2).

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.30.1 Indentifier Variables

This section provides unique identifiers for every event (row/entry) in the dataset. Variables in this section can be used as a unique key for the dataset.

2.30.1.1 Conflict Identifier (conflict_id)

Long tag: ucdp onesided conflict id

Original tag: conflict id

Description:

A unique conflict identification code for each individual observation of one-sided violence in the dataset. Used only for merging purposes across the UCDP datasets.

2.30.1.2 Dyad Identifier (dyad_id)

Long tag: ucdp_onesided_dyad_id

Original tag: dyad_id

Description:

A unique dyad identification code for each individual observation of one-sided violence in the dataset. Used only for merging purposes across the UCDP datasets.

2.30.1.3 Actor Identifier (actor_id)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_onesided_actor_id$

Original tag: actor_id

Description:

This is a numerical identifier that describes each individual actor. The dataset makes use of the general actor/side ID employed by UCDP.

Warning: Unlike the previous versions of the dataset, this variable is NO LONGER the Gleditsch and Ward identifier (GWNo) for the state actors. Use gwnoa below instead!

From version 17.1 of the dataset and onwards, the ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads changed in order to make it unique across all UCDP core datasets and all UCDP types of violence. To download a conversion table containing new and old IDs, visit http://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/.

2.30.1.4 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_onesided_year

Original tag: year

Description:

The calendar year of observation. UCDP employs a threshold for inclusion of at least 25 deaths caused by one-sided violence for each actor in a calendar year.

There are cases when actors are responsible for one-sided violence of a scale that does not meet the threshold.

These observations are coded as absence of one-sided violence.

Episodes that do not exceed the threshold for actors that have exceeded the threshold at least once during the 1989-2020 period can be traced through the UCDP GED dataset.

There are cases when actors are responsible for one-sided violence of a scale that does not meet the threshold.

These observations are coded as absence of one-sided violence.

Episodes that do not exceed the threshold for actors that have exceeded the threshold at least once during the 1989-2020 period can be traced through the UCDP GED dataset.

2.30.2 Actor Information

This section provides information on the actors, such as numeric codes used or different names the actor has in e.g. different languages.

2.30.2.1 Coalition Components (coalition_components)

Long tag: ucdp_onesided_coalition_components

Original tag: coalition components

Description:

If multiple actors are perpetrating violence together as a joint (temporary) coalition, the components of the coalition (in the form of a string of actor IDs) are listed here.

2.30.2.2 Name of Actor (actor_name)

Long tag: ucdp_onesided_actor_name

Original tag: actor name

Description:

The government of a state or the name used by a formally organized group perpetrating the violence.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.30.2.3 Full Name of Actor (actor_name_fulltext)

Long tag: ucdp_onesided_actor_name_fulltext

Original tag: actor_name_fulltext

Description:

The full original name of the actor, in English.

2.30.2.4 Name of Actor in Mother Tongue (actor_name_mothertongue)

Long tag: ucdp onesided actor name mothertongue

Original tag: actor_name_mothertongue

Description:

The full original name of the actor, in mother tongue.

2.30.2.5 Government Actor Dummy (is_government_actor)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_onesided_is_government_actor$

Original tag: is_government_actor

Description:

For some purposes, it may be necessary to disaggregate between government and non-governmental actors in the dataset. This variable records if the actor is the government of a state and is coded as 1 for government actors and 0 for non-governmental actors.

2.30.2.6 Actor Country Code (gwnoa)

Long tag: ucdp onesided gwnoa

Original tag: gwnoa

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country identifier if the actor perpetrating one-sided violence is a state

Empty otherwise.

2.30.3 Fatality Estimates

This section provides fatality figures for each event. A note on civilian deaths: Civilian deaths can exist in all three categories of violence. DD In state-based and non-state violence, civilian deaths count "collateral" killings, i.e. when one or more civilians are killed as an effect of fighting between the two warring parties. At times, such fighting may even result in only the civilian bystanders receiving fatal injuries. Similarly, imprecise shelling or bombing in the context of an armed conflict is coded as state-based violence unless it is clear (from either reporting or context) that civilians have been explicitly targeted. In one-sided violence, the targeted and killed civilians are always registered in the deaths_civilians column.

2.30.3.1 Best Estimate (best_fatality_estimate)

Long tag: ucdp_onesided_best_fatality_estimate

 $Original\ tag:\ best_fatality_estimate$

Description:

The best fatality estimate for the given episode.

This is an automatic aggregation (summing) of all the Best figures for all incidents reported for the given dyad-year in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset.

2.30.3.2 Lowest Estimate (low_fatality_estimate)

Long tag: ucdp_onesided_low_fatality_estimate

Original tag: low fatality estimate

Description:

The low fatality estimate for the given episode.

This is an automatic aggregation (summing) of all the Low figures for all incidents reported for the given dyad-year in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset.

2.30.3.3 Highest Estimate (high_fatality_estimate)

Long tag: ucdp_onesided_high_fatality_estimate

Original tag: high_fatality_estimate

Description:

The high fatality estimate for the given episode.

This is an automatic aggregation (summing) of all the High figures for all incidents reported for the given dyad-year in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset.

2.30.4 Location

Variables in this section describe the location of the conflict/event.

2.30.4.1 Location (location)

Long tag: ucdp_onesided_location

Original tag: location

Description:

The countries where this episode of violence took place. Comma-separated if multiple.

WARNING: This variable SHOULD NEVER be used for any geographical or spatial analyses of conflict, as the distribution of violence as well as the relative magnitude of violence by country is not captured. In effect a country is listed here if even one dead in the given conflict has occurred in that country.

In fact, UCDP provides much better geographic coverage of conflict (including distribution of violence for each conflict and each country) in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (GED).

Like the UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset, GED is global and covers the same period (1989-2020).

2.30.4.2 Location Codes (gwno_location)

Long tag: ucdp_onesided_gwno_location

Original tag: gwno location

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward code for the countries where this episode of one-sided violence took

place. Comma-separated if multiple.

WARNING: This variable SHOULD NEVER be used for any geographical or spatial analyses of conflict, as the distribution of violence as well as the relative magnitude of violence by country is not captured. In effect, a country is listed here if even one dead in the given conflict has occurred in that country.

In fact, UCDP provides much better geographic coverage of one-sided violence (including distribution of violence for each dyad and each country) in the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset (GED).

Like the UCDP One-Sided Violence Dataset, GED is global and covers the same period (1989-2020).

2.30.4.3 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_onesided_region

Original tag: region

Description:

The continents (regions) where violence took place:

1 = Europe (GWNo: 200-399),

2 = Middle East (GWNo: 630-699)

3 = Asia (GWNo: 700-999)

4 = Africa (GWNo: 400-626)

5 = Americas (GWNo: 2-199).

2.30.5 Dataset Version

The version of the dataset.

2.30.5.1 Dataset Version (version)

Long tag: ucdp_onesided_version

Original tag: version

Description:

The version of the dataset: 21.1

2.31 UCDP Onset Dataset

Dataset tag: ucdp_onset

Description: An onset dataset with annual observations of all states in the international system, as defined by Gleditsch and Ward, between 1946 and 2018. The dataset contains all internal and internationalized internal armed conflicts (type 3 and 4) in the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset version 19.1

Dataset citation:

Gleditsch, Nils Petter; Peter Wallensteen, Mikael Eriksson, Margareta Sollenberg Håvard Strand (2002) Armed Conflict 1946–2001: A New Dataset. *Journal of Peace Research*, 39(5).

Pettersson, Therese; Stina Högbladh Magnus Öberg (2019) Organized violence, 1989-2018 and peace agreements. *Journal of Peace Research*, 56(4).

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.31.1 Identifier Variables

These variables identify the conflicts in the datasets.

2.31.1.1 Country Abbreviation (abc)

Long tag: ucdp_onset_abc

Original tag: abc
Description:

Country abbreviation

2.31.1.2 Location Name (name)

Long tag: ucdp onset name

Original tag: name

Description:

Name of location according to the government side in the conflict.

2.31.1.3 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_onset_year

Original tag: year

Description:

Year of observation

2.31.1.4 Country Code (gwno_a)

Long tag: ucdp_onset_gwno_a

Original tag: gwno_a

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country code

2.31.1.5 New Conflict (newconf)

Long tag: ucdp_onset_newconf

 $Original\ tag:$ newconf

Description:

Coded 1 if the country-year contains a new

conflict/conflict-dyad (not a new episode of conflict)

2.31.1.6 Year Prev (year_prev)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_onset_year_prev$

Original tag: year_prev

Description:
No entry

2.31.2 Conflict Duration

These variables privide information about the duration of each conflict.

2.31.2.1 Onset One Year (onset1)

Long tag: ucdp_onset_onset1

Original tag: onset1

Description:

Onset of an intrastate armed conflict, >25 battle deaths. Coded as 1 if this is a new conflict or there is more than one year since the last observation of the conflict

2.31.2.2 Onset Two Years (onset2)

Long tag: ucdp_onset_onset2

Original tag: onset2

Description:

Onset of an intrastate armed conflict, >25 battle deaths. Coded as 1 if this is a new conflict or there is more than

two years since the last observation of the conflict

2.31.2.3 Onset Three Years (onset3)

Long tag: ucdp_onset_onset3

Original tag: onset3

Description:

Onset of an intrastate armed conflict, >25 battle deaths. Coded as 1 if this is a new conflict or there is more than three years since the last observation of the conflict

2.31.2.4 Onset Five Years (onset5)

Long tag: ucdp onset onset5

Original tag: onset5

Description:

Onset of an intrastate armed conflict, >25 battle deaths. Coded as 1 if this is a new conflict or there is more than

five years since the last observation of the conflict

2.31.2.5 Onset Ten Years (onset10)

Long tag: ucdp_onset_onset10

Original tag: onset10

Description:

Onset of an intrastate armed conflict, >25 battle deaths. Coded as 1 if this is a new conflict or there is more than ten years since the last observation of the conflict.

2.31.2.6 Onset Twenty Years (onset20)

Long tag: ucdp_onset_onset20

Original tag: onset20

Description:

Onset of an intrastate armed conflict, >25 battle deaths. Coded as 1 if this is a new conflict or there is more than

twenty years since the last observation of the conflict

2.32 UCDP Peace Agreement Dataset

Dataset tag: ucdp_peace

Description: The Peace Agreement dataset, that covers peace agreements signed between at least two opposing primary warring parties in an armed conflict 1975-2018.

Dataset citation:

Pettersson, Therese; Stina Högbladh Magnus Öberg (2019) Organized violence, 1989-2018 and peace agreements. *Journal of Peace Research*, 56(4).

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.32.1 Identifier Variables

These variables identify the conflicting parties using the UCDP ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads.

2.32.1.1 Peace Agreement ID (paid)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_paid

Original tag: paid Description:

The unique identifier for each peace agreement.

2.32.1.2 Conflict ID (conflict_id)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_peace_conflict_id$

Original tag: conflict_id

Description:

Unique conflict identifiers for each individual conflicts related to the dyads signing the peace agreement. For definition of conflict see appendix 1, same in all UCDP datasets.

2.32.1.3 Conflict Name (conflict_name)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_conflict_name

Original tag: conflict_name

Description:

Name of the UCDP conflicts related to the dyads signing the peace agreement.

2.32.1.4 Dyad ID (dyad_id)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_dyad_id

Original tag: dyad_id

Description:

Unique dyad identifiers for all dyads part of the peace agreement, same in all UCDP datasets.

2.32.1.5 Dyad Name (dyad_name)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_peace_dyad_name$

Original tag: dyad_name

Description:

Name of the conflict dyad creating the event.

A dyad is the pair of two actors engaged in violence (in the case of one-sided violence, the perpetrator of violence and civilians).

2.32.1.6 Actor ID (actor_id)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_actor_id

Original tag: actor_id

Description:

Unique actor identifiers of all actors, warring parties and IGOs, signing the peace agreement, same in all UCDP datasets.

2.32.1.7 Actor Name (actor_name)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_peace_actor_name$

Original tag: actor_name

Description:

The name of all actors, warring parties and IGOs, signing the peace agreement.

2.32.1.8 Peace Agreement Name (pa_name)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_pa_name

Original tag: pa_name

Description:

The official name or the name whereby it is known, if there is no official name, the peace agreement is given a temporary name consisting of the place of signature and agreement.

2.32.2 Geographical Information

These variables provide information on where the conflict takes place.

2.32.2.1 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_region

Original tag: region

Description:

The regional variable specifies the regional location of the conflict:

- 1. Europe: Geographic definition, including the states in the Caucasus. (COW numbers 200-395)
- 2. Middle East: Egypt, Iran, Iraq, Israel, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Syria, Turkey, and the states of the Arabian Peninsula (COW numbers 630–698)
- 3. Asia: Geographic definition, including Oceania, Australia, and New Zealand, and excluding states in the Middle East. (COW numbers 700–990)
- 4. Africa: Geographic definition, excluding states in the Middle East (eg. Egypt). (COW numbers 400-625)
- 5. Americas: Geographic definition, including states in the Caribbean. (COW numbers 2–165)

2.32.2.2 Country Codes (gwno)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_gwno

Original tag: gwno

Description:

GW numeric country codes of all locations of the conflict incompatibility

2.32.3 Conflict Cause

Variables describing the reason for the conflict for which a peace agreement was negotiated.

2.32.3.1 Incompatibility (incompatibility)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_incompatibility

Original tag: incompatibility

Description:

A general coding of the conflict issue.

Values:

- 1. T erritory
- 2. Government
- 3. Government/Territory

For definition see appendix 1 of the UCDP Peace Agreements Dataset Codebook available here: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html#peaceagreement

2.32.4 Content of the Peace Agreement

Variables in this section give information on the content included in the peace agreement.

2.32.4.1 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_year

Original tag: year Description:

Year the peace agreement was concluded.

2.32.4.2 Peace Agreement Date (pa_date)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_pa_date

Original tag: pa_date

Description:

The date of the last signature of the peace agreement.

2.32.4.3 Additional Information on Peace Agreement (pa_comment)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_pa_comment

Original tag: pa comment

Description:

The comment include information on the type of agreement, some general information about the agreement, how the behavior of the parties was regulated, how the incompatibility was regulated and last if the agreement included other provisions than the above stated.

2.32.4.4 Failure of Peace Agreement (ended)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_ended

Original tag: ended

Description:

Did the peace agreement end, i.e. did the implementation fail? The peace agreement is no longer considered fully implemented if the validity of the agreement is contested by one or more of the warring parties that signed. A peace agreement cannot, from the UCDP perspective, survive if the primary parties are no longer party to it. If a party officially withdraws from a peace agreement, it is considered to have ended.

- 1. Yes
- 0. No

2.32.4.5 Duration of Peace Agreement (duration)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_duration

Original tag: duration

Description:

Date when peace agreement ended. For how long did the peace agreement last? The date when a party states the agreement is annulled or the date when the violence clearly shows that the parties have left the agreement?

2.32.4.6 Comment on Agreement Duration (c_duration)

 $Long \ tag: \ ucdp_peace_c_duration$

Original tag: c_duration

Description:

Comment how and why the agreement ended, e.g. what party started using violence again and/or verbally denounced the validity of the agreement. This field sometimes include information on the implementation of an ongoing agreement.

2.32.4.7 Ceasefire (cease)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_cease

Original tag: cease

Description:

- 1. The agreement included provisions for a ceasefire or the cessation on hostilities
- 0. The agreement did not include provisions for a ceasefire.

2.32.4.8 Integration in Army (intarmy)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_intarmy

Original tag: intarmy

Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for the creation of a new national army or the integration of rebels into the army.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for rebel integration into the army.

2.32.4.9 Disarmament (ddr)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_ddr

Original tag: ddr

Description:

- 1. The agreement included provisions for the disarmament of the warring parties. Coded as yes even if the disarmament only concern one of the warring parties.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for any disarmament of the warring parties.

2.32.4.10 Withdrawal of Foreign Forces (withd)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_withd

Original tag: withd

Description:

- 1. The agreement provided of foreign forces. Foreign forces are counted both if they have been secondary warring parties in the conflict and other foreign combatants such as mercenaries.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for the withdrawal of foreign forces.

2.32.4.11 Provision (mil_prov)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_mil_prov

Original tag: mil prov

Description:

- 1. Any of cease, inarmy, ddr, withd
- 0. The agreement did not provide for the regulation of the violent behavior of the parties.

2.32.4.12 Political Party (pp)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_pp

Original tag: pp Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for the right for the rebel group to transform into a political party
- 0. The agreement did not provide for the right for the rebel group to transform into a political party

2.32.4.13 Integration in Government (intgov)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_intgov

Original tag: intgov

Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for the integration of rebels into the government.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for the integration of rebels into the government.

2.32.4.14 Integration in Civil Service (intciv)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_intciv

Original tag: intciv

Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for the integration of rebels into civil service.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for the integration of rebels into civil service.

2.32.4.15 Elections (elections)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_elections

Original tag: elections

Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for elections or stipulated electoral reforms.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for elections or electoral reforms.

2.32.4.16 Interim Government (interrim)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_interrim

Original tag: interrim

Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for rebel integration into the interim government.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for rebel integration into interim government.

2.32.4.17 National Talks (natalks)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_natalks

Original tag: natalks

Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for the holding of national talks to solve incompatibility.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for the holding of national talks to solve incompatibility.

2.32.4.18 Power-Sharing in Government (shagov)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_shagov

Original tag: shagov

Description:

- 1. The agreement included provisions for extensive power- sharing in new government.
- 0. The agreement did not include provisions for extensive power-sharing in new government.

2.32.4.19 Political Provisions (pol_prov)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_pol_prov

Original tag: pol prov

Description:

- 1. Any of the above political provisions
- 0. The agreement did not have any of the political provisions listed above.

2.32.4.20 Autonomy (aut)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_aut

Original tag: aut Description:

Autonomy is defined as: "An arrangement of self- government which includes control of a specific territory, the power of primary and secondary legislation, the power of executive authority and the power of fiscal matters."?

- 1. The agreement granted the disputed region autonomy.
- 0. The agreement did not grant the disputed region autonomy.

2.32.4.21 Federalism (fed)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_fed

Original tag: fed Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for a federal state solution.
- 0. The agreement did provide for a federal state.

2.32.4.22 Independence (ind)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_ind

Original tag: ind Description:

- 1. The agreement granted the disputed region independence.
- 0. The agreement did not grant the disputed region independence.

2.32.4.23 Referendum (ref)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_ref

Original tag: ref Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for the holding of a referendum on the future status of the disputed region.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for the holding of a referendum on the future status of the disputed region.

2.32.4.24 Local Power-Sharing (shaloc)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_shaloc

Original tag: shaloc

Description:

- 1. The agreement granted the disputed region power- sharing in the local government.
- 0. The agreement did not grant the disputed region power- sharing in the local government.

2.32.4.25 Regional Development (regdev)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_regdev

Original tag: regdev

Description:

- 1. The agreement granted the disputed region
- 0. The agreement did not grant the disputed region

2.32.4.26 Cultural Freedoms (cul)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_cul

Original tag: cul Description:

Cultural freedoms Language in schools, or flag, anthem

- 1. The agreement provided for extended cultural freedoms.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for extended cultural freedoms.

2.32.4.27 Border Demarcation (demarcation)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_demarcation

Original tag: demarcation

Description

- 1. The agreement provided for demarcation of the border.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for demarcation of the border.

2.32.4.28 Local Government (locgov)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_peace_locgov$

 $Original\ tag:\ locgov$

Description:

Local self-government includes arrangements for local self- government short of autonomy, or the exercise of power through municipal arrangements.

- 1. The agreement granted the disputed region local governance.
- 0. The agreement did not grant the disputed region local governance.

2.32.4.29 Territorial Provisions (terr_prov)

Long tag: ucdp peace terr prov

Original tag: terr prov

Description:

- 1. Any of the above territorial provisions
- 0. The agreement did not have any of the territorial provisions listed above.

2.32.4.30 Amnesty (amn)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_amn

 $Original\ tag:$ amn

Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for an amnesty.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for amnesty.

2.32.4.31 Release of Prisoners (pris)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_pris

Original tag: pris

Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for the release of prisoners.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for the release of prisoners.

2.32.4.32 National Reconciliation (recon)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_recon

Original tag: recon

Description:

- 1. The agreement included the concept of National Reconciliation.
- 0. The agreement did not include the concept of National Reconciliation.

2.32.4.33 Return of Refugees (return)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_return

 $Original\ tag:$ return

Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for the return of refugees.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for the return of refugees.

2.32.4.34 Justice Provisions (justice_prov)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_justice_prov

Original tag: justice prov

Description:

- 1. Any of the above justice provisions
- 0. The agreement did not have any of the justice provisions listed above.

2.32.4.35 Reaffirm Earlier Agreements (reaffirm)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_reaffirm

Original tag: reaffirm

Description:

- 1. The agreement reaffirmed earlier agreements.
- 0. The agreement did not reaffirm earlier agreements.

2.32.4.36 No entry (reaffirmid)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_reaffirmid

Original tag: reaffirmid

Description:

No entry, original codebook lists reaffirm_comment: Comment on the agreement that was reaffirmed

2.32.4.37 Outlining Peace Process (outlin)

Long tag: ucdp peace outlin

Original tag: outlin

Description:

- 1. The agreement outlined a negotiating agenda including negotiations on the incompatibility.
- 0. The agreement did not outline a negotiating agenda including negotiations on the incompatibility

2.32.4.38 Deployment of Peace Keeping Operation (pko)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_pko

Original tag: pko

Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for the deployment of a peace- keeping operation.
- 0. The agreement did not provide for the deployment of a peace-keeping operation.

2.32.4.39 Gender Inclusion (gender)

Long tag: ucdp peace gender

Original tag: gender

Description:

- 1. The agreement included any of the below provisions, constituting inclusion of women or gender.
- 0. The agreement did not include any provisions on women or gender.

For the sake of this dataset, it is accepted that a given document will refer to people generally, without specifying gender, or that it will refer to men and male subjects. For this reason, specific mention of men and boys as well as male-gendered terms such as "sons, brotherhood, policemen," etc. or the use of male pronouns are not coded. To qualify as a gender variable, a provision may include men and boys, but must include either women, female pronouns, or reference specifically to gender.

2.32.4.40 Commission or Committee to Oversee Implementation (co_impl)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_co_impl

Original tag: co impl

Description:

- 1. The agreement provided for the establishment of a commission or committee to over-see implementation of the agreement
- 0. The agreement did not provide for the establishment of a commission or committee to oversee implementation of the agreement

2.32.4.41 Full Text (txt)

Long tag: ucdp peace txt

Original tag: txt
Description:

Was the agreement available in full text? 1. Yes

0. No

2.32.4.42 Link (linktofulltextagreement)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_linktofulltextagreement

Original tag: linktofulltextagreement

Description:

Link to fulltext of the peace agreement

2.32.4.43 Comprehensive or Dyadic (inclusive)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_inclusive

Original tag: inclusive

Description:

The UCDP peace agreement dataset differentiates between comprehensive peace agreements, covering all conflict dyads and dyadic agreements where at least one of the warring parties in the conflict is excluded.

- 1. Comprehensive agreement
- 2. Dyadic agreement

2.32.4.44 Full, Partial or Peace Process (pa_type)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_pa_type

Original tag: pa type

Description:

- 1. A full agreement is an agreement where one or more dyad agrees to settle the whole incompatibility.
- 2. A partial peace agreement is an agreement where one or more dyad agrees to settle a part of the incompatibility.
- 3. A peace process agreement is an agreement where one or more dyad agrees to initiate a process that aims to settle the incompatibility.

2.32.4.45 Outstanding Issues (out_iss)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_out_iss

Original tag: out_iss

Description:

Are there outstanding issues specified in the agreement?

- 0. No outstanding issue was spelled out in the agreement
- 1. The agreement is part of a process that will be finalized in the last agreement.
- 2. Outstanding issues were spelled out.
- 3. A central issue to the incompatibility was delegated to a commission.
- 4. The agreement provided for new negotiations or national talks.
- 5. The agreement outlined a negotiating agenda or provisions in a future peace agreement.

2.32.4.46 Process ID (procid)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_procid

Original tag: procID

Description:

A peace process is a formal process in which the warring parties either has decided to settle the incompatibility in a process in which one issue at the time is regulated by an agreement, or where agreements that builds on a previous peace agreement is signed.

2.32.4.47 Process, Final, Reaffirming or Follow up (frame)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_frame

Original tag: frame

Description:

When in the peace process was the peace agreement signed?

- 1. Process, the peace agreement was signed in a process and not as the final agreement in the ongoing peace process.
- 2. Final, the agreement was signed out side a peace process as a single agreement or signed as a final agreement ending a peace process.
- 3. Reaffirming/Follow up, the agreement reaffirmed a final peace agreement or was signed as a follow-up agreement to a final agreement.

2.32.5 Signatories

Variables in this section provide information on the parties signing the peace agreement.

2.32.5.1 Signing Parties (pa_sign)

 $Long tag: ucdp_peace_pa_sign$

Original tag: pa_sign

Description:

The warring parties (e.g. a government) and the actual persons names (e.g. a president) who signed the agreement.

2.32.5.2 Comment on Signatories of Peace Agreement. (c_sign)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_c_sign

Original tag: c_sign

Description:

The comment include where the agreement was signed, and if the agreement was signed by all warring parties (comprehensive) or only some dyads (dyadic).

2.32.5.3 Third Parties (pa_3rd)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_pa_3rd

 $Original\ tag:\ pa_3rd$

Description:

What third party/ies were involved in the peace agreement, i.e. as mediators and/or signatories. Name of the third party or parties.

2.32.6 Peace Process

Variables in this section provide information on the peace process in relation to the peace agreement.

2.32.6.1 Signed in a Conflict Active Year (active_conflict)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_active_conflict

Original tag: active conflict

Description:

The peace agreement was signed in an active conflict year i.e. in a year with more than 25 battle-related deaths recorded by the UCDP.

1. Yes

0. No

2.32.6.2 Number of Years Since Last Conflict Activity (termdur)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_termdur

Original tag: termdur

Description:

The number of inactive years between end of conflict and signature of the peace agreement.

2.32.6.3 Number of Dyads Signed PA (no_dyad)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_no_dyad

Original tag: no dyad

Description:

Number of conflict dyads active in the Uppsala Conflict Database that signed the peace agreement.

2.32.7 Dataset Version

Version of the dataset.

2.32.7.1 Dataset Version (version)

Long tag: ucdp peace version

Original tag: version

Description:

The version number is a combination of a year and a number. The year refers to when the dataset is updated with new observations. If there are changes in the data between yearly up-dates, or if there are substantial changes in the structure of the dataset, the number behind the year is incremented. This dataset corresponds to all other UCDP datasets with version 19.1

2.32.7.2 Date Interval Start (dateintervalstart_meta)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_peace_dateintervalstart_meta$

Original tag: dateintervalstart meta

Description: 1975-01-01

2.32.7.3 Date Interval End (dateintervalend_meta)

Long tag: ucdp_peace_dateintervalend_meta

 $Original\ tag\colon$ date
intervalend meta

 $Description: \\ 2018-12-31$

2.33 UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset

Dataset tag: ucdp prio acd

Description: A conflict-year dataset with information on armed conflict where at least one party is the government of a state in the time period 1946-2020.

Dataset citation:

Pettersson, Therese, Shawn Davis, Amber Deniz, Garoun Engström, Nanar Hawach, Stina Högbladh, Margareta Sollenberg Magnus Öberg (2021). Organized violence 1989-2020, with a special emphasis on Syria. *Journal of Peace Research*, 58(4).

Gleditsch, Nils Petter, Peter Wallensteen, Mikael Eriksson, Margareta Sollenberg, and Håvard Strand (2002) Armed Conflict 1946-2001: A New Dataset. Journal of Peace Research, 39(5).

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.33.1 Identifier Variables

Variables in this section can be used as a unique key for the dataset.

2.33.1.1 Conflict Identifier (conflict_id)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_prio_acd_conflict_id$

Original tag: conflict_id

Description:

The unique identifier of the conflict.

2.33.1.2 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_year

 $Original\ tag:$ year

Description:

The year of observation (1946-2020).

2.33.2 Conflict Location

Variables in this section describe the location of the conflict/event.

2.33.2.1 Location of Conflict (location)

Long tag: ucdp prio acd location

Original tag: location

Description:

The name of the country/countries whose government(s) has a primary claim to the incompatibility, Note that this is not necessarily the geographical location of the conflict. Further information on how location is interpreted can be found below, in section 4.1.

If multiple countries are listed, this is comma separated.

2.33.2.2 Name of Territory (territory_name)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_territory_name

Original tag: territory_name

Description:

The name of the territory over which the conflict is fought, provided that the incompatibility is over territory.

In case the two sides use different names for the disputed territory, the name listed is the one used by the opposition organisation. One reason for this is that this is most often the name that the general public recognises. Another reason is that there are cases where the disputed territories do not have an official name.

2.33.2.3 Locations (gwno_loc)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_gwno_loc

Original tag: gwno_loc

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of the incompatibility.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.33.2.4 Regions (region)

 $Long \ tag: \ ucdp_prio_acd_region$

Original tag: region

Description:

The region of the incompatibility: 1 = Europe (GWNo: 200-399) 2= Middle East (GWNo: 630-699)

3= Asia (GWNo: 700-999) 4= Africa (GWNo: 400-626)

5 = Americas (GWNo: 2-199).

2.33.3 Conflict Parties

This section provides variables that allow for linkages between the UCDP PRIO ACD and all other UCDP datasets. This section also provides with variables to allow you to aggregate/filter/extract data on conflict, dyad or actor.

2.33.3.1 Side A (side_a)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_side_a

Original tag: side a

Description:

The name of the country/countries of Side A in a conflict.

Always the government side in intrastate conflicts. Note that this is a primary party to the conflict.

2.33.3.2 Side A Identifier (side_a_id)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_side_a_id

Original tag: side a id

Description:

The unique identifier of the actor on side A.

Note that in contrast with older versions of UCDP

datasets, this variable is NO LONGER the Gleditsch and

Ward state identifier (GWcode or GWNo). Use the gwno_a variable instead.

2.33.3.3 Supporters of Side A (side_a_2nd)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_side_a_2nd

Original tag: side_a_2nd

Description:

side_a_2nd lists all states that enter a conflict with troops to actively support side A. By definition, only independent states can be a secondary party in conflict.

A secondary warring party on side A shares the position in the incompatibility with Side A in the conflict.

side_a_2nd does not need to meet the 25 battle-related deaths criterion to be included in the dataset; an active troop participation is enough.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.33.3.4 Side B (side_b)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_side_b

Original tag: side b

Description:

Identifying the opposition actor or country/countries of side B in the conflict. In an intrastate conflict, this includes a military opposition organization. Note that this is a primary party to

the conflict.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.33.3.5 Side B Identifier (side_b_id)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_side_b_id

Original tag: side b id

Description:

The identifier of each of the actors on side B in the conflict.

Note that in contrast with older versions of UCDP

datasets, this variable is NO LONGER the Gleditsch and

Ward state identifier (GWcode or GWNo) if the conflict is interstate and Side B represents a country. Use the gwno_b variable instead.

If more than one opposition organization or state is involved in a conflict, this is a comma-separated list of values.

2.33.3.6 Supporters of Side B (side_b_2nd)

Long tag: ucdp prio acd side b 2nd

Original tag: side b 2nd

Description:

side_b_2nd lists all states that enter a conflict with troops to actively support side B. By definition, only independent states can be a secondary party in conflict.

A secondary warring party on side B shares the position in the incompatibility with Side B in the conflict.

Side_b_2nd does not need to meet the 25 battle-related deaths criterion to be included in the dataset; an active troop participation is enough. Note that when there is more than one opposition organization listed in an intrastate conflict, the dataset does not provide information on which of these groups the state coded as Side B Secondary is supporting. Comma separated if multiple.

2.33.3.7 Country Code for Side A (gwno_a)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_gwno_a

Original tag: gwno_a

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side_a.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.33.3.8 Country Codes for Side A Supporters (gwno_a_2nd)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_gwno_a_2nd

Original tag: gwno_a_2nd

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side_a_2nd.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.33.3.9 Country Code for Side B (gwno_b)

 $Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_gwno_b$

Original tag: gwno_b

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side_b.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.33.3.10 Country Codes for Side B Supporters (gwno_b_2nd)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_gwno_b_2nd

Original tag: gwno_b_2nd

Description:

The Gleditsch and Ward country codes of side b 2nd.

Comma separated if multiple.

2.33.4 Cause of Conflict and Conflict Intensity

These variables indicate the cause(s) of the conflict and it's intensity.

2.33.4.1 Cause of Conflict (incompatibility)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_incompatibility

Original tag: incompatibility

Description:

The main conflict issue identified per the UCDP definitions:

- 1= Incompatibility about territory
- 2= Incompatibility about government
- 3= Incompatibility about government AND territory

Further information on how incompatibility is interpreted can be found below, in section 4.2

2.33.4.2 Intensity Level (intensity_level)

Long tag: ucdp prio acd intensity level

Original tag: intensity level

Description:

The intensity level in the conflict per calendar year. The intensity variable is coded in two categories:

- 1. Minor: between 25 and 999 battle-related deaths in a given year.
- 2. War: at least 1,000 battle-related deaths in a given year.

${\bf 2.33.4.3}\quad {\bf Cumulated\ Intensity\ Dummy\ (cumulative_intensity)}$

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_cumulative_intensity

Original tag: cumulative intensity

Description:

This variable takes into account the temporal dimension of the conflict. It is a dummy variable that codes whether the conflict since the onset has exceeded 1,000 battle-related deaths. For conflicts with a history prior to 1946, it does not take into account the fatalities incurred in preceding years. A conflict is coded as 0 as long as it has not over time resulted in more than 1,000 battle-related deaths. Once a conflict reaches this threshold, it is coded as 1.

2.33.4.4 Type of Conflict (type_of_conflict)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_type_of_conflict

Original tag: type_of_conflict

Description:

One of the following four types of conflict:

1 = extrasystemic (between a state and a non-state group outside its own territory, where the government side is fighting to retain control of a territory outside the state system)

2 = interstate (both sides are states in the Gleditsch and

Ward membership system).

3 = intrastate (side A is always a government; side B is always one or more rebel groups; there is no involvement of foreign governments with troops, i.e.

there is no side_a_2nd or side_b_2nd coded)

4 = internationalized intrastate (side A is always a government; side B is always one or more rebel groups; there is involvement of foreign governments with troops, i.e. there is at least ONE side_a_2nd or side_b_2nd coded)

2.33.5 Timely Dimension of the Conflict

These variables provide information on the timely dimesion of the conflict.

2.33.5.1 Date of first Death in Conflict (start_date)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_start_date

Original tag: start_date

Description:

The date, as precise as possible, of the first battle-related death in the conflict.

The date is set after the conflict fulfils all criteria required in the definition of an armed conflict, except for the number of deaths.

2.33.5.2 Precision (start_prec)

Long tag: ucdp prio acd start prec

Original tag: start_prec

Description:

The level of precision for the initial start date.

The values are explained in section 4.3

2.33.5.3 Date when Conflict Deaths exceed 25 (start_date2)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_start_date2

Original tag: start date2

Description:

The date, as precise as possible, when a given episode of conflict activity reached 25 battle-related deaths in a year. Thus, for each episode of a conflict, a new Startdate2 is coded. In case precise information is lacking, Startdate2 is by default set to 31 December.

An episode is defined as continuous conflict activity. Consequently, a new episode is coded whenever a conflict restarts after one or more year(s) of inactivity.

2.33.5.4 Precision (start_prec2)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_start_prec2

Original tag: start_prec2

Description:

The level of precision for startdate2. The values are explained in section 4.3

2.33.5.5 Inactive Conflict (ep_end)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_ep_end

Original tag: ep end

Description:

A dummy variable that codes whether the conflict is inactive the following year and an episode of the conflict thus ends. If the conflict is inactive the following year(s), this variable is coded as 1. If not, a 0 is coded. For the latest year in the dataset, it is unknown whether the conflict will be recorded as active or inactive in the following year, and the variable is always given the code 0.

2.33.5.6 End of Conflict (ep_end_date)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_ep_end_date

2.34 UCDP CONFLICT TERMINATION DATASET, CONFLICT LEVEL

Original tag: ep_end_date

Description:

This variable is only coded in years where ep_end has the value 1. If a conflict year is followed by at least one year of conflict inactivity, the ep_end_date variable lists, as precise as possible, the date when conflict activity ended.

2.33.5.7 Precision (ep_end_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_ep_end_prec

Original tag: ep_end_prec

Description:

The level of precision for episode end. The values are explained in section 4.4

2.33.6 Dataset Version

The version of the dataset.

2.33.6.1 Dataset Version (version)

Long tag: ucdp_prio_acd_version

Original tag: version

Description:

The version of the dataset: 21.1

2.34 UCDP Conflict Termination Dataset, Conflict Level

Dataset tag: ucdp_term_conflict

Description: This dataset provides information on specific start- and end- dates for conflict activity and means of termination for each conflict episode. The data is available as a conflict-level dataset which corresponds with the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset v 21.1, and a dyad-level dataset which corresponds with the UCDP Dyadic Dataset v. 21.1.

Dataset citation:

Kreutz, Joakim (2010) How and When Armed Conflicts End: Introducing the UCDP Conflict Termination Dataset. *Journal of Peace Research*, 47(2).

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.34.1 Conflict Cause and Conflict End

These variables indicate the cause(s) of the conflict.

2.34.1.1 Conflict Episode ID (conflictep_id)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_conflictep_id

Original tag: conflictep_id

Description:

The unique identifier for each conflict episode. It is constructed by the Conflict ID*100 + 1, 2, 3, etc...

2.34 UCDP Conflict Termination Dataset, Conflict Level

2.34.1.2 Conflict Episode (conflictepisode)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_term_conflict_conflictepisode$

Original tag: conflictepisode

Description:

The unique identifier for each conflict episode. It is constructed by the Conflict ID*100 + 1, 2, 3, etc...

2.34.1.3 Type of Conflict 2 (type_of_conflict2)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_type_of_conflict2

Original tag: type_of_conflict2

Description:

The same conflict episode, or dyadic conflict episode, may include both years where neither side receive secondary support and years when they do. Type 2 thus combine the categories of internal armed conflict and internationalized armed conflict described above.

- 1. Extrasystemic armed conflict.
- 2. Interstate armed conflict.
- 3. Intrastate armed conflict.

2.34.1.4 Conflict Termination (confterm)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_confterm

Original tag: confterm

Description:

Confterm is a dummy variable that codes whether the conflict is inactive the following year and an episode of the conflict thus ends. If the conflict is inactive the following year(s), this variable is coded as 1. If not, a 0 is coded.

2.34.1.5 Outcome (outcome)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_outcome

Original tag: outcome

Description:

The coding of outcomes are based on the final year of activity and first year of non-activity. While the dataset include some information (i.e. ceasefires and peace agreements) outside this window, it does not follow warring party devel- opment beyond this time period.

- 1= Peace agreement
- 2= Ceasefire
- $3 = \mbox{Victory}$ for Side A /Government Side $4 = \mbox{Victory}$ for Side B /Rebel Side
- 5= Low activity (less than 25 battle-deaths) 6= Actor ceases to exist

2.34.1.6 Recurrence (recur)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_recur

Original tag: recur

Description:

A dichotomous measure that this observation is a recurrence of a conflict or dyad which have experienced an spell of non-conflict.

2.34.1.7 Incompatibility (incompatibility)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_incompatibility

Original tag: incompatibility

Description:

The incompatibility for the conflict, taken from the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset. The stated incompatibility is what the parties claim to be fighting over.

1= Territory

2.34 UCDP CONFLICT TERMINATION DATASET, CONFLICT LEVEL

2= Government

3= Government and Territory

2.34.1.8 Intensity Level (intensity_level)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_intensity_level

Original tag: intensity level

Description:

The intensity variable is coded in two categories:

1. Minor: between 25 and 999 battle-related deaths in a given year. 2. War: at least 1,000 battle-related deaths in a given year.

2.34.1.9 Type of Conflict (type_of_conflict)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_term_conflict_type_of_conflict$

Original tag: type_of_conflict

Description:

UCDP define four types of conflict:

- 1. Extrasystemic armed conflict occurs between a state and a non-state group outside its own territory. (In the COW project, extrasystemic war is subdivided into colonial war and imperial war, but this distinction is not used here.) These conflicts are by definition territorial, since the government side is fighting to retain control of a territory outside the state system.
- 2. Interstate armed conflict occurs between two or more states.
- 3.Internal armed conflict occurs between the government of a state and one or more internal opposition group(s) without intervention from other states.
- 4. Internationalized internal armed conflict occurs between the government of a state and one or more internal opposition group(s) with intervention from other states (secondary parties) on one or both sides.

2.34.2 Actors and Identifiers

These variables identify the conflicting parties using the UCDP ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads.

2.34.2.1 Dyad Count (dyadcount)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_dyadcount

Original tag: dyadcount

Description:

This variable provide information about how many different dyads are active in the conflict this year.

2.34.2.2 Conflict ID (conflict_id)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_conflict_id

Original tag: conflict_id

Description:

The unique conflict ID, taken from the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset.

2.34.2.3 Side A (side a)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_side_a

Original tag: side_a

Description:

The first primary party to the conflict, taken from the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset. Side A is by definition always a primary party to the conflict. In internal conflicts, side A is

always the government side, it is one of the sides in interstate conflicts and the colonial state in extrastate conflicts.

2.34.2.4 Side A ID (side_a_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_side_a_id
Original tag: side_a_id
Description:
ID for Side A
```

2.34.2.5 Supporters of Side A (side a 2nd)

```
Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_side_a_2nd
Original tag: side_a_2nd
Description:
```

The state which contribute with troops to actively support Side A in the conflict.

2.34.2.6 Side B (side_b)

```
Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_side_b
Original tag: side_b
Description:
```

The second primary party to the conflict during the conflict episode, taken from the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset. Like Side A, Side B is by definition a primary party to the conflict. Side B is the opposition side of all internal and extrastate conflicts and the second side in an interstate conflict. Thus, side B can include both states and non-governmental opposition groups, depending on the type of conflict.

When the primary party listed on Side B is an opposition group, the column lists the group name in abbreviated form. Even if the group changes its name during the course of the conflict we record them under the same name for all years. See the UCDP Actor Dataset for the full name and name history of opposition groups.

2.34.2.7 Side B ID (side_b_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_side_b_id
Original tag: side_b_id
Description:
```

Side B ID is the unique identifier of the actor on side B in the conflict. For government actors, the Gleditsch and Ward (2007) country codes are used. For non-state actors, the ID is taken from the UCDP Actor Dataset (UCDP 2015a).

2.34.2.8 Supporters of Side B (side_b_2nd)

```
Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_side_b_2nd

Original tag: side_b_2nd

Description:
```

The state which contribute with troops to actively support Side B in the conflict.

2.34.3 Timely Dimension

These variables provide information on when the conflict takes place.

2.34.3.1 Episode End Date (ependdate)

```
Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_ependdate
Original tag: ependdate
```

Description:

The date, as precise as possible, when the conflict violence stopped. If detailed information is lacking the Conflict Termination Dataset sets the date to 31 December.

2.34.3.2 Episode End Date Precision (ependprec)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_ependprec

Original tag: ependprec

Description:

The enddate is coded as precisely as possible. For certain conflicts we can pinpoint the termination of the armed conflict down to a single event, taking place on a specific day. For other conflicts, this is not possible, due to lack of precise information. The Endprec (end precision) is coded to highlight the level of certainty for the date set in the Enddate variable.

- 1= Day, month and year are precisely coded; we have good information on the event.
- 2= Day is assigned; month and year are precisely coded. The assigned date can either be one of several events that can be classified as the last; it can be the last day in a period when several fatalities have been reported jointly or it can be an event that different sources claim occurred on different dates.
- 3= Day is unknown; month and year are precisely coded. The day is known to be in a given month, but we are missing information on an exact date. Day is then set to the last day of the month.
- 4= Month is assigned; year is coded precisely.
- 5= Day and month are unknown, year is coded precisely.
- 6= Year is assigned. There is a wide disagreement between different sources, so that not even year can be coded precisely. The end year is assigned based on subjective judgment.
- 7= Year is missing. No information on the end date is available; Enddate is set to 31 December of the last year recorded in the conflict.

2.34.3.3 Year (year)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_term_conflict_year$

Original tag: year Description:

The year of the observation.

2.34.3.4 Start Date (start date)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_start_date

Original tag: start_date

Description:

The date of the first battle-related death recorded in the conflict is coded as the Startdate in the dataset. The date is set after the conflict fulfils all criteria required in the definition of an armed conflict, except for the number of deaths. In some cases, the initial fatality occurs in a year prior to the first year of activity. For instance, in the conflict in Ethiopia over the territory Eritrea, the first battle-related deaths occurred in September 1961. During the remaining months of 1961, the conflict did not reach the required total of 25 battle-related deaths and the conflict is thus coded as inactive in 1961. 25 battle-related deaths in a year were not recorded until three years later.

2.34.3.5 Start Date Precision (start_prec)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_term_conflict_start_prec$

Original tag: start_prec

Description:

The Startdate is coded as precisely as possible. For certain conflicts we can pinpoint the start of the armed conflict down to a single event, taking place on a specific day. For other conflicts, this is not possible, due to lack of precise in- formation. Startprec (start precision) is coded to

highlight the level of certainty for the date set in the Startdate variable.

- 1= Day, month and year are precisely coded; we have good information on the event.
- 2= Day is assigned; month and year are precisely coded. The assigned date can either be one of several events that can be classified as the first; it can be the last day in a period when several fatalities have been reported jointly or it can be an event that different sources claim occurred on different dates.
- 3= Day is unknown; month and year are precisely coded. The day is known to be in a given month, but we are missing information on an exact date. Day is then set to the first day of the month.
- 4= Month is assigned; year is coded precisely. Day is set as the first day of the assigned month.
- 5= Day and month are unknown, year is coded precisely. Day and month are set as the 1 January of the coded year.
- 6= Year is assigned. There is a wide disagreement between different sources, so that not even year can be coded precisely. The start year is assigned based on subjective judgment.
- 7= Year is missing. No information on the start date is available; Startdate is set to 1 January of the first year recorded in the conflict.

2.34.3.6 Start Date 2 (start_date2)

Long tag: ucdp term conflict start date2

Original tag: start date2

Description:

Startdate2 provides information about the date when a conflict episode reach 25 battle-related deaths in a calendar year, thus indicating the date that all criteria required in the definition of armed conflict are fulfilled.

2.34.3.7 Start Date 2 Precision (start_prec2)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_start_prec2

Original tag: start_prec2

Description:

The level of certainty for the coding of StartDate2.

- 1= Day, month and year are precisely coded; we have good information on the event.
- 2= Day is assigned; month and year are precisely coded. The assigned date can either be one of several events that can be classified as the first; it can be the last day in a period when several fatalities have been reported jointly or it can be an event that different sources claim occurred on different dates.
- 3= Day is unknown; month and year are precisely coded. The day is known to be in a given month, but we are missing information on an exact date. Day is then set to the first day of the month.
- 4= Month is assigned; year is coded precisely. Day is set as the first day of the assigned month.
- 5= Day and month are unknown, year is coded precisely. Day and month are set as the 1 January of the coded year.
- 6= Year is assigned. There is a wide disagreement between different sources, so that not even year can be coded precisely. The start year is assigned based on subjective judgment.
- 7= Year is missing. No information on the start date is available; Startdate is set to 1 January of the first year recorded in the conflict.

2.34.4 Dataset Version

The version of the dataset.

2.34.4.1 Dataset Version (version)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_version

2.34 UCDP CONFLICT TERMINATION DATASET, CONFLICT LEVEL

Original tag: version

Description:

The version of the dataset. Note that this most recent version (v2-2015) include a different coding scheme for outcomes compared with earlier versions.

2.34.5 Geographical Information

These variables provide information on where the conflict takes place.

2.34.5.1 Location (location)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_location

Original tag: location

Description:

The location of the conflict, taken from the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset. Location is defined as the government side of a conflict, and should not be interpreted as the geographical location of the conflict.

For internal and internationalized internal conflicts only one country name is listed. This is the country whose government or territory is disputed. For certain conflicts, such as Kurdistan, the disputed territory is divided between different countries. Following our definition, we have coded separate conflicts for each country.

For interstate conflict, both primary parties are listed in the Location field. Even if several governments are involved in the conflict, only countries that fulfill the inclusion criteria for primary actors are listed here. This normally means that two countries are listed, but there are three notable exceptions: In the Arab-Israeli war of 1948–49 as well as the Suez war of 1956 and the war in Iraq in 2003, there are more than two primary parties to the conflict.

For extrastate conflicts, Location is set to be the disputed area, not the govern- ment of the colonial power. Location is a string variable, listing the names of the countries involved. These might be fighting together or against each other. The string is split in two ways, hyphen ('-') splits the different sides in an in- terstate war, and comma (',') splits different countries fighting together on the same side.

2.34.5.2 Territory Name (territory_name)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_territory_name

Original tag: territory_name

Description:

The specified contested territory for conflicts over territory, taken from the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset. In case the two sides use different names for the disputed territory, the name listed is the one used by the opposition organization.

2.34.5.3 Gleditsch and Ward Location (gwno_loc)

Long tag: ucdp term conflict gwno loc

Original tag: gwno loc

Description:

This field contains the country code(s) for the state(s) listed in the Location variable. Thus, it lists the country codes for the primary party/parties in the conflict. The country codes are taken from Gleditsch and Ward (2007).

2.34.5.4 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_term_conflict_region

Original tag: region

Description:

The geographic region of the conflict, taken from the UCDP/Prio Armed Conflict Dataset. This variable groups the various conflicts into five geographical categories, dependent on the location of the conflict.

2.35 UCDP Conflict Termination Dataset, Dyadic Level

1= Europe

2= Middle East

3 = Asia

4= Africa

5= Americas

2.35 UCDP Conflict Termination Dataset, Dyadic Level

Dataset tag: ucdp_term_dyadic

Description: This dataset provides information on specific start- and end- dates for conflict activity and means of termination for each conflict episode. The data is available as a conflict-level dataset which corresponds with the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset v 21.1, and a dyad-level dataset which corresponds with the UCDP Dyadic Dataset v. 21.1.

Dataset citation:

Kreutz, Joakim (2010) How and When Armed Conflicts End: Introducing the UCDP Conflict Termination Dataset. *Journal of Peace Research*, 47(2).

License: UCDP offers a web-based system for visualising, handling and downloading data, including ready-made datasets on organized violence and peacemaking. All UCDP data are free of charge.

More detailed information on the dataset can be found at the following web page: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/index.html

2.35.1 Actors and Identifiers

These variables identify the conflicting parties using the UCDP ID system for conflicts, actors and dyads.

2.35.1.1 Dyad Episode ID (dyadep_id)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_dyadep_id

Original tag: dyadep id

Description:

ID of the Dyad Episode

2.35.1.2 Dyad Episode (dyadepisode)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_dyadepisode

Original tag: dyadepisode

Description:

The unique identifier for each Dyad-specific conflict episode. It is constructed by the Dyad ${\rm ID}*100+1,\,2,\,3,\,{\rm etc...}$

2.35.1.3 Dyad Count (dyadcount)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_dyadcount

Original tag: dyadcount

Description:

This variable provide information about how many different dyads are active in the conflict this year.

2.35.1.4 Dyad Terminated (dyadterm)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_term_dyadic_dyadterm$

Original tag: dyadterm

Description:

Dyadterm is a dummy variable that codes whether a conflict dyad is inactive the following year and a dyad episode thus ends. If the dyad is inactive the following year(s), this variable is coded as 1. If not, a 0 is coded.

2.35.1.5 Conflict ID (conflict_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_conflict_id
```

Original tag: conflict id

Description:

The unique conflict ID, taken from the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset.

2.35.1.6 Dyad ID (dyad_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_dyad_id
```

Original tag: dyad_id

Description:

The unique dyad ID, taken from the UCDP Dyadic Dataset.

2.35.1.7 Side A (side_a)

```
Long tag: ucdp term dyadic side a
```

Original tag: side a

Description:

The first primary party to the conflict, taken from the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset. Side A is by definition always a primary party to the conflict. In internal conflicts, side A is always the government side, it is one of the sides in interstate conflicts and the colonial state in extrastate conflicts.

2.35.1.8 Side A ID (side_a_id)

```
Long tag: ucdp term dyadic side a id
```

Original tag: side_a_id

Description:

ID for Side A

2.35.1.9 Supporters of Side A (side_a_2nd)

```
Long\ tag:\ ucdp\_term\_dyadic\_side\_a\_2nd
```

Original tag: side_a_2nd

Description:

The state which contribute with troops to actively support Side A in the conflict.

2.35.1.10 Side B (side b)

```
Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_side_b
```

Original tag: side_b

Description:

The second primary party to the conflict during the conflict episode, taken from the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset. Like Side A, Side B is by definition a primary party to the conflict. Side B is the opposition side of all internal and extrastate conflicts and the second side in an interstate conflict. Thus, side B can include both states and non-governmental opposition groups, depending on the type of conflict.

When the primary party listed on Side B is an opposition group, the column lists the group name in abbreviated form. Even if the group changes its name during the course of the conflict we record them under the same name for all years. See the UCDP Actor Dataset for the full name and name history of opposition groups.

2.35 UCDP Conflict Termination Dataset, Dyadic Level

2.35.1.11 Side B ID (side_b_id)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_side_b_id

Original tag: side b id

Description:

Side B ID is the unique identifier of the actor on side B in the conflict. For government actors, the Gleditsch and Ward (2007) country codes are used. For non-state actors, the ID is taken from the UCDP Actor Dataset (UCDP 2015a).

2.35.1.12 Supporters of Side B (side_b_2nd)

 $Long~tag:~ucdp_term_dyadic_side_b_2nd$

Original tag: side b 2nd

Description:

The state which contribute with troops to actively support Side B in the conflict.

2.35.2 Conflict Cause and Conflict End

These variables indicate the cause(s) of the conflict.

2.35.2.1 Type of Conflict 2 (type_of_conflict2)

 $Long\ tag:\ ucdp_term_dyadic_type_of_conflict2$

Original tag: type of conflict2

Description:

The same conflict episode, or dyadic conflict episode, may include both years where neither side receive secondary support and years when they do. Type 2 thus combine the categories of internal armed conflict and internationalized armed conflict described above.

- 1. Extrasystemic armed conflict.
- 2. Interstate armed conflict.
- 3. Intrastate armed conflict.

2.35.2.2 Outcome (outcome)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_outcome

Original tag: outcome

Description:

The coding of outcomes are based on the final year of activity and first year of non-activity. While the dataset include some information (i.e. ceasefires and peace agreements) outside this window, it does not follow warring party devel- opment beyond this time period.

- 1= Peace agreement
- 2= Ceasefire
- 3= Victory for Side A /Government Side 4= Victory for Side B /Rebel Side
- 5= Low activity (less than 25 battle-deaths) 6= Actor ceases to exist

2.35.2.3 Recurrence (recur)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_recur

Original tag: recur

Description:

A dichotomous measure that this observation is a recurrence of a conflict or dyad which have experienced an spell of non-conflict.

2.35.2.4 Incompatibility (incompatibility)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_incompatibility

Original tag: incompatibility

Description:

The incompatibility for the conflict, taken from the UCDP/PRIO Armed Con-flict Dataset.

2.35 UCDP Conflict Termination Dataset, Dyadic Level

The stated incompatibility is what the parties claim to be fighting over.

1= Territory

2= Government

3= Government and Territory

2.35.2.5 Intensity Level (intensity_level)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_intensity_level

Original tag: intensity_level

Description:

The intensity variable is coded in two categories:

1. Minor: between 25 and 999 battle-related deaths in a given year. 2. War: at least 1,000 battle-related deaths in a given year.

2.35.2.6 Type of Conflict (type_of_conflict)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_type_of_conflict

Original tag: type of conflict

Description:

UCDP define four types of conflict:

- 1. Extrasystemic armed conflict occurs between a state and a non-state group outside its own territory. (In the COW project, extrasystemic war is subdivided into colonial war and imperial war, but this distinction is not used here.) These conflicts are by definition territorial, since the government side is fighting to retain control of a territory outside the state system.
- 2. Interstate armed conflict occurs between two or more states.
- 3.Internal armed conflict occurs between the government of a state and one or more internal opposition group(s) without intervention from other states.
- 4. Internationalized internal armed conflict occurs between the government of a state and one or more internal opposition group(s) with intervention from other states (secondary parties) on one or both sides.

2.35.3 Timely Dimension

These variables provide information on when the conflict takes place.

2.35.3.1 Episode End Date (ependdate)

Long tag: ucdp term dyadic ependdate

Original tag: ependdate

Description:

The date, as precise as possible, when the conflict violence stopped. If detailed information is lacking the Conflict Termination Dataset sets the date to 31 December.

2.35.3.2 Episode End Date Precision (ependprec)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_ependprec

Original tag: ependprec

Description:

The enddate is coded as precisely as possible. For certain conflicts we can pinpoint the termination of the armed conflict down to a single event, taking place on a specific day. For other conflicts, this is not possible, due to lack of precise information. The Endprec (end precision) is coded to highlight the level of certainty for the date set in the Enddate variable.

1= Day, month and year are precisely coded; we have good information on the event.

2= Day is assigned; month and year are precisely coded. The assigned date can either be one of several events that can be classified as the last; it can be the last day in a period when

several fatalities have been reported jointly or it can be an event that different sources claim occurred on different dates.

3= Day is unknown; month and year are precisely coded. The day is known to be in a given month, but we are missing information on an exact date. Day is then set to the last day of the month.

4= Month is assigned; year is coded precisely.

5= Day and month are unknown, year is coded precisely.

6= Year is assigned. There is a wide disagreement between different sources, so that not even year can be coded precisely. The end year is assigned based on subjective judgment.

7= Year is missing. No information on the end date is available; Enddate is set to 31 December of the last year recorded in the conflict.

2.35.3.3 Ceasefire Date (cfiredate)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_cfiredate

Original tag: cfiredate

Description:

The date, as precise as possible, when a ceasefire is concluded or publicly an- nounced by the parties. If multiple ceasefires are agreed, the date observed is, if possible, of the first agreement.

2.35.3.4 Peace Agreement Date (peagdate)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_peagdate

Original tag: peagdate

Description:

The date, as precise as possible, when a peace agreement is signed or publicly announced by the parties. In so-called peace process agreements, the date ob- served is, if possible, (a) the date of the concluding (last) agreement or (b) the date of the (first) agreement that establishes the process.

2.35.3.5 Year (year)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_year

Original tag: year

Description:

The year of the observation.

2.35.3.6 Start Date (start_date)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_start_date

Original tag: start_date

Description:

The date of the first battle-related death recorded in the conflict is coded as the Startdate in the dataset. The date is set after the conflict fulfils all criteria required in the definition of an armed conflict, except for the number of deaths. In some cases, the initial fatality occurs in a year prior to the first year of activity. For instance, in the conflict in Ethiopia over the territory Eritrea, the first battle-related deaths occurred in September 1961. During the remaining months of 1961, the conflict did not reach the required total of 25 battle-related deaths and the conflict is thus coded as inactive in 1961. 25 battle-related deaths in a year were not recorded until three years later.

2.35.3.7 Start Date Precision (start_prec)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_start_prec

Original tag: start_prec

Description:

The Startdate is coded as precisely as possible. For certain conflicts we can pinpoint the start of the armed conflict down to a single event, taking place on a specific day. For other conflicts,

this is not possible, due to lack of precise in-formation. Startprec (start precision) is coded to highlight the level of certainty for the date set in the Startdate variable.

- 1= Day, month and year are precisely coded; we have good information on the event.
- 2= Day is assigned; month and year are precisely coded. The assigned date can either be one of several events that can be classified as the first; it can be the last day in a period when several fatalities have been reported jointly or it can be an event that different sources claim occurred on different dates.
- 3= Day is unknown; month and year are precisely coded. The day is known to be in a given month, but we are missing information on an exact date. Day is then set to the first day of the month.
- 4= Month is assigned; year is coded precisely. Day is set as the first day of the assigned month.
- 5= Day and month are unknown, year is coded precisely. Day and month are set as the 1 January of the coded year.
- 6= Year is assigned. There is a wide disagreement between different sources, so that not even year can be coded precisely. The start year is assigned based on subjective judgment.
- 7= Year is missing. No information on the start date is available; Startdate is set to 1 January of the first year recorded in the conflict.

2.35.3.8 Start Date 2 (start_date2)

Long tag: ucdp term dyadic start date2

Original tag: start_date2

Description:

Startdate2 provides information about the date when a conflict episode reach 25 battle-related deaths in a calendar year, thus indicating the date that all criteria required in the definition of armed conflict are fulfilled.

2.35.3.9 Start Date 2 Precision (start_prec2)

Long tag: ucdp term dyadic start prec2

Original tag: start_prec2

Description:

The level of certainty for the coding of StartDate2.

- 1= Day, month and year are precisely coded; we have good information on the event.
- 2= Day is assigned; month and year are precisely coded. The assigned date can either be one of several events that can be classified as the first; it can be the last day in a period when several fatalities have been reported jointly or it can be an event that different sources claim occurred on different dates.
- 3= Day is unknown; month and year are precisely coded. The day is known to be in a given month, but we are missing information on an exact date. Day is then set to the first day of the month
- 4= Month is assigned; year is coded precisely. Day is set as the first day of the assigned month.
- 5= Day and month are unknown, year is coded precisely. Day and month are set as the 1 January of the coded year.
- 6= Year is assigned. There is a wide disagreement between different sources, so that not even year can be coded precisely. The start year is assigned based on subjective judgment.
- 7= Year is missing. No information on the start date is available; Startdate is set to 1 January of the first year recorded in the conflict.

2.35.4 Dataset Version

The version of the dataset.

2.35.4.1 Dataset Version (version)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_version

2.35 UCDP Conflict Termination Dataset, Dyadic Level

Original tag: version

Description:

The version of the dataset. Note that this most recent version (v2-2015) include a different coding scheme for outcomes compared with earlier versions.

2.35.5 Geographical Information

These variables provide information on where the conflict takes place.

2.35.5.1 Location (location)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_location

Original tag: location

Description:

The location of the conflict, taken from the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset. Location is defined as the government side of a conflict, and should not be interpreted as the geographical location of the conflict.

For internal and internationalized internal conflicts only one country name is listed. This is the country whose government or territory is disputed. For certain conflicts, such as Kurdistan, the disputed territory is divided between different countries. Following our definition, we have coded separate conflicts for each country.

For interstate conflict, both primary parties are listed in the Location field. Even if several governments are involved in the conflict, only countries that fulfill the inclusion criteria for primary actors are listed here. This normally means that two countries are listed, but there are three notable exceptions: In the Arab-Israeli war of 1948–49 as well as the Suez war of 1956 and the war in Iraq in 2003, there are more than two primary parties to the conflict.

For extrastate conflicts, Location is set to be the disputed area, not the govern- ment of the colonial power. Location is a string variable, listing the names of the countries involved. These might be fighting together or against each other. The string is split in two ways, hyphen ('-') splits the different sides in an in- terstate war, and comma (',') splits different countries fighting together on the same side.

2.35.5.2 Territory Name (territory_name)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_territory_name

Original tag: territory_name

Description:

The specified contested territory for conflicts over territory, taken from the UCDP/PRIO Armed Conflict Dataset. In case the two sides use different names for the disputed territory, the name listed is the one used by the opposition organization.

2.35.5.3 Gleditsch and Ward Location (gwno_loc)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_gwno_loc

Original tag: gwno loc

Description:

This field contains the country code(s) for the state(s) listed in the Location variable. Thus, it lists the country codes for the primary party/parties in the conflict. The country codes are taken from Gleditsch and Ward (2007).

2.35.5.4 Region (region)

Long tag: ucdp_term_dyadic_region

Original tag: region

Description:

The geographic region of the conflict, taken from the UCDP/Prio Armed Conflict Dataset. This variable groups the various conflicts into five geographical categories, dependent on the location of the conflict.

UCDP AND VIEWS

2.35 UCDP Conflict Termination Dataset, Dyadic Level

- 1 = Europe
- 2= Middle East
- 3 = Asia
- 4 = Africa
- 5 = Americas

3 Bibliography

- Acemoglu, D., Johnson, S. & Robinson, J. A. (2001), 'The colonial origins of comparative development: An empirical investigation', *The American Economic Review* **91**(5), 1369–1401.
- Agrast, M., Botero, J., Martinez, J., Ponce, A. & Pratt, C. (2017), 'WJP Rule of Law Index 2017'.
- AidData (2017), 'Aiddatacore_researchrelease_level1_v3.1 research releases dataset'. Accessed on 2021-08-25.
 - **URL:** http://aiddata.org/research-datasets
- Aklin, M. & Urpelainen, J. (2014), 'The global spread of environmental ministries: domestic—international interactions', *International Studies Quarterly* **58**(4), 764–780.
- Alesina, A., Devleeschauwer, A., Easterly, W., Kurlat, S. & Wacziarg, R. (2003), 'Fractionalization', Journal of Economic Growth 8(2), 155–194. O. Galor (ed.) (2011), Inequality and Economic Development: The Modern Perspective, Edward Elgar, UK.
- Alvaredo, F., Atkinson, A. B., Piketty, T. & Saez, E. (2020a), 'World inequality database'. URL: http://wid.world/data
- Alvaredo, F., Atkinson, A. B., Piketty, T. & Saez, E. (2020b), 'World inequality report 2020'. URL: http://wid.world/
- Andersson, Per F. and Thomas Brambor (2019), 'Financing the state: Government tax revenue from 1800 to 2012, version 2.0'.
 - **URL:** https://www.perfandersson.com/data
- Armingeon, K., Engler, S. & Leemann, L. (2021), 'Comparative political data set 1960-2019'.
- Barro, R. J. & Lee, J. W. (2013), 'A new data set of educational attainment in the world, 1950–2010', *Journal of Development Economics* **104**, 184–198.
- Bernauer, T., Böhmelt, T. & Koubi, V. (2013), 'Is there a democracy-civil society paradox in global environmental governance?', Global Environmental Politics 13(1), 88–107.
- Bernhard, M., Nordstrom, T. & Reenock, C. (2001), 'Economic performance, institutional intermediation, and democratic breakdown', *Journal of Politics* **63**(3), 775–803.
- Bjørnskov, C. & Rode, M. (2020), 'Regime types and regime change: A new dataset on democracy, coups, and political institutions', *Review of International Organizations* **15**, 531–551.
- Boix, C., Miller, M. K. & Rosato, S. (2013), 'A complete data set of political regimes, 1800-2007', Comparative Political Studies 46(12), 1523-54.
- Boix, C., Miller, M. K. & Rosato, S. (2022), 'Boix-miller-rosato dichotomous coding of democracy, 1800-2020', *Harvard Dataverse* V1. UNF:6:6u8JNSHqP+yYKbLzrgFDug== [fileUNF].
- Bolt, J. & van Zanden, J. L. (2020), 'Maddison project database, version 2020'. Maddison style estimates of the evolution of the world economy: A new 2020 update.
 - **URL:** https://www.rug.nl/ggdc/historicaldevelopment/maddison/research
- Borcan, O., Olsson, O. & Putterman, L. (2018), 'State history and economic development: Evidence from six millennia', *Journal of Economic Growth 23(1): 1-40*.
 - URL: https://sites.google.com/site/econolaols/extended-state-history-index
- Bormann, N.-C. & Golder, M. (2013), 'Democratic electoral systems around the world, 1946–2011', Electoral Studies 32, 360–369.
- Boräng, F., Felgendreher, S., Harring, N. & Löfgren, (2019), 'Committing to the climate: a global study of accountable climate targets', Sustainability 11(7), 1861.
- Botta, E. & Kozluk, T. (2014), 'Measuring environmental policy stringency in oecd countries: A composite index approach', *OECD Economics Department Working Papers* (1177). Date accessed: 23 August 2020.

- Brambor, T., Goenaga, A., Lindvall, J. & JanTeorell (2020), 'The lay of the land: Information capacity and the state', *Comparative Political Studies* **53**(2), 175–213.
- Bättig, M. B., Brander, S. & Imboden, D. M. (2008), 'Measuring countries' cooperation within the international climate change regime', *Environmental Science & Policy* **11**(6), 478–489.
- Center for International Earth Science Information Network CIESIN Columbia University (2019), 'Natural resource protection and child health indicators, 2020 release'. Accessed on: 20-12-2021. URL: https://doi.org/10.7927/r6mv-sv82
- Cheibub, J. A., Gandhi, J. & Vreeland, J. R. (2010), 'Democracy and dictatorship revisited', *Public Choice* **143**(1-2), 67–101.
- Cingranelli, D. L., Filippov, M. & Mark, S. (2019), 'The CIRIGHTS dataset', *The Binghamton University Human Right Institute*. Version 2019.07.21.

 URL: www.binghamton.edu/institutes/hri
- Cingranelli, D. L., Richards, D. L. & Clay, K. C. (2014), 'The CIRI Human Rights Dataset', CIRI Human Rights Data Project 6. Version 2014.04.14.
- Coppedge, M., Alvarez, A. & Maldonado, C. (2008), 'Two persistent dimensions of democracy: Contestation and inclusiveness', *The Journal of Politics* **70**(3), 632–647.
- Coppedge, M., Gerring, J., Knutsen, C. H., Lindberg, S. I., Teorell, J., Alizada, N., Altman, D., Bernhard, M., Cornell, A., Fish, M. S., Gastaldi, L., Gjerløw, H., Glynn, A., Hicken, A., Hindle, G., Ilchenko, N., Krusell, J., Luhrmann, A., Maerz, S. F., Marquardt, K. L., McMann, K., Mechkova, V., Medzihorsky, J., Paxton, P., Pemstein, D., Pernes, J., von Römer, J., Seim, B., Sigman, R., Skaaning, S.-E., Staton, J., Sundström, A., tan Tzelgov, E., ting Wang, Y., Wig, T., Wilson, S. & Ziblatt, D. (2021), 'V-dem [country-year/country-date] dataset v11.1'.
- Crippa, M., Guizzardi, D., Muntean, M., Schaaf, E. & Oreggioni, G. (2019), 'Edgar v5.0 global air pollutant emissions'. Date accessed: 16 April 2020.

 URL: http://data.europa.eu/89h/377801af-b094-4943-8fdc-f79a7c0c2d19
- Crippa, M., Guizzardi, D., Muntean, M., Schaaf, E., Solazzo, E., Monforti-Ferrario, F., Olivier, J. & Vignati, E. (2020), 'Fossil co2 emissions of all world countries 2020 report'. Date accessed: 16 April 2020.
 - URL: https://edgar.jrc.ec.europa.eu/overview.php?v=booklet2020
- Crippa, M., Solazzo, E., Huang, G., Guizzardi, D., Koffi, E., Muntean, M., Schieberle, C., Friedrich, R. & Janssens-Maenhout, G. (2020), 'High resolution temporal profiles in the emissions database for global atmospheric research', *Nature Scientific Data* 7(1), 1–17.
- Dahlstrom, C., Teorell, J., Dahlberg, S., Hartmann, F., Lindberg, A. & Nistotskaya, M. (2015), 'The QoG Expert Survey Dataset'.
- Deininger, K. & Squire, L. (1996), 'A new data set measuring income inequality', *The World Bank Economic Review* **10**(3), 565–591.
- Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2020), 'United nations e-government survey'. URL: https://publicadministration.un.org/egovkb/en-us/Reports/UN-E-Government-Survey-2020
- Donner, S., Hartmann, H. & Schwarz, R. (2020), Transformation Index of the Bertelsmann Stiftung 2020, Bertelsmann Stiftung.

 URL: http://www.bti-project.org
- Dreher, A. (2006), 'Does globalization affect growth? evidence from a new index of globalization', *Applied Economics* **38**(10), 1091–1110.
- Easterly, W. & Levine, R. (1997), 'Africa's growth tragedy: policies and ethnic divisions', *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* pp. 1203–1250.
- Elgin, C. & Oztunali, O. (2012), 'Shadow economies around the world: model based estimates', Bogazici University Department of Economics Working Papers 5.

Elkins, Z. & Ginsburg, T. (2021), 'Characteristics of national constitutions, version 3.0'. Last modified: May 20, 2021. Available at comparative constitutions project.org.

URL: http://www.comparativeconstitutionsproject.org

Emanuele, V. (2015), 'Dataset of electoral volatility and its internal components in western europe (1946-2015)'.

URL: http://www.vincenzoemanuele.com/dataset-of-electoral-volatility.html

Emanuele, V. (2016), 'Dataset of new parties and party system innovation in western europe since 1945'

URL: http://www.vincenzoemanuele.com/dataset-of-electoral-volatility.html

Emanuele, V., Angelucci, D., Marino, B., Puleo, L. & Vegetti, F. (2020), 'The congealing of a new cleavage? the evolution of the demarcation bloc in europe (1979–2019)', *Italian Political Science Review* pp. 1–20.

Ensheng, D., Du, H. & Gardner, L. (2020), 'An interactive web-based dashboard to track covid-19 in real time', *The Lancet* **20**(5), 533–534.

Eskander, S. & S., F. (2020), 'Reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from national climate legislation', *Nature Climate Change* **10**, 750–756. Date accessed:.

URL: https://github.com/smsu1979/Eskander-Fankhauser-NCC-2020-

European Commission (2021), 'Eurostat'.

URL: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/database

European Commission, Joint Research Centre (EC-JRC)/Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency (PBL) (2020), 'Emissions database for global atmospheric research (edgar), release edgar v5.0 (1970 - 2015) of april 2020'. Date accessed: 27 February 2021.

URL: https://edgar.jrc.ec.europa.eu/overview.php?v=50_AP

EVS (2020), 'European Values Study 2017: Integrated Dataset (EVS 2017)'.

 ${\bf URL:}\ https://doi.org/10.4232/1.13560$

EVS (2021), 'EVS Trend File 1981-2017'.

URL: https://doi.org/10.4232/1.13736

FAO (2021), 'Aquastat database'. Date accessed: 10 June 2021.

URL: http://www.fao.org/aquastat/statistics/query/index.html

Fazekas, M. & Kocsis, G. (2017), 'Uncovering high-level corruption: Cross-national objective corruption risk indicators using public procurement data'.

Fearon, J. D. (2003), 'Ethnic and cultural diversity by country', *Journal of Economic Growth* 8(2), 195–222.

Feenstra, R. C., Inklaar, R. & Timmer, M. P. (2015), 'The next generation of the penn world table', The American Economic Review 105(10), 3150–3182.

URL: www.ggdc.net/pwt

Finnish Social Science Data Archive [producer and distributor] (2019), 'Measures of democracy 1810-2018 [codebook]'. Version 8.0.

Fish, M. S. & Kroenig, M. (2009), *The Handbook of National Legislatures: A Global Survey*, Cambridge University Press.

Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations (2016), 'Fishery commodities global production and trade'.

URL: http://www.fao.org/fishery/statistics/global-commodities-production/query/en

Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations (2021), 'Global forest resources assessments'.

URL: http://www.fao.org/forest-resources-assessment/en/

- Forman-Rabinovici, A. & Sommer, U. (2018), 'Reproductive health policymakers: Comparing the influences of international and domestic institutions on abortion policy', *Public Administration* **96**(1), 185–199.
- Fox, J. (2011), 'Building composite measures of religion and state', *Interdisciplinary Journal of Research on Religion* 7, 1–39.
- Fox, J. (2015), Political Secularism, Religion, and the State: A Time Series Analysis of Worldwide Data, Cambridge University Press.
- Fox, J. (2017), 'Religion and state dataset: Round 3'. URL: http://www.religionandstate.org/
- Fox, J., Finke, R. & Mataic, D. R. (2018), 'New data and measures on societal discrimination and religious minorities', *Interdisciplinary Journal of Research on Religion* **2**(14).
- Freedom House (2017), 'Freedom of the press 2017'.

URL: https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-press/freedom-press-2017

Freedom House (2021a), 'Freedom in the world 2021'.

URL: https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-world

- Freedom House (2021b), 'Freedom on the net 2020: The global drive to control big tech'. URL: https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-net/2021/global-drive-control-big-tech
- Garriga, A. C. (2016), 'Central bank independence in the world: A new dataset', *International Interactions* **42**(5), 849–868.

URL: https://sites.google.com/site/carogarriga/cbi-data-1?authuser=0

- Geddes, B., Wright, J. & Frantz, E. (2014a), 'Autocratic breakdown and regime transitions: A new data set', *Perspectives on Politics* **12**(2), 313–331.
- Geddes, B., Wright, J. & Frantz, E. (2014b), 'Autocratic breakdown and regime transitions: A new data set', *Perspectives on Politics* **12**(2), 313–331.
- Gerring, J., Thacker, S. C. & Moreno, C. (2005), 'Centripetal democratic governance: A theory and global inquiry', *The American Political Science Review* **99**(4), 567–581.

 URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/30038965
- Gibney, M., Cornett, L. & Haschke, P. (2021), 'The societal violence scale'. Data retrieved from the Political Terror Scale website.

URL: http://www.politicalterrorscale.org/Data/Documentation-SVS.html

- Gibney, M., Cornett, L., Wood, R., Haschke, P., Arnon, D., Pisanò, A., Barrett, G. & Park, B. (2020), 'The political terror scale 1976-2019'. Data retrieved from the Political Terror Scale website. URL: http://www.politicalterrorscale.org
- Gleditsch, K. S. (2002), 'Expanded trade and GDP data (version 6.0)', *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 46(5), 712–724.
- Gleditsch, K. & Ward, M. D. (1999), 'Interstate system membership: A revised list of the independent states since 1816', *International Interactions* **25**, 393–413.
- Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network (2020), 'Global burden of disease study 2019 (gbd 2019) results.'

URL: http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool

Global Footprint Network (2019), 'National footprint and biocapacity accounts (1961-2016), 2019 edition'. Date accessed: 21 October 2020.

URL: https://data.footprintnetwork.org

Global Footprint Network (2021), 'National footprint accounts data set (1961-2017), 2021 edition'. c 2021 Global Footprint Network. National Footprint Accounts, 2021 Edition, www.footprintnetwork.org.

URL: http://www.footprintnetwork.org

- Global Integrity (2013), 'Global integrity report 2013', Methodology white paper, Global Integrity.
- Global Integrity (2021), 'Africa integrity indicators 2014-2021'.
- Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment & Sabin Center for Climate Change Law (2021), 'Climate change laws of the world database'. Date accessed: 7 June 2021. URL: climate-laws.org
- Grimes, M. (2008), 'The conditions of successful civil society involvement in combating corruption: A survey of case study evidence', QoG Working Paper Series 22.
- Guha-Sapir, D. (2020), 'Em-dat, the emergency events database'. Date accessed 23 December 2020. URL: www.emdat.be
- Guillen, M. & Capron, L. (2016), 'State capacity, minority shareholder protections, and stock market development', *Administrative Science Quarterly* **61**(1), 125–160.
- Gwartney, J., Lawson, R., Hall, J., Murphy, R., Callais, J. T., Fike, R., Geloso, V., Kahli, N. S., McMahon, F. & van Staden, M. (2021), 'Economic Freedom Dataset 2021, published in Economic Freedom of the World: 2021', Fraser Institute.
 - URL: https://www.fraserinstitute.org/economic-freedom/dataset
- Gygli, S., Haelg, F., Potrafke, N. & Sturm, J.-E. (2019), 'The KOF Globalisation Index Revisited'.
- Hadenius, A. & Teorell, J. (2007), 'Pathways from authoritarianism', *Journal of Democracy* **18**(1), 143–157.
- Haerpfer, C., Inglehart, R., Moreno, A., Welzel, C., Kizilova, K., Diez-Medrano, J., Lagos, M., Norris, P., Ponarin, E. & et al., B. P. (2021), 'World Values Survey Time-Series (1981-2020) Cross-National Data-Set: Data File Version 2.0.0'.
 - **URL:** https://doi.org/10.14281/18241.15
- Haerpfer, C., Inglehart, R., Moreno, A., Welzel, C., Kizilova, K., J., D.-M., M. Lagos, P. N., Ponarin, E. & B. Puranen, e. a. (2020), 'World Values Survey: Round Seven Country-Pooled Datafile'. URL: http://www.worldvaluessurvey.org/WVSDocumentationWV7.jsp
- Haken, N., Messner, J., Hendry, K., Taft, P., Lawrence, K., Anderson, T., Jaeger, R., Manning, N., Umaña, F. & Whitehead, A. (2020), 'Failed states index 2006-2020', *The Fund for Peace (FFP)* . URL: http://fundforpeace.org/fsi/
- Halpern, B., Longo, C., Hardy, D., McLeod, K., Samhouri, J. & Steven Katona, e. a. (2012), 'An index to assess the health and benefits of the global ocean', *Nature* 488, 615–620.
- Halpern, B., Longo, C., Hardy, D., McLeod, K., Samhouri, J. & Steven Katona, e. a. (2018), 'Ocean health index'. ohi-global version: Global scenarios data for Ocean Health Index. URL: https://github.com/OHI-Science/ohi-global/releases
- Hanson, J. K. & Sigman, R. (2021), 'Leviathan's latent dimensions: Measuring state capacity for comparative political research', *The Journal of Politics* 83(4), 1495–1510.
- Harbom, L., Mellander, E. & Wallensteen, P. (2008), 'Dyadic dimensions of armed conflict', *Journal of peace research* **45**(5), 697–710.
- Harris, I., Osborn, T. J., Jones, P. & Lister, D. (2020), 'Version 4 of the CRU TS monthly high-resolution gridded multivariate climate dataset', *Scientific Data* **7**(1), 109. **URL:** https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-020-0453-3
- Heichel, S., Holzinger, K., Sommerer, T., Liefferink, D., Pape, J. & Veenman, S. (2008), Research design, variables and data, in K. Holzinger, C. Knill & H. Jörgens, eds, 'Environmental Policy Convergence in Europe: The Impact of International Institutions and Trade', Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 64–97. Date accessed: 24 March 2020.
 - $\label{lem:uran} \textbf{URL:} \ \ https://www.polver.uni-konstanz.de/en/holzinger/research/research-projects/environmental-policy-convergence-in-europe-envipolcon/project-deliverables/$
- Helliwell, J., Layard, R., Sachs, J. & Neve, J. D. (2020), 'World happiness report 2020'.

Henisz, W. J. (2002), 'The institutional environment for infrastructure investment', *Industrial and Corporate Change* 11(2).

Henisz, W. J. (2017), 'The Political Constraint Index (POLCON) Dataset 2017 release'.

URL: https://mgmt.wharton.upenn.edu/profile/1327

Hollyer, J. R., Rosendorff, B. P. & Vreeland, J. R. (2014), 'Measuring transparency', *Political Analysis* **22**(4), 413–434.

Holzinger, K., Knill, C. & Sommerer, T. (2011), 'Is there convergence of national environmental policies? an analysis of policy outputs in 24 oecd countries', *Environmental politics* **20**(1), 20–41. Date accessed: 23 July 2020.

 $\label{thm:continuous} \textbf{URL:} \quad \text{$https://www.polver.uni-konstanz.de/holzinger/research/research-projects/policy-wandel-in-der-umweltpolitik-der-einfluss-von-nationalen-vetospielern-und-transnationalem-policy-learning/der-datensatz-environmental-policy-chance-envipolchange/}$

Hyde, S. D. & Marinov, N. (2012), 'Which elections can be lost?', Political Analysis 20(2), 191–201.

Hyde, S. D. & Marinov, N. (2021), 'Codebook for national elections across democracy and autocracy dataset, 5.0'.

URL: https://nelda.co/

ICTD/UNU-WIDER (2020), 'Government revenue dataset'.

URL: https://www.wider.unu.edu/project/government-revenue-dataset

Institute for Economics and Peace (2020), 'Global terrorism index 2020: Measuring the impact of terrorism'. Accessed 11-11-2021.

URL: http://www.visionofhumanity.org//page/indexes/terrorism-index

Institute for Economics and Peace (2021), 'Global peace index 2021: Measuring peace in a complex world'. Accessed 09-11-2021.

URL: http://visionofhumanity.org/reports

Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME) (2015), 'Global educational attainment 1970-2015'.

Inter-Parliamentary Union (2021), 'Parline database: Monthly ranking of women in national parliaments'.

URL: https://data.ipu.org/women-ranking

International Budget Partnership (2019), 'Open budget survey data'. Accessed on 2021-12-01.

URL: https://www.internationalbudget.org/data-evidence/

International Monetary Fund (2018), 'World economic outlook database'.

URL: https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2017/01/weodata/index.aspx

International Monetary Fund (2019), 'Government finance statistics yearbook (gfsy) 2019'.

URL: https://data.imf.org/?sk=a0867067-d23c-4ebc-ad23-d3b015045405

International, T. (2017), 'Global corruption barometer 9th edition'.

URL: https://www.transparency.org/research/gcb

International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources (2016), 'The iucn red list of threatened species. version 2016-2.'.

URL: http://www.iucnredlist.org

International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources (2021), 'The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2021-3'.

URL: http://www.iucnredlist.org

International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) (2012), 'Environmental treaty status data set 2012 release'.

URL: http://sedac.ciesin.columbia.edu/data/set/entri-treaty-status-2012/

- ISSP Research Group (1995), 'International social survey programme: Environment i issp 1993', GESIS Data Archive, Cologne. ZA2450 Data file Version 1.0.0, https://doi.org/10.4232/1.2450. Date accessed: 17 February 2016.
- ISSP Research Group (2003), 'International social survey programme: Environment ii issp 2000', GESIS Data Archive, Cologne. ZA3440 Data file Version 1.0.0, https://doi.org/10.4232/1.3440. Date accessed: 17 February 2016.
- ISSP Research Group (2019), 'International social survey programme: Environment iii issp 2010', GESIS Data Archive, Cologne. ZA5500 Data file Version 3.0.0, https://doi.org/10.4232/1.13271. Date accessed: 17 February 2016.
- Johnson, J. W. & Wallack, J. S. (2012), 'Electoral systems and the personal vote'. URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1902.1/17901
- Kaufmann, D., Kraay, A. & Mastruzzi, M. (2010), 'The worldwide governance indicators: a summary of methodology, data and analytical issues', World Bank Policy Research Working Paper **5430**.
- Klassen, A. (2018), 'Human understanding measured across national (human) surveys: Country-year data'.
- Korpi, W. & Palme, J. (2007), 'The social citizenship indicator program (scip)', Swedish Institute for Social Research, Stockholm University.
- Kuncic, A. (2014), 'Institutional quality dataset', Journal of Institutional Economics 10(01), 135–161.
- Leeds, B., Ashley, J., Ritter, S. M., McLaughlin, M. & Long, A. G. (2002), 'Alliance treaty obligations and provisions, 1815–1944', *International Interactions* **28**, 237–260.
- LIS Cross-National Data Center in Luxembourg (2021), 'Lis inequality and poverty key figures'. Accessed on 2021-12-09.
 - **URL:** https://www.lisdatacenter.org/download-key-figures/
- Lührmann, A., Düpont, N., Higashijima, M., Kavasoglu, Y. B., Marquardt, K. L., Bernhard, M., Döring, H., Hicken, A., Laebens, M., Lindberg, S. I., Medzihorsky, J., Neundorf, A., Reuter, O. J., Ruth-Lovell, S., Weghorst, K. R., Wiesehomeier, N., Wright, J., Alizada, N., Bederke, P., Gastaldi, L., Grahn, S., Hindle, G., Ilchenko, N., von Römer, J., Wilson, S., Pemstein, D. & Seim, B. (2020), 'Varieties of party identity and organization (v-party) dataset v1'. Date accessed: 22 February 2021.
- Maoz, Z. & Henderson, E. A. (2013), 'The world religion dataset, 1945-2010: Logic, estimates, and trends', *International Interactions* **39**(3).
- Maoz, Z. & Henderson, E. A. (2019), 'World religion project: Global religion dataset'. URL: https://www.thearda.com/Archive/Files/Descriptions/WRPNATL.asp
- Marshall, M. G. (2017), 'Major episodes of political violence (mepv) and conflict regions, 1946-2016, center for systematic peace'.
- Marshall, M. G. & Elzinga-Marshall, G. (2017), 'Global report 2017: Conflict, governance, and state fragility'.
- Marshall, M. G. & Gurr, T. R. (2020), 'Polity v project, political regime characteristics and transitions, 1800-2018'.
- Marshall, M. G., Marshall, D. F. R. & Young, S. M. (1999), 'Memberships in conventional intergovernmental organizations, 1952-1997'.
- Miller, T., Kim, A. B. & Roberts, J. M. (2021), '2021 index of economic freedom'. URL: http://www.heritage.org/index/
- Mitchell, R. B. (2020), 'International environmental agreements database project (version 2020.1)'. Date accessed: 15 November 2020.

URL: http://iea.uoregon.edu/

- Mitchell, R. B., Andonova, L. B., Axelrod, M., Balsiger, J., Bernauer, T., Green, J. F., Hollway, J., Kim, R. E. & Morin, J.-F. (2020), 'What we know (and could know) about international environmental agreements', *Global Environmental Politics* **20**(1), 103–121.
- Mo Ibrahim Foundation (2020), 'The Ibrahim Index of African Governance'. URL: http://mo.ibrahim.foundation/iiag/
- Mungiu-Pippidi, A., Dadasov, R., Martinez-Kukutschka, R., Alvarado-Pachon, N., Dykes, V., Kossow, N. & Khaghaghordyan, A. (2019), 'Index of public integrity'.

 URL: http://www.integrity-index.org
- Mutschler, Max. M and Marius Bales (2020), Global Militarization Index 2020, Bonn International Center for Conversion BICC.

 URL: https://gmi.bicc.de/
- Nelson, K., Fredriksson, D., Korpi, T., Korpi, W., Palme, J. & Sjöberg, O. (2020), 'The social policy indicators (spin) database'.

URL: http://www.spin.su.se/datasets/sied

- Nistotskaya, M., Dahlberg, S., Dahlström, C., Sundström, A., Axelsson, S., Dalli, C. M. & Alvarado, N. (2021), 'The Quality of Government Expert Survey 2020 Dataset: Wave III'. URL: http://www.qog.pol.gu.se
- Norris, P. (2009), 'Democracy Timeseries Data Release 3.0'. URL: http://www.hks.harvard.edu/fs/pnorris/Data/Data.htm
- Norris, P. & Groemping, M. (2019), 'Perceptions of Electoral Integrity, (PEI-7.0)'. V2, UNF:6:2wnukYraCZzg+gojPE/Ijg== [fileUNF].
- NSD Norwegian Centre for Research Data (2018), 'European social survey cumulative file, ess 1-8'. Data Archive and distributor of ESS data for ESS ERIC.

 URL: http://www.europeansocialsurvey.org/
- NSD Norwegian Centre for Research Data (2020), 'European social survey cumulative file, ess 1-9'. Data Archive and distributor of ESS data for ESS ERIC.

 URL: http://www.europeansocialsurvey.org/
- Nunn, N. (2008), 'The long term effects of africa's slave trades', Quarterly Journal of Economics 123, 139–176.
- Nunn, N. & Puga, D. (2012), 'Ruggedness: The blessing of bad geography in Africa', Review of Economics and Statistics 94(1), 20–36.
- Nyrup, J. & Bramwell, S. (2020), 'Who governs? a new global dataset on members of cabinets', *American Political Science Review* **114**(4), 1366–1374.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2021), 'Country statistical profiles: Key tables from OECD'.
 - $\begin{tabular}{ll} \textbf{URL:} & https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/economics/country-statistical-profiles-key-tables-from-oecd_20752288 \end{tabular}$
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2020a), 'Environmental protection expenditure account (epea)'. Date accessed: 13 May 2020.
 - URL: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-manuals-and-guidelines/-/KS-GQ-17-004
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2020b), 'Environmentally adjusted multifactor productivity'. Date accessed: 13 May 2020.

 URL: oe.cd/eamfp
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2020c), 'Exposure to pm2.5 in countries and regions (edition 2018)'. Date accessed: 13 May 2020.
 - URL: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/data/oecd-environment-statistics_env-data-en

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2020 d), 'Green growth indicators database'. Date accessed: 23 August 2020.

URL: https://stats.oecd.org/

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2020 e), 'Oecd environment statistics'. Date accessed: 13 May 2020.

URL: https://stats.oecd.org/

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2020f), 'Policy instruments for the environment (pine)'. Date accessed: 13 May 2020.

URL: oe.cd/pine

Ouattara, B. & Standaert, S. (2020), 'Property rights revisited', European Journal of Political Economy 64, 101895.

URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0176268020300434

Pauly, D. & Zeller, D. (2016), 'Sea around us concepts, design and data'.

Pemstein, D., Marquardt, K. L., Tzelgov, E., ting Wang, Y., Medzihorsky, J., Krusell, J., Miri, F. & von Römer, J. (2020), 'The V-Dem measurement model: Latent variable analysis for cross-national and cross-temporal expert-coded data'.

Pemstein, D., Marquardt, K. L., Tzelgov, E., ting Wang, Y., Medzihorsky, J., Krusell, J., Miri, F. & von Römer, J. (2021), 'The V-Dem measurement model: Latent variable analysis for cross-national and cross-temporal expert-coded data'.

Pemstein, D., Meserve, S. A. & Melton, J. (2017), 'Democratic compromise: A latent variable analysis of ten measures of regime type', *Political Analysis* **18**(4), 426–449.

Persson, T. & Tabellini, G. E. (2003), The Economic Effects of Constitutions, MIT Press. Munich Lectures in Economics.

Pettersson, T. (2020), 'UCDP Dyadic Dataset Codebook v 20.1'.

URL: https://ucdp.uu.se/downloads/

Pettersson, T., Davis, S., Deniz, A., Engström, G., Hawach, N., Högbladh, S., Sollenberg, M. & Öberg, M. (2021), 'Organized violence 1989-2020, with a special emphasis on syria', *Journal of Peace Research* **58**(4), 809–825.

Porta, R. L., de Silanes, F. L., Shleifer, A. & Vishny, R. (1999), 'The quality of government', *Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization* **15**(1), 222–279.

PRS Group et al. (2021), 'International country risk guide'.

Reporters sans frontières (2021), 'World press freedom index'.

URL: https://rsf.org/en/ranking

Rodríguez, M. C., Haščič, I. & Souchier, M. (2018), 'Environmentally adjusted multifactor productivity: methodology and empirical results for oecd and g20 countries', *Ecological Economics* **153**, 147–160.

Roeder, P. G. (2001), 'Ethnolinguistic fractionalization (ELF) indices, 1961 and 1985'.

URL: http://pages.ucsd.edu/ proeder/elf.htm

Ross, M. & Mahdavi, P. (2015), 'Oil and gas data, 1932-2014'.

URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.7910/DVN/ZTPW0Y

Rotberg, R. I. & Gisselquist, R. M. (2015), '2009 index of african governance data set'. URL: http://www.nber.org/data/iag.html

Scartascini, C., Cruz, C. & Keefer, P. (2018), 'Database of political institutions codebook 2017 (dpi2017)', Numbers for Development.

 $\begin{tabular}{ll} \textbf{URL:} & https://mydata.iadb.org/Reform-Modernization-of-the-State/Database-of-Political-Institutions-2017 \end{tabular}$

Schiller, C. & Hellmann, T. (2020), 'Sustainable governance indicators 2020', Bertelsmann Stiftung . Date accessed: 12 December 2021.

URL: https://www.sgi-network.org

Schraad-Tischler, D. & Schiller, C. (2016), 'Social justice in the eu - index report 2016. social inclusion monitor europe.'

Scruggs, L., Jahn, D. & Kuitto, K. (2017), 'Comparative welfare entitlements dataset 2. version 2017-09', University of Connecticut and University of Greifswald. Available at: http://cwed2.org.

Shaddick, G., Thomas, M. L., Amini, H., Broday, D., Cohen, A., Frostad, J., Green, A., Gumy, S., Liu, Y., Martin, R. V. et al. (2018), 'Data integration for the assessment of population exposure to ambient air pollution for global burden of disease assessment', *Environmental Science & Technology* 52(16), 9069–9078.

Social Policy Indicators Database (SPIN) (2015), 'The parental leave benefit dataset (PLB)'. Accessed on 2017-12-15.

URL: http://www.spin.su.se/datasets/plb

Standaert, S. (2015), 'Divining the level of corruption: A bayesian state-space approach', *Journal of Comparative Economics* **43**(3), 782–803.

URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0147596714000584

Sundström, A. & Stockemer, D. (2020), 'Conceptualizing, measuring, and explaining youths' relative absence in legislatures', *PS: Political Science and Politics* p. 1–7.

Swank, D. (2018), 'Comparative political parties dataset: Electoral, legislative, and government strength of political parties by ideological group in 21 capitalist democracies, 1950-2015'. URL: http://www.marquette.edu/polisci/faculty_swank.shtml

Teorell, J., Dahlberg, S., Holmberg, S., Rothstein, B., Alvarado Pachon, N. & Svensson, R. (2018), The Quality of Government Standard Dataset, version Jan18, University of Gothenburg. The Quality of Government Institute.

URL: http://www.qog.pol.gu.se

Teorell, J. & Wahman, M. (2018), 'Institutional stepping stones for democracy: How and why multipartyism enhances democratic change', *Democratization* **25**(1), 78–97.

The Comparative Study of Electoral Systems (2015a), 'CSES MODULE 1 full release [dataset], december 15, 2015 version'.

URL: http://cses.org/

The Comparative Study of Electoral Systems (2015b), 'CSES MODULE 2 full release [dataset], december 15, 2015 version'.

URL: http://cses.org/

The Comparative Study of Electoral Systems (2015c), 'CSES MODULE 3 full release [dataset], december 15, 2015 version'.

URL: http://cses.org/

The Comparative Study of Electoral Systems (2018), 'CSES MODULE 4 full release [dataset], may 29, 2018 version'.

URL: http://cses.org/

The Comparative Study of Electoral Systems (2020), 'CSES MODULE 5 full release [dataset], may 14, 2020 version'.

URL: http://cses.org/

The Economist Intelligence Unit (2016), 'Democracy index 2015'.

 $\textbf{URL:}\ http://www.eiu.com/public/thankyou_download.aspx?activity=downloadcampaignid=DemocracyIndex 2015$

The Growth Lab at Harvard University (2019), 'Growth projections and complexity rankings'. UNF:6:+dXp8TMQz26OFv7ZOfIxSg== [fileUNF].

The Hertie School of Governance (2014a), 'The governance report 2014'.

The Hertie School of Governance (2014b), 'The governance report 2014'.

The Hertie School of Governance (2015a), The Governance Report 2015, Oxford University Press, USA.

The Hertie School of Governance (2015b), The Governance Report 2015, Hertie School of Governance:

The Hertie School of Governance (2016), 'The governance report 2016: Infrastructure governance indicators'.

The International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance (2017), 'Global state of democracy'.

URL: https://www.idea.int/data-tools/tools/global-state-democracy-indices

The International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance (2018), 'Political finance database'.

URL: http://www.idea.int/political-finance/

The International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance (2021a), 'Electoral system design database'.

 $\mathbf{URL:}\ https://www.idea.int/data-tools/data/electoral-system-design$

The International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance (2021b), 'Voter turnout database'. URL: https://www.idea.int/data-tools/data/voter-turnout

The Social Progress Imperative (2020), 'Social progress index'.

URL: www.socialprogress.org

The World Bank (2021a), 'Remittances data'.

URL: https://datacatalog.worldbank.org/search/dataset/0038132

The World Bank (2021b), 'Worldwide bureacracy indicators version 2.0'.

 $\label{lem:urange} \textbf{URL:} \quad https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/migrationremittances diasporaissues/brief/migrationremittances-data$

The World Bank Group (2020), 'Doing business data 2020'. Accessed on 24-09-2020.

URL: http://www.doingbusiness.org/en/data

The World Bank Group (2021), 'Climate change knowledge portal'. Date accessed 2 June 2021. URL: https://climateknowledgeportal.worldbank.org

Tierney, M. J., Nielson, D. L., Hawkins, D. G., Roberts, J. T., Findley, M. G., Powers, R. M., Parks, B., Wilson, S. E. & Hicks, R. L. (2011), 'More dollars than sense: Refining our knowledge of development finance using aiddata', World Development 39(11), 1891–1906.

Transparency International (2021), 'Corruption perception index 2020'. Licensed under CC-BY-ND 4.0.

URL: http://www.transparency.org/cpi

UN Statistics (2017), 'National accounts main aggregates database'.

URL: http://unstats.un.org/unsd/snaama/dnlList.asp

UNESCO (2020), 'Unesco institute for statistics'.

URL: http://data.uis.unesco.org/

UNESCO (2021a), 'Unesco institute for statistics'. Adapted from: SDG Global and Thematic Indicators.

URL: http://data.uis.unesco.org/

UNESCO (2021b), 'Unesco institute for statistics'. Adapted from: Other Policy Relevant Indicators (OPRI).

URL: http://data.uis.unesco.org/

UNESCO (2021c), 'Unesco institute for statistics'. Adapted from: Feature Films.

URL: http://data.uis.unesco.org/

United Nations Development Program (2020a), 'Gender inequality index'.

URL: http://hdr.undp.org/en/content/gender-inequality-index-gii

United Nations Development Program (2020b), 'Human development report 2020'.

URL: http://hdr.undp.org/en/2020-report

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2018), 'UNODC crime and criminal justice statistics'.

URL: https://data.unodc.org/

UNU-WIDER (2018), 'World income inequality database (wiid 4)'.

URL: https://www.wider.unu.edu/database/world-income-inequality-database-wiid4

Vanhanen, T. (2019), 'Measures of democracy 1810-2018 [dataset]'. Version 8.0.

URL: http://urn.fi/urn:nbn:fi:fsd:T-FSD1289

Visser, J. (2019), 'ICTWSS Data base. Version 6.1'.

Wahman, M., Teorell, J. & Hadenius, A. (2013), 'Authoritarian regime types revisited: Updated data in comparative perspective', *Contemporary Politics* **19**(1), 19–34.

Welzel, C. (2013), Freedom Rising: Human Empowerment and the Quest for Emancipation, 1 edn, Cambridge University Press.

Wendling, Z., Emerson, J., de Sherbinin, A., Esty, D. & M.A. Levy, e. a. (2020), '2020 environmental performance index', *New Haven, CT: Yale Center for Environmental Law and Policy*. Date accessed: 20 December 2021.

URL: https://epi.envirocenter.yale.edu/

Wig, T., Hegre, H. & Regan, P. M. (2015), 'Updated data on institutions and elections 1960–2012: presenting the iaep dataset version 2.0', Research & Politics 2(2).

Williams, A. (2015), 'A global index of information transparency and accountability', *Journal of Comparative Economics* **43**(3), 804–824.

World Bank (2021), 'World development indicators'.

URL: https://databank.worldbank.org/source/world-development-indicators

World Bank Group (2016), 'Country policy and institutional assessment'.

URL: http://ida.worldbank.org/financing/ida-resource-allocation-index

World Economic Forum (2019), 'The global competetiveness report 2019'. Commercial use of data produced by the World Economic Forum is forbidden.

 $\textbf{URL:}\ http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_The Global Competitiveness Report 2019.pdf$

World Economic Forum (2021), 'The global gender gap report 2021'. All Rights Reserved.

URL: https://www.weforum.org/reports/ab6795a1-960c-42b2-b3d5-587eccda6023

World Health Organization (2021), 'Global health observatory data repository'. Accessed on 2021–11-29.

URL: http://www.who.int/gho/en/

World Resource Institute & the Access Initiative (2015), 'Environmental democracy index'. Date accessed: 8 February 2021.

URL: https://environmentaldemocracyindex.org/